INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER: TARGETING TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR RECEPTORS

by

RoseMarie Stillie

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia November 2011

© Copyright by RoseMarie Stillie, 2011

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY DEPARTMENT OF MICROBIOLOGY AND IMMUNOLOGY

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER: TARGETING TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR RECEPTORS" by RoseMarie Stillie in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dated: November 17, 2011

External Examiner:

Research Supervisor: Examining Committee:

Departmental Representative:

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DATE: November 17, 2011

AUTHOR: RoseMarie Stillie

TITLE: INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER: TARGETING TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR RECEPTORS

DEPARTMENT OR SCHOOL: Department of Microbiology and Immunology DEGREE: PhD CONVOCATION: May YEAR: 2012 Permission is herewith granted to Dalhousie University to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions. I understand that my thesis will be electronically available to the public.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

The author attests that permission has been obtained for the use of any copyrighted material appearing in the thesis (other than the brief excerpts requiring only proper acknowledgement in scholarly writing), and that all such use is clearly acknowledged.

Signature of Author

This thesis is dedicated to my beautiful family, Dr. Desmond Pink and Andrew Pink

And to those in my life, past and present, who made this research worthwhile

Pops (Robert Andrew Stillie) and Grandma (Marie Stillie) My nephew Drake Stillie

And finally my wonderful parents,

Garry and Dorothy Stillie

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURES x
ABSTRACT xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USEDxiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xv
CHAPTER 1: Introduction1
An Overview 1
Association Between Inflammation And Cancer 1
Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's Disease
Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD) and Cancer
Sporadic Colon Cancer
Inflammation-mediated versus Sporadic Colorectal Cancer7
Animal Models of Colitis-Associated Cancer7
The Azoxymethane/Dextran Sulphate Sodium Model of Colitis-Associated Cancer 8
TNF and Colitis-Associated Cancer12
TNF Receptors and their Signaling
TNF and Colitis
TNF and Cancer
Mechanisms of Colitis-Associated Carcinogenesis
Epithelial Cell Turnover
Inflammation Activates Tumorigenic Pathways within Intestinal Epithelial Cells 25
Inflammatory Mediators can Promote Angiogenesis
Inflammation can Directly Damage Tissues through Reactive Oxygen Species Production

Reactive Oxygen Species and Colitis	33
Microbial Colonization and Colitis-Associated Cancer	36
Objectives and Rationale:	39
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	42
Reagents and Antibodies	42
Animals and Experimental Protocols	42
Acute DSS Colitis	42
Azoxymethane and DSS-induced Chronic Colitis and Colon Cancer	43
Assessing Disease Severity	43
Clinical Scores	43
Histopathological Scores	43
Assessing Cancer	44
Enumerating Neutrophils and Eosinophils	44
ELISAs	45
Western Blotting	45
Bone Marrow Chimeras	46
Immunohistochemistry	47
Statistics	48
CHAPTER 3: THE ROLE OF TNF RECEPTORS, TNFR1 AND TNFR2 IN DEXTRAN SODIUM SULPHATE-INDUCED COLITIS	53
Introduction	53
Results	55
Mouse Characteristics	55
Histological Inflammation Characteristics	56
TNFR1 and TNFR2 Expression	57

TNF and MIP-2 Levels in the Colon	57
Cellular Infiltrate	57
Measurement of Apoptosis in the Colon using TUNEL and Cleaved Caspase-3 Levels	58
Discussion	58
CHAPTER 4: TNFR1 DEFICIENCY PROTECTS MICE FROM COLITIS- ASSOCIATED CANCER AND IS ASSOCIATED WITH A DECREASED LEVEL OF OXIDATIVE DAMAGE WITHIN THE COLON	71
Introduction	71
Results	72
Infiltration of Leukocytes during Inflammation in Mice Deficient in TNFR1 or TNFR2	74
TNFRs in the Colon	75
Colonic Cytokines	75
Discussion	76
CHAPTER 5: MICE LACKING A FUNCTIONAL NADPH OXIDASE 2 ARE PROTECTED AGAINST COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER	101
Introduction	. 101
Results	. 103
Acute Colitis	. 103
Inflammatory Measures	. 103
Chronic Colitis	. 103
Tumor Development in WT and Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice	. 104
Ly6G+ Infiltrate into Inflammatory Lesions and Tumors in WT and Nox2-/-Mic	e 105
8-OHDG is not Different Between WT and Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice	. 105
Discussion	. 106
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION	124

Summary of Major Findings	. 124
Relevance to Current Literature	. 126
Relevance of the Model to Human Colitis-Associated Cancer	. 136
Future Directions	. 142
Significance of Research and Concluding Remarks	. 144
APPENDIX A: Letters of Copyright Permission	. 146
APPENDIX B: Double-TNF Receptor-Deficient Mice and Acute DSS Colitis	. 150
APPENDIX C: Correlation Between Inflammation Severity and Tumor Sizes and Multiplicity in WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} And TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice	.151
APPENDIX D: Y-Chromosome Detection in Bone-Marrow Chimeric Mice	. 152
APPENDIX E: TNF-Stimulated Reactive Oxygen Species Production in Neutrophils	. 153
References	. 154

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Clinical Illness Scoring.	50
Table 2.2 Histopathological Scoring.	51
Table 3.1 Mouse Characteristics.	70
Table 5.1 Wildtype and Nox2 ^{-/-} Mouse Characteristics at Necropsy	117

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 The Adenoma/Dysplasia to Carcinoma Sequence between Sporadic Colon Cancer and Colitis-Associated Cancer	40
Figure 1.2 TNF signaling through TNFR1 and TNFR2	.41
Figure 2.1 Regimen for Colitis-Associated Cancer	.53
Figure 3.1 Untreated WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice do not have any Differences in Colon Pathology and do not Show Signs of Spontaneous Inflammation	62
Figure 3.2 Weight Loss and Clinical Scores in WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice	63
Figure 3.3 Histopathology of WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice at Days 7 and 12	64
Figure 3.4 Histopathological Scores are not Significantly Different Between Strains	.65
Figure 3.5 TNFR1 and sTNFR2 Expression in the Colon and Serum	66
Figure 3.6 Cytokine levels in Colon Homogenates from WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} at Days 7 and 12	67
Figure 3.7 TNFR1 ^{-/-} Mice have Fewer Colon Macrophages at Day 7	.68
Figure 3.8 Apoptosis is not Different Between Strains in WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Colon Mucosa	.69
Figure 4.1 Inflammation in WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice Treated with 10mg/kg Azoxymethane Followed by 4 cycles of 3% DSS.	.82
Figure 4.2 TNFR1 ^{-/-} Mice have a Reduced Tumor and Dysplasia Incidence and Tumor Multiplicity After Treatment with 10mg/kg Azoxymethane Followed by 4 Cycles of 3% DSS	4 87
Figure 4.3 Infiltration of Leukocytes after AOM+ 4 cycles of 3% DSS Treatment	90
Figure 4.4 Apoptosis in the Colon of WT, TNFR1 ^{-/-} and TNFR2 ^{-/-} Mice is not Different Between Strains	91
Figure 4.5 TNFR1 and TNFR2 Expression in the Epithelium	.92

Figure 4.6 Colonic IL-12 is Elevated in TNFR1 ^{-/-} Mice, but other Cytokines in the Colon are not Affected by Strain	4
Figure 4.7 TNFR1 on Bone-Marrow-Derived Cells Contributes to Chronic Intestinal Inflammation	6
Figure 4.8 TNFR1 On Bone-Marrow-Derived Cells And Stromal Cells Play A Role In The Development Of Colitis-Associated Cancer	18
Figure 4.9 8-OHDG+ Colonic Epithelial Nuclei Are Reduced In TNFR1 ^{-/-} Mice, Suggesting A Reduction In Oxidative Damage In These Mice10	0
Figure 5.1 Acute Colitis Is Similar Between Wildtype And Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice10	9
Figure 5.2 Histopathological Inflammation In Chronic Colitis In Wildtype And Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice Is Not Significantly Different Between Strains Despite Greater Clinical Illness In Wildtype Mice	2
Figure 5.3 Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice Are Protected From Tumor Development After Azoxymethane And 3 Cycles Of Dextran Sulphate Sodium	7
Figure 5.4 Ly6G ⁺ Cellular Infiltrate Into Tumors Is Reduced In Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice, But Not In Inflamed Tissue Compared To Wildtype	20
Figure 5.5 8-OHDG Staining Within Epithelial Cells Is Similar Between Wildtype And Nox2 ^{-/-} Mice	2

ABSTRACT

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) are associated with an elevated risk of colorectal cancer that increases with disease duration and severity. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is a major therapeutic target in IBD, but long-term anti-TNF therapy is associated with increased risks of infection and lymphoma, therefore we asked whether TNF signaling through its receptors TNFR1 and TNFR2 could impact colitis and colitisassociated cancer (CAC). In acute dextran sulphate sodium (DSS)-colitis, no major inflammatory differences were found between wildtype (WT), TNFR1- and TNFR2deficient mice, with the exception of reduced macrophage infiltration into inflamed tissue in TNFR1-/- mice. Chronic colitis and tumor development was assessed in these mice using the carcinogen azoxymethane and 4 cycles of DSS. TNFR1^{-/-} mice were protected against colorectal tumor development compared to WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice, while inflammation was similar between strains. Hematopoietic TNFR1 deficiency resulted in reduced inflammation and tumor incidence, while stromal/epithelial TNFR1 deficiency reduced indices of cancer without affecting inflammation. 8-OHDG was significantly lower in TNFR1^{-/-} mice compared to other strains, suggesting that TNF could contribute to oxidative stress within the colon. Mice lacking leukocyte NADPH oxidase were protected against clinical illness and CAC despite similar histological inflammation, indicating that inflammation-associated oxidative stress can play a role in CAC. In conclusion, TNF signaling through TNFR1 contributes significantly to the development of colorectal cancer in a model of CAC in a manner that involves both stromal/epithelial and hematopoietic TNFR1. This is significant because anti-TNF therapies may be effective at reducing CAC in the absence of a clinical reduction of IBD symptoms.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

8-OHDG, 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2,-deoxyguanosine AOM, Azoxymethane APC, Adenomatous Polyposis Coli CAC, Colitis-associated cancer CD, Crohn's Disease CIMP, CpG Island Methylator Phenotype CIN, Chromosomal Instability CRC, Colorectal Cancer DISC, death inducing signaling complex DSS, Dextran Sulphate Sodium DTH, Delayed-type Hypersensitivity FADD, Fas-associated Death Domain FLIP, Flice Inhibitory Protein IAP, Inhibitor of Apoptosis IBD, Inflammatory Bowel Diseases IEC, Intestinal Epithelial Cell IKK, Inhibitor of Kappa B Kinase IFN, Interferon iNOS, inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase i.p., Intraperitoneal JNK, c-jun N-Terminal Kinase KRAS, Kirsten rat sarcoma homolog mAb, Monoclonal Antibody MAPK, Mitogen activated protein kinase MIF, Macrophage inhibitory factor MMP, Matrix Metalloproteinase MLC, Myosin Light Chain MLH1, MutL homolog 1 MPO, Myeloperoxidase MSI, Microsatellite Instability

NADPH, Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate

NFκB, Nuclear Factor Kappa B

NO, Nitric Oxide

PI3K, Phosphatidyl Inositol 3 kinase

PLC, Protein Kinase C

PUMA, p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis

RA, Rheumatoid Arthritis

RIP, Receptor Interacting Protein

ROS, Reactive Oxygen Species

SCC, Sporadic Colon Cancer

SCID, Severe Combine Immunodeficient

TACE, TNF-Converting Enzyme

TAK, TGF- β Activating Kinase

TGF, Transforming Growth Factor

TIMP, Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteases

TNBS, Trinitrobenzosulphonic acid

TNF, Tumor Necrosis Factor

TNFR1, Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Type 1

TNFR2, Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Type 2

TPA, 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate

TTP, Tristetraprolin

TRAF2, TNF receptor associated factor 2

TRADD, TNF-associated death domain

UC, Ulcerative Colitis

VEGF, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee, Dr. Marshall, Dr. Lee and the late Dr. Guernsey, for their advice and guidance over the years. I would also like to thank my external examiner, Dr. McCafferty, for taking the time out of her busy schedule to read my thesis and offer her insight into my research. Most of all, I would like to thank Andy Stadnyk, for his guidance and mentorship over the years. He encouraged us to think independently and formulate our own ideas, skills I will utilize well beyond my bench years. My research would have been impossible without the help of Hana James, who really is the Chuck Norris of lab technicians, despite her protests. Hana was not only a wonderful lab technician, but a wonderful friend as well. I will be eternally indebted to her and her family for all they've done for me and mine. I've made many friends in the lab and department over the years, in particular the IWK 8th floor research group. Robbie Joseph, Erika Yazer, Katherine Matheson, Kristy Roth, Joffre Munro, Karen Conrod, Mryanda Sopel, Farooq, Umang Jain and Oi Cao, thanks so much for making the lab such an enjoyable place. I would also like to thank Svetlana Carrigan, Amy Weppler, Melanie Power-Coombs for their friendships. We've all "grown up" with kids and homes. It's been nice having the support of people in similar situations and life stages. I'd also like to thank Derek Rowter for all his help when I was trying new assays, and Dave down in *in* vivo. I would also like to thank Eva Rodgerson for her help with the chimeras. Thanks to my cubicle mates for letting me in whenever I forgot my card, you know who you are. I would like to thank the Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation and the Cancer Research and Training program for funding through the years. I am so grateful for the family that I have gained during this time, Desmond and my little son Andrew who has helped me put into perspective what is most important to me. Without Desmond's support I wouldn't have made it through and without my son, I probably would have been finished a couple of years ago, but I don't regret the time I spent with him and wouldn't trade it for anything. Finally, my parents, Garry and Dorothy who have always encouraged and supported me, to whom I owe the deepest of gratitude because without them I wouldn't be who I am today. Thank you to everyone.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

An Overview

Tissue trauma as a result of infection, physical disruption, ischemic injury, or exposure to toxic substances can activate innate immunity. Trauma activates resident immune cells and/or serum factors such as complement or clotting proteins, which release signals that activate local endothelial cells, increasing the expression of selectins that promote the transendothelial migration of leukocytes from the blood into the tissues. This cascade of events leads to vasodilation, fluid exudation, migration of effector cells into the tissue from circulation, and an increased activation of pain receptors. Leukocytes, such as neutrophils and monocytes, can release toxic mediators that cause damage to the surrounding tissue, and can also activate tissue remodeling promoting healing. A sustained response might be propagated by the activation of the adaptive immune system with T and B-cell involvement. Normally, this cascade of events leads to pathogen clearance, healing and resolution; however, if the insult persists, or if there is an inappropriate response to the insult, chronic inflammation can result. During chronic inflammation, there is a sustained activation of signals that can lead to cell activation, proliferation, differentiation, migration, tissue remodeling and angiogenesis. These are all normal signals important in the reparation of damaged tissue. However, during chronic inflammation, a prolonged production of mediators such as proteases, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species can further injure the tissue. These mediators, normally serving to eliminate pathogens, can cause extensive damage to proteins, lipids and DNA, altering gene expression by a number of mechanisms. If DNA mutations and/or epigenetic changes in key genes involved in cell cycle control or DNA repair occur in tandem with enhanced immune activation and signals for wound healing and angiogenesis (activated during inflammation), the environment becomes conducive to carcinogenesis. As a consequence, tumors have been described as "wounds that never heal" [1].

Association Between Inflammation And Cancer

Rudolf Virchow was one of the first to describe the relationship between inflammation and cancer in the 1800's when he observed leukocytes within and surrounding tumor tissue [2, 3]. Since then, epidemiological studies have reinforced this observation by demonstrating a positive relationship between chronic inflammation and risk of cancer development in several inflammatory disorders, including gastroesophageal reflux disease, Barret's Esophagus and esophageal cancer [4], and chronic infections such as *Helicobacter pylori* [5]. A well-established association between intestinal inflammation and the development of intestinal tumors and CRC has been described consistently in the literature. IBD, including Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's disease, is a significant risk factor for the development of CRC [13,14].

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's Disease

Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) are remitting-recurring inflammatory bowel diseases of unknown etiology. The prevalence rate of IBD in Canada is about 468 per 100,000 amounting to 0.46% of the population. The incidence rate per 100,000 Canadians is approximately 16.3 for CD and 12.9 for UC [6]. This varies slightly per province but Nova Scotia is on the upper end of the spectrum of incidence and prevalence of IBD[6]. While genetics are theorized to play a role, especially genes involved in bacterial sensing [7] and autophagy [8], it is likely that a combination of genetics and environmental exposures contribute to the development of IBD [9]. While UC is limited to the colon, CD can affect the entire alimentary tract, commonly affecting the colon. Both diseases can result in extra-intestinal manifestations, including ankylosing spondylitis, primary schlerosing cholangitis (more common in UC), and uveitis [9].

In UC, colonic inflammation tends to be continuous in nature and results in granulocytic infiltration, disruption of the crypt architecture, and crypt abscesses [10]. UC-related inflammation involves mainly the superficial mucosal layer. Symptoms include cramping and bloody diarrhea with mucous [11]. Because UC affects the colon and rarely the terminal ileum, it can be cured with colectomy. Due to the superficial nature of the colonic inflammation, some of the complications observed in CD do not occur commonly in UC.

CD presently has no known cure, and it is difficult to treat due to the unpredictable and patchy nature of the inflammation. The disease presents itself as discontinuous inflammation in the bowel wall, and can become transmural leading to stenosis, fistulas and abscesses [9]. Common intestinal and extra-intestinal pathologies associated with CD are abdominal pain, diarrhea, painful joints, fatigue, fever intestinal granulomas, anemia, sepsis, weight loss and malnutrition, growth retardation, and bone changes [11].

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD) and Cancer

Crohn and Rosenberg first described colon carcinoma in a case of UC in 1925 [12]. The evidence since then, that IBD is associated with cancer, has been extensive. The risk of cancer appears to be dependent on the duration, extent and anatomical involvement of the inflammation [13, 14].

It was estimated that 1% of all CRC cases are a consequence of UC [15]. Compared to colon cancer found in UC patients, CD-associated colon cancer is reported to be diagnosed more often at an advanced stage [16]. A recent meta-analysis of studies performed comparing the risk factor for intestinal cancer between CD patients and the background population determined that people with long-standing CD were at a higher risk of developing CRC. Conversely, there was no difference compared to the general population in rectal cancer relative risk. The role of anatomical location of disease was significant, as CRC relative risk in those with CD limited to the small bowel was similar to the general population. In contrast, those with CD limited to the colon had a much higher relative risk than in the general CD-affected groups. The relative risk of developing small intestinal cancer in those affected with CD was much higher compared to the general population. When anatomical location of disease was considered, this relative risk rose to 158 [17]. Those diagnosed before the age of 25 had a high risk of developing CRC [17-19]. It was recently estimated that the risk of CRC in those with CD after 10 years of disease was 2.9%, after 20 years it was 5.6%, and after 30 years it was 8.3% [20]. Overall, the risk of cancer is associated with the anatomical location, severity of disease, and duration of disease. Anatomical location of inflammation may be an important risk factor due to the destruction of tissue and regeneration that occurs. Local inflammatory signals may be important to this process and could potentially contribute to DNA damage locally as opposed to systemic inflammation.

An estimated 10% of those affected with IBD will develop CRC after 30 years of disease [21]. In UC specifically, the number is much higher, at 18% [22]. It was once

estimated that one sixth of all patients with UC will die of CRC [23], making this a serious secondary complication of the disease. Changes in therapies, such as colectomy in UC, have likely lowered this number [13]. It is possible that therapies limiting inflammation may reduce the need for colectomy [24] potentially leading to future susceptibility to colon cancer if separate mechanisms are involved. Crohn's colitis is still a factor and is unpredictable in nature, limiting the efficacy of colectomy in preventing pan-intestinal inflammation [25].

Extra-intestinal cancers have also been investigated in IBD patients with two meta-analyses addressing this issue. Both found that overall cancer risk in IBD is similar to the general population [26]. However, in site-specific analyses, CD patients had an increased risk of upper GI, lung, bladder and skin cancers. UC patients had an increased risk of liver cancer and leukemia [26]. Another meta-analysis found that death from lung cancer was greater in those affected by CD [25]. Extra-intestinal cancers in IBD associated with anti-TNF therapies, such as lymphoma have received attention in the past decade, however it was recently reported that no short-term risk of cancer is associated with any of the anti-TNF therapies [27]. Long-term risks associated with the use of anti-TNF therapies remain to be determined.

Sporadic Colon Cancer

The colonic epithelium is constantly being exposed to stressors from the environment. These include ingested bacteria, their by-products, environmental and endogenous toxins. Over time, these stressors may lead to damage to stem cells within the crypt from which the rapidly dividing epithelial cells originate. Damage to these cells could lead to an accumulation of DNA mutations and epigenetic changes that are passed to daughter cells. These changes can lead to dysplasia in a sequence of events referred to as the "adenoma-carcinoma sequence" [28]. Adenoma describes abnormal growth of the glands but without invasion of the surrounding tissue and is considered a pre-malignant event, while carcinoma can lead to invasion of the surrounding tissues resulting in potential metastasis [28]. While there are many mutations that have been implicated in colon cancer, there are a select few that are thought to be the main drivers of tumorigenesis [29, 30]. Fearon and Vogelstein proposed a model of genetic changes that characterized the alteration of the normal cell to the cancerous cell beginning with the

inactivation of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene [31]. After the loss of APC, KRAS mutations and the loss of genes found on chromosome 18q were associated with growth and progression of the adenoma, and the loss of the p53 gene was associated with the transition from adenoma to carcinoma [31]. While much has been learned since this paper was published, this general mechanism is still widely accepted.

There are three main pathways that colon cancer can arise from; Chromosomal instability (CIN), microsatellite instability (MSI), or the CpG island methylator pathway (CIMP) [32]. The MSI and CIMP pathway often overlap. In sporadic colon cancer (SCC), it has been suggested that an event occurs to create an accelerated "mutator phenotype" as the baseline mutation rate is normally low [33]. Mutations in genes whose products regulate chromosomal segregation during mitosis [34] can lead to abnormal DNA content, or aneuploidy, and loss of heterozygosity, contributing to genomic instability in daughter cells, leading to the CIN-associated SCC [32]. Each crypt is populated by stem cells that multiply and differentiate into enterocytes, enteroendocrine cells, goblet cells and Paneth cells as they move along the crypt. Damage that occurs to stem cells is followed by repopulation of the crypt with genetically or epigenetically altered daughter cells. Consequently, the altered daughter cells are more susceptible to further mutations, as are the stem cells. As mutations accumulate within stem cells, so does the clonal expansion of neoplastic daughter cells. Barker et al., identified a stem cell marker that is a leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor called LgR5 [35]. When APC was deleted in LgR5⁺ cells of conditional knock-out mice, microadenomas were detected within eight days followed by macroscopic adenomas after three weeks, suggesting that tumors arise from mutations in these stem cells [36]. Deleting APC in differentiated cells in other areas of the crypt did not result in adenomas [36]. This would explain how tumors could arise among cells that typically only last a few days within the colon, which seems an insufficient amount of time for mutations to accumulate and change the behaviour of the cell.

The microsatellite instability pathway involves the silencing of genes involved in DNA repair, or mismatch repair genes. MSI⁺ tumors can arise via the CIMP phenotype via silencing of the mismatch-repair genes [37]. Approximately 15% of colorectal cancers show this phenotype, with 12% being associated with hypermethylated *MLH1* gene [38, 39], and 3% accounting for familial Lynch Syndrome, an inheritable mutation

in MLH1 leading to increased MSI and tumor development in affected individuals [40]. MSI⁺ tumors are usually diploid and do not show loss of heterozygosity. MSI unstable colorectal cancers have distinct features, such as being found primarily in the proximal colon [41]. Other features include poor differentiation, mucinous/ signet ring appearance and lymphocytic infiltration [42]. These tumours respond differently to chemotherapy compared to MSI-stable tumors [43], and have a better prognosis [44].

The third pathway, the CpG methylator phenotype, involves hypermethylation of the CpG-islands near genes important in colon cancer [37]. There is a subset of tumors that reportedly displays neither MSI nor CIN [45]. CpG islands, regions within the DNA enriched with cytosine-guanine dinucleotides, tend to be found near promoter regions, transcription start sites, and first exons of genes [46]. DNA methylation involves the addition of a methyl group to the 5' cytosine by methyltransferases via a methyl donor. CpG hypermethylation can silence gene transcription through various mechanisms, including steric hinderance of the transcriptional complex, through recruitment of histone deacetylases and by contributing to chromatin remodeling in a repressive manner [46]. Silencing genes involved in DNA repair and cell cycle control can contribute to both mutations and uncontrolled cell proliferation, respectively.

Global hypomethylation is a well-defined characteristic of progression in many cancers, and interestingly, is implicated in early stage colon cancer [47]. Certain DNA regions, such as satellite regions and repetitive sequences, normally have high levels of methylation in order to maintain genomic stability. Hypomethylation can have consequences such as chromosome instability and genetic mutation and can lead to the activation of oncogenes, such as RAS [46]. It is not known what is responsible for hypomethylation, as the activity of DNA methyltransferases remains normal [46]. A demethylating enzyme has not been described in this context, however it has been suggested that inactive variants of one of the DNA methyltransferases that are present in tumor cells could lead to competitive binding of the enzyme complexes and DNA [48]. These three pathways, including phenotypes where the three pathways overlap, are the basis of tumorigenesis in sporadic colon cancer and have been found to be involved in inflammation-mediated tumorigenesis as well. Other colon cancers can arise from inherited mutations, but will not be discussed.

Inflammation-mediated versus Sporadic Colorectal Cancer

Many of the genetic and epigenetic alterations observed in sporadic colorectal cancer also occur in colitis-associated cancer (CAC). Genomic changes in CAC, such as CIN and MSI appear to occur in similar proportions as in SCC [49]. In contrast, CpG island hypermethylation is common in the colon during UC [50, 51] but may not be a major route of tumor development. Age-related CpG-hypermethylation of the genes encoding p16 and the estrogen receptor, but not the *MLH1* (mismatch repair) gene, has been shown to occur before dysplasia in UC [52]. The lack of *MLH1* hypermethylation substantiated later studies that showed CpG hypermethylation was not a prominent phenotype in UC-associated cancers [53, 54].

Populations with more advanced CAC have poorer survival rates than those with advanced SCC [55]. In addition, those diagnosed with CAC tend to be younger [55]. CD especially is associated with detection of more advanced cancers [16]. As more is becoming known about CAC, better screening practices exist for those affected by IBD. Other phenotypical differences exist between sporadic colon cancer and CAC that may hinder surveillance. For example sporadic colon cancer forms visible polyps arising from a discrete precursor dysplastic lesion, while CAC may additionally present as flat dysplasia, diffuse throughout the colon, an observation first documented by Counsell and Dukes in 1952 [56].

The genetic changes in sporadic colon cancer similarly occur in CAC [57], although their appearance might follow a different sequence. In human CAC, DNA aneuploidy precedes dysplasia [58, 59]. p53 mutation is an early event in the dysplasia to carcinoma sequence, and the more advanced the dysplastic lesion is, the more likely it is to contain a p53 mutation [60-62]. APC and KRAS are commonly altered early in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence in SCC [63-66]. However, APC mutation in CAC is rare [65, 66]. Also, KRAS and p53 mutations were reported to be less frequent in colitis associated cancer compared to sporadic colon cancer [67]. This difference in sequence is summarized in (Figure 1.1), adapted from Itzkowitz et el., 2004 [13].

Animal Models of Colitis-Associated Cancer

There are several methods to study the role of intestinal inflammation in the development of CAC. There are chemical models of colitis such as the dextran sulphate

sodium salt (DSS) model. Others have used targeted mutations in mice to study the role of chronic colitis in the development of cancer, such as the IL-10 gene-deficient (IL-10^{-/-}) strain [68]. Adoptive transfer of colitis by administration of CD45RB+ cells is used less frequently in CAC models and will not be discussed here.

DSS has been used as a non-genotoxic carcinogen since the early 1990s, when it was found that chronic DSS administration could lead to dysplasia and carcinoma in rodents [69, 70]. Rodents are used to model chronic colitis but result in fairly low incidences of cancer over a long period of time making it difficult for effective statistical measurement of cancer incidence [71, 72]. In order to produce a more reliable and statistically measurable cancer incidence, an additional low dose carcinogen can be administered. One agent is supplemental dietary iron, which can exacerbate CAC, presumably through the oxidative stress that iron contributes to the diet [73]. Other carcinogens that are used include azoxymethane (AOM) and dimethylhydrazine. Dimethylhydrazine, an AOM precursor, is a hepatotoxin and extremely toxic to handle [74]. The carcinogen by itself is administered at a level that would not induce colon cancer on its own, and requires further promotion, which is effectively provided by inflammation.

The Azoxymethane/Dextran Sulphate Sodium Model of Colitis-Associated Cancer

A single, low dose of AOM (up to 12 mg/kg) followed by one or more cycles of DSS has proved adequate to study CAC. The addition of a sub-carcinogenic dose of AOM to the DSS cycle regime allows for a shorter time period to cancer development, and fewer animals per experiment. This model, like acute DSS colitis, is subject to strain differences. The two more common strains for targeted gene mutation are BALB/c and C57BL/6. While C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to DSS colitis compared to BALB/c, BALB/c mice tend to be more sensitive to AOM [75]. AOM/DSS treatment results in mutations that affect similar pathways to what is observed in humans, such as APC/ β -catenin [76]. In accordance, in the AOM and DSS model, *C-MYC* is upregulated [77]. In CAC with DSS alone, the translocation of β -catenin from the membrane to the cytoplasm or nucleus was observed in precursor lesions, while p53 expression was not [78]. The AOM+DSS model has contributed greatly to the understanding of colitis in the

development of cancer, which will be discussed further in the following section.

AOM was first described for this use by Okayasu et al., 1996 [79]. It is administered intraperitoneally or subcutaneously in phosphate-buffered saline. It is a pro-carcinogen that is further metabolized into methoxyazoxymethanol by an isoform of cytochrome P450 called CYP2E1 [80]. Methoxyazoxymethanol further degrades into formaldehyde and an alkylating species that leads to DNA methylation and G:C-A:T transversion mutations in several key genes involved in colon cancer [81]. These include *KRAS*, *SRC-PI3K-AKT*, Wnt/ β -catenin, *TGF-\beta* and *TP53* [82]. In *KRAS* mutations for example, the transversion mutation at codon 12 results in glycine replacement by aspartic acid leading to a constitutively active form of KRAS. As one downstream signaling pathway of KRAS involves MAPK and PI3K/AKT, this can contribute to tumor development [81]. Interestingly in AOM-induced CRC, β -catenin mutations appear to be predominant where in human CRC the mutations tend to occur in the *APC* gene, affecting β -catenin signaling [76].

Other methods of inducing CAC involve using mice genetically predisposed to develop colorectal cancer and inducing colonic inflammation via chemical means[83]. Mice such as *Apc*^{min+/-} [83, 84], *Msh* [85], or *p53* gene-deficient mice [86] develop much higher incidences and tumor loads compared to gene-deficient mice that do not have colon inflammation. These models with targeted mutations in genes known to participate in colon cancer show that inflammation can greatly influence the transition from healthy epithelium to carcinoma. In summary, there are several models to evaluate the development of CAC. The most widely-used animal model of CAC is the AOM/DSS model. It is convenient, reproducible and minimally invasive. It is a good tool to evaluate drugs, dietary treatments and genes in CAC.

Chemical Induction of Colitis

It is important to understand the underlying mechanisms of inflammation in any experimental model, especially when disease etiology is not clear. DSS and trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) are chemicals administered to rodents that reproducibly induce colitis. TNBS is a hapten and is administered mixed in different concentrations of ethanol in enema form [87]. There are several disadvantages to this model. One of the drawbacks to this technique is that multiple enemas, each requiring withdrawing food, may produce excess stress on the animal. In addition, the manner in

which TNBS colitis is presently used often results in high mortality rates [88]. To develop a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) response to TNBS, waiting 6 days following colitis administration is recommended, however, often animals are euthanized after 2-3 days, meaning the reaction is only to the acute sensitization phase, and not a true DTH response, as this method is often described as a "Th1" model of colitis [88]. Another limitation to this method is the number of ways in which it can be used to induce colitis. Different dose concentration and frequency, with timing of the sample collection might affect the mechanism by which TNBS is exerting its colitic effect [88]. While this method of chronic colitis induction has been described in combination with dimethylhydrazine to model CAC [89], it is not widely practiced.

A simpler, popular method is to combine multiple cycles of DSS colitis with AOM [90]. DSS is administered dissolved in the drinking water and produces a colon-specific inflammation that is considered T-cell independent as it occurs in athymic mice [91]. The inflammatory infiltrate in DSS colitis is, as in TNBS colitis, mainly neutrophils, macrophages and monocytes [92] with chronic colitis being associated with lymphocytic infiltrate [93]. Initial descriptions compared DSS-colitis to UC as it affects only the colon and cecum, does not involve fistulas or granulomas as in CD, and involves mainly the mucosa [93]. Chronic DSS colitis might be similar to UC in that Th17 cytokines are downregulated and IL-4 and IL-10 are upregulated [94]. However, acute DSS-colitis may demonstrate characteristics of CD as well, including transmural involvement and a Th17/Th1-skewed immune response, at least in its acute stage [94]. Measurements can be made to assess the extent of clinical illness, such as stool consistency, presence of blood in the stool and weight changes during DSS treatment [92].

The mechanisms of DSS colitis induction are not clear. DSS has been reported in Kuppfer cells in the liver after the first day of DSS administration and is likely not substantially altered/digested in the small intestine [95]. This suggests that DSS can be absorbed, presumably in the small intestine, where it would be transported to the liver via the portal vein, potentially activating macrophages. It is not known whether activated macrophages could have originated in the gut and homed to the liver or if the DSS itself traveled through the portal vein, although DSS was reported in the mesenteric lymph nodes suggesting it was brought in by resident cells [95].

Many rodent models of colitis require the commensal microbiota for disease expression but the evidence surrounding the role of microflora in DSS colitis is conflicting. It has been reported that antibiotic treatment can ameliorate DSS-colitis [96], although incubation of DSS with cecal contents did not lead to appreciable changes in DSS chemical properties [97]. Supporting this, the microflora does not seem to be absolutely required for DSS-induced colitis as germ-free mice still develop inflammation in response to DSS, in fact were more severely affected by DSS administration than their conventionally-housed controls [98]. DSS is known to change the microbial flora of the gut during colitis but how much of this is post-inflammation and pre-inflammation is not known [99]. It is possible that the microflora exacerbates colitis once the epithelial layer has been breached as opposed to being modified in a harmful way by DSS treatment.

Immune activation and subsequent colitis in response to DSS administration in mice appears to be dose-dependent [100], molecular weight [101] and strain-dependent [102]. C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to DSS colitis compared to BALB/c mice [102, 103] suggesting a role of genetics in this model. These two strains of mice are commonly used for targeted mutations. The chemical properties of DSS may affect disease expression. Feeding mice DSS of greater molecular weights (over 36,000 compared to 500) leads to a greater induction of colitis [101]. The mechanism for this is unknown, but it is possible that larger molecular weights have altered solubility, having implications for both immunogenicity and toxicity. In addition, larger molecular weight sulphated carbohydrates may lead to a yet unknown receptor cross-linking, enhancing signaling, if it is possible that the inflammatory properties of DSS are due to specific cell-surface signaling and not just endocytosis and actions within the cell.

DSS might cause colitis indirectly by activation of immune cells residing in the colon. It is known from early studies that it is stimulatory to B cells and intraepithelial and lamina propria lymphocytes residing in the gut [104-107], therefore making it possible for direct stimulation by DSS of immune cells in the gut. Indeed, treating dendritic cells with DSS resulted in inflammatory cytokine production and transfer of dendritic cells into mice subsequently challenged with DSS resulted in exacerbation of colitis [108]. This suggests that the dendritic cells can take in DSS and transport it to sites where there is immune activation, such as Peyer's patches or mesenteric lymph nodes. Interferon- $\gamma^{-/-}$ [109] and CXCR2^{-/-} [110] mice treated with DSS have very few ulcers,

suggesting that epithelial injury is indirectly related to the response to DSS, as it requires immune cell activation in order to cause damage.

Application of DSS to cell lines is not without cytotoxicity. Cytotoxicity was found in 5% of Caco-2 cells *in vitro* after DSS treatment [111]. In addition, adding DSS to these cells decreased transepithelial resistance [111], suggesting it interferes with barrier function. A decrease in electric resistance *ex vivo* through mucosal sections was reported in mice prior to histologically-detectable damage [112]. DSS induced the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by Caco-2 cells, such as IL-8 [111]. DSS treatment may directly affect gene expression as it was shown to prevent mRNA transcription by binding to DNA in the nucleus, having implications *in vivo* [111].

Colonic epithelial cell uptake of DSS directly in the colon has not been shown. Sulphated glycans are structurally similar to DSS and were shown to bind to a lectin domain on the epidermal growth factor receptor, possibly directly affecting colonic epithelial cells [113]. In addition, the sulphur content within the DSS preparation is associated with the severity of colitis [114]. Studying DSS in culture does not properly reflect the antigen-rich environment and does not account for other physical barriers such as mucins and bacteria.

The above studies indicate that DSS may exert colitic effects directly on the epithelium, and indirectly, through activation of resident immune cells. While the mechanism of DSS-colitis is not accurately determined at this time, it is likely a function of effects on both the epithelium and surrounding stroma, and resident immune cells within the colon. Why it affects only the large intestine as opposed to the entire intestinal tract may reflect the differences in receptor expression between intestinal epithelial cells and colonic epithelial cells that have not yet been determined. It is noteworthy that DSS alone can induce cancer after many cycles repeated over a long period of time [72], making it an ideal chemical means of studying colitis-mediated cancer.

TNF and Colitis-Associated Cancer

TNF is a major therapeutic target in both CD and UC, but paradoxically, whether TNF is a driving factor in the pathogenesis of IBD is not yet clear. TNF has more recently been implicated in CAC but the risks of long-term anti-TNF therapy are not fully understood. It is important to understand TNF biology and the role of TNF in colitis. The safety of anti-TNF therapy has been questioned due to a link with certain types of cancer, such as lymphoma and susceptibility to opportunistic infection [115].

TNF is an intracellularly-assembled homotrimer with each subunit being 17kDa and is expressed as a type II transmembrane protein [116, 117]. It undergoes proteolytic cleavage by the TNF-alpha converting enzyme (TACE), resulting in a 51kDa soluble tripeptide [118]. LPS-induced TNF biosynthesis is regulated in part by MAP kinases, in particular p38, which phosphorylates downstream targets MK2 and MK3 [119, 120], resulting in their activation and subsequent phosphorylation of a protein called tristetraprolin (TTP). TTP binds the AU-rich element of TNF mRNA, which prevents TNF mRNA from being translated [121]. TTP phosphorylation by MK2 and to a lesser extent by MK3, results in TTP stabilization and release of TNF mRNA, freeing it for translation [122].

TNF Receptors and their Signaling

TNF can signal through two structurally distinct receptors, the TNFR1 and the TNFR2 [123]. TNFR1, a 55kDa protein first described in 1990 [124], is found on most cells in the body, while TNFR2 expression is thought to be limited to cells of lymphoid or myeloid lineage; however, TNFR2 has been reported on intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) during inflammation [125] hepatocytes [126] and endothelial cells. Both receptors contain similar cysteine-rich extra cellular domains that result in the formation of homotrimers [127]. TNFR1 possesses an 80-amino acid sequence on its intracellular domain that can activate apoptosis [128], whereas TNFR2 does not. While TNFR1 binds the soluble form of TNF, TNFR2 favors binding the membrane-bound form of TNF [129]. The low affinity interaction of soluble TNF and TNFR2 may augment signaling through TNFR1 via "ligand passing" of TNF from TNFR2 to TNFR1 [130].

Mice lacking the p55 TNFR1 gene have relatively normal physiology and unchanged T-cell development, but are unresponsive to LPS and superantigen challenge [131] and have been reported to fail to develop small intestinal Peyer's patches [132]. A later study disputed this finding, reporting instead that the deficiency was in the formation of B-cell follicles within secondary lymphoid tissues [133]. In contrast, they are extremely susceptible to infection by intracellular bacterial infections such as *L. monocytogenes* [131, 134] and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [135].

TNF signaling can lead to two main cell responses. One is apoptosis through both

the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways and the other is cell survival/activation. When TNF signaling results in apoptosis, the TNFR1 trimerizes in response to TNF ligation. TNF ligation leads to the internalization of TNFR1 into clathrin-coated pits, which may mediate its pro-apoptotic effects, as blocking this step prevented apoptosis in several cell lines [136]. The internalization appears to be necessary for death inducing signaling complex (DISC) formation [137]. The TNFR1-associated adaptor protein, known as the TNFR-associated death domain (TRADD) [138], can interact with the E3 ubiquitin ligase, TNF receptor associated factor (TRAF) 2, receptor-interacting protein (RIP)-1 [139] or the fas-associated death domain (FADD), leading to activation or apoptosis, respectively [138, 140]. FADD then recruits procaspase-8 via the homologous death effector domain to form the DISC. Pro-caspase 8 is autolytically cleaved during DISC formation to caspase-8. Caspase-8 then activates the caspase cascade resulting in apoptosis. TNFR1-induced apoptosis can be regulated at several levels, including Fliceinhibitory protein (FLIP) which inhibits caspases, FLIP can also recruit activating adaptor proteins like TRAF 1-3 and RIP [141]. TNFR1 has been shown to activate apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway via the cleavage of the inactive Bid into a truncated form that can integrate into the mitochondrial membrane and lead to cytochrome C release [477].

In addition to apoptosis, NF κ B activation is a major consequence of TNFR1 signaling. RIP-1 can interact with mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MEKK-3), and transforming growth factor activated kinase (TAK)-1, leading to activation of inhibitor of κ B (I κ B) α kinase (IKK), which phosphorylates IkB leading to the release and nuclear translocation of p65 and p50 together known as NF κ B. TRADD-TRAF2 association also leads to the nuclear translocation of NF κ B [142]. TRAF2 binds to inhibitor of cellular apoptosis proteins 1 and 2. This complex leads to the degradation of I κ B α and subsequent liberation of NF κ B [143-145]. RIP also directly links the IKK signalosome to TNFR1 [146]. TNF activation of NF κ B has also been shown to occur via PI3K and AKT [147]. AKT has been shown to phosphorylate IKK α at threonine 23 [147]. Rapidly after receptor ligation, PKC is activated [148] but NF κ B activation was demonstrated to occur independently of PKC [149]. TNF ligation can also activate phospholipase C [150].

As TNFR1 can result in two potential cell fates, how this decision is made is

important. During TNFR1 activation, MAPK are also activated and they can both promote [151] and inhibit apoptosis [152]. It has been proposed that TNFR1 activation occurs in two sequential processes [153]. First, after TNF stimulation, TRADD, RIP and TRAF2 are recruited to lipid rafts containing TNFR1 [154], forming a high molecular weight transient complex. Neither FADD nor Caspase-8 is detectable in this complex. This complex dissociates as TNFR1 is endocytosed and the TRADD death domains become available to bind to other death domains associated with TNFR1 such as FADD, where apoptosis may be activated via the association of another complex [153]. This appears to be the time that is important in whether or not apoptosis or cell survival will occur.

The activation of NF κ B by TNF upregulates the transcription of anti-apoptotic genes, counteracting the activation of the apoptosis. Mediators such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL are upregulated after NF κ B activation and can oppose apoptosis purportedly by binding up pro-apoptotic proteins within the mitochondrial membrane [478]. When components of the NF κ B pathway are blocked in intestinal epithelial cells, increased epithelial cell apoptosis has been reported [155, 156]. However, TNF-activated pathways independent of NF κ B may also decide the cell fate. TRAF2 possesses a domain that acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase, and has been demonstrated to ubiquitinate RIP1 at lysine 63 [479]. This polyubiquitination of RIP1 leads to activation of NF κ B and inhibition of apoptosis. In the absence of RIP1 ubiquitination, RIP1 will interact with caspase-8 acting as a scaffold for DISC leading to activation and apoptosis, an event independent of NF κ B activation [479].

Despite the lack of a functional death domain, TNFR2 has been shown to contribute to apoptosis [157, 158]. Overexpression of TNFR2 in HeLa cells, which do not normally express TNFR2, led to TNF-induced apoptosis [159]. TNFR2 has been shown to activate c-jun NH2 terminal kinase (JNK) in HeLa and contribute to TNF-induced cell death, which was reduced when TNFR2 was blocked [160]. TNFR2 may also compete with TNFR1 for TRAF2 and IAP through recruitment during signaling rendering the cell more susceptible to apoptosis as the survival pathway is not being activated in TNFR1 [161].

This link between TNFR2 and apoptosis may be relevant to non-leukocytic expression of TNFR2 being associated with the pathology of several diseases. In

Pseudomonas exotoxin A-induced hepatitis, a model of T-cell-dependent hepatitis, mice that were irradiated and reconstituted with either WT or TNFR2^{-/-} bone marrow showed that a loss of TNFR2 on parenchymal cells but not bone-marrow-derived cells reduced the severity of hepatitis, despite an accumulation of TNFR2⁺ leukocytes. This suggests that TNFR2 expression elsewhere can contribute to inflammation. *In vitro*, TNFR2^{-/-} hepatocytes were resistant to apoptosis induced by antagonistic TNFR1 and TNFR2 antibodies [126], suggesting that TNFR2 can contribute to hepatocyte apoptosis and thus liver damage in this model. There is evidence to suggest that an alternatively spliced form of TNFR2 is expressed intracellularly that co-localizes with endogenous TNF in human cell lines [162]. This was proposed to protect TNF-expressing cells from apoptosis. TNFR2 was shown to be expressed in intestinal epithelial cells [125] during inflammation suggesting that this mechanism could potentially occur in the gut, although this has yet to be demonstrated. Other studies show induced expression of TNFR2 during inflammation [163].

TNF and Colitis

TNF is thought to play an important role in the pathogenesis of IBD, since TNF antagonization is a major route of therapy. This is supported by evidence that TNF is elevated in the plasma and mucosa in IBD [164-166], as are the levels of soluble TNF receptors [167, 168]. Paradoxically, soluble receptor levels are directly correlated with disease activity in IBD [168], although it is plausible that receptor cleavage is a method of limiting the inflammatory response [169]. However, despite the general consensus that TNF is pathogenic in IBD, there have been studies that have failed to detect elevation of TNF levels in the plasma [170] or the mucosa [171]. Whether elevated TNF is a product of inflammation or involved in the initiation of inflammation is not clear, although one study reported that experimental TNF overexpression resulted in spontaneous colitis in mice [121] that resembled the Th1 profile observed in CD [172]. Otherwise, experimental examination of the role of TNF in IBD has been made possible using antibodies that antagonize soluble and membrane-bound TNF, and using various genetic knockout models for both TNF and TNFRs.

Anti-TNF Therapy

Anti-TNF antibodies, such as Infliximab, Adalimumab and Certolizumab, may go

beyond simple TNF neutralization. The mechanisms by which Infliximab exerts its anticolitic effects are not clear. It has been demonstrated that administration of anti-TNF antibodies leads to T-cell or leukocyte apoptosis [173]. In patients with steroid refractory CD, Infliximab was shown to induce lymphocyte apoptosis, specifically in activated Tcells [174] and mucosal T-cell apoptosis in CD patients [175]. It has been suggested that the ability of Infliximab to induce apoptosis in lymphocytes correlates to the reduction in disease activity in CD [176]. This cytotoxicity has been recapitulated in severecombined immunodeficient (SCID) mice reconstituted with human THP-1 monocyte-like cells and Jurkat cells and then treated with Infliximab showed depletion of the THP-1 and Jurkat cells [173]. In the Samp1vit+ murine model of ileitis, anti-TNF treatment was associated with an increase in apoptosis of lamina propria mononuclear cell [177]. attributing efficacy to specifically depleting mucosal effector cells. In vitro treatment of cells with Infliximab induced cell death which was abrogated by treatment with a caspase inhibitor, attributing cell death to apoptosis [173]. These studies support a model whereby anti-TNF has an indirect mechanism as an anti-inflammatory by inducing apoptosis of surface-TNF-bearing cells.

On the contrary, there are reports suggesting that outside-in signaling and subsequent apoptosis were not attributed to Infliximab. One paper in particular found no effect of Infliximab on monocyte apoptosis after Annexin V staining but did show that treatment of monocytes with Infliximab resulted in reduced production of TNF after stimulation [178]. Another study reported that while Infliximab and Adalimumab did induce complement and antibody-mediated cytotoxicity, Certolizumab, an anti-TNF PEGulated Fab' fragment effective in reducing IBD symptoms [179], did not share these properties [180]. It would seem there are multiple mechanisms responsible for the efficacy of anti-TNF therapy.

Etanercept, a soluble TNFR2 chimeric molecule that antagonizes TNF has not proven to be effective in IBD [181]. Etanercept, compared to Infliximab, was ineffective at inducing apoptosis in mucosal T-cells compared to Infliximab [175]. However, in rheumatoid arthritis, Infliximab and Etanercept both induced apoptosis in monocytes and macrophages from synovial biopsies but not lymphocytes [182]. It is known that while Etanercept can bind transmembrane TNF in its trimer form, unlike Infliximab, it cannot bind transmembrane TNF in its monomer form [183]. In addition, Infliximab was shown to form more stable complexes with transmembrane TNF in transfected cells compared to Etanercept, and bind with more avidity [183]. This may facilitate outside-in signaling. Both Etanercept and Infliximab were shown to induce E-selectin expression in Jurkat cells stably-transfected with TNF. However, Infliximab, but not Etanercept, induced IL-10 expression by the transfected cells. Similarly, Infliximab, but not Etanercept, induced apoptosis and G0/G1 cell cycle arrest in these cells, which was associated with JNK phosphorylation [184]. This could act as a potential self-limiting response in mTNF-expressing cells but has yet to be confirmed *in vivo*. It has also been suggested that anti-TNF treatment could decrease IEC apoptosis [185], potentially aiding in healing from active disease, or by reducing bacterial translocation and access to underlying leukocytes.

A recent paper reported that three anti-TNF antibodies, Infliximab, Adalimumab, and to a limited extent, Certolizumab, effectively induced apoptosis in CD14+ peripheral blood monocytes but not CD4+ T-cells [186]. Co-culture of CD4+ lymphocytes with CD14+ monocytes resulted in significant apoptosis in UC CD4+ T-cells after *in vitro* Infliximab treatment. This suggests that Infliximab induces apoptosis indirectly through monocytes, which were found to express high levels of membrane-bound TNF [186]. CD4+ T-cells isolated from the lamina propria had increased expression of TNFR2, and a corresponding expression of TRAF2 and NF κ B. Application of a neutralizing anti-TNFR2 antibody mimicked the apoptosis observed by the treatment of co-cultures with anti-TNF antibody [186], suggesting that TNFR2 is a mediator by which inflammation is exacerbated in IBD, and by targeting membrane-bound TNF with anti-TNF antibodies or knocking out TNFR2 within the CD4+ population, inflammation is effectively reduced.

Anti-TNF treatment reduced IL-6 production in the mucosa of IBD patients and blocking the IL-6 receptor along with anti-TNF treatment significantly increased the number of apoptotic CD4+ T-cells in the mucosa [186]. This paper is of particular significance because it highlights an indirect role in inducing T-cell apoptosis by anti-TNF therapy as opposed to direct activation of apoptosis cited previously [173-175]. This effectively reduces the number of activated T-cells during the inflammatory response. In addition, the efficacy of anti-TNF therapy might not be a function of outside-in signaling through membrane-bound TNF on T-cells, but a function of membrane-bound TNF on antigen-presenting cells interacting with TNFR2 on activated T-cells. More research is needed to further clarify the role of TNFR2 in colitis, as only a few studies have addressed this.

In experimental colitis, data from anti-TNF treatment is equally conflicting. As in human studies, TNF upregulation in the colon and plasma is not consistently found [187]. While exacerbation of DSS colitis by anti-TNF antibodies has been reported [188], others have demonstrated a reduction in experimental colitis [189, 190]. Others yet have reported no effect of a neutralizing TNF antiserum on DSS colitis in mice [191]. As the conditions of each of these studies vary (different strains of mice, and doses/duration of DSS, polyclonal versus monoclonal antibodies) it is possible that there may be more than one underlying mechanism accounting for these conflicting outcomes. Blocking TNF using a small-purine-based molecule that inhibited the transcription of TNF did not decrease acute or chronic inflammation in mice treated with 3% DSS for seven days, despite the fact that it reduced TNF expression in the colon [192]. Overall, this supports the theory that anti-TNF treatment limits the inflammatory response by depleting effector cells rather than by neutralization of soluble TNF.

There are other potential mechanisms by which blocking TNF may reduce inflammation, in short, by acting as an anti-inflammatory. Anti-TNF therapy can reduce CD40/CD40L expression [193], and reduce TNF-mediated NO release, [194]. Infliximab may reduce pathogenic angiogenesis in CD [195], but at the same time promote effective angiogenesis by reducing endothelial dysfunction [196]. Infliximab use *in vivo* and *in vitro* was shown to induce regulatory macrophages, which could help in the resolution of inflammation [197]. These mechanisms outline some of the many actions that anti-TNF therapy has in reducing inflammation in IBD.

TNF in Acute and Chronic Models

The great number of research papers dedicated to unraveling the role of TNF in intestinal inflammation highlights the importance of this mediator. It has become evident that TNF could have a dual role in the inflammatory reaction during DSS colitis. TNF might exert a different action during acute colitis compared to chronic colitis. An early report demonstrated that during acute DSS colitis, TNF neutralization exacerbated colitis yet while during chronic colitis, TNF neutralization ameliorated colitis [188]. Additionally, TNF-deficient mice have an exacerbated and fatal response to acute DSS colitis [198]. During the acute phase of DSS-colitis there is an infiltration of leukocytes,

a T- and B-cell independent event [199]. Supporting a protective role for TNF during the acute phase of colitis, RAG^{-/-}TNFR1^{-/-} double-deficient mice, a strain lacking lymphocytes and TNFR1 in remaining myeloid-derived cells showed extensive mortality and disease severity compared to RAG^{-/-} controls and RAG^{-/-}TNFR2^{-/-} mice when treated with DSS [200]. In fact, RAG^{-/-}TNFR2^{-/-} mice were protected compared to RAG^{-/-} mice after DSS treatment, and this protection was found to be dependent on the expression of TNFR1. Bacterial translocation into distant organs such as the spleen and liver was increased in RAG^{-/-}TNFR1^{-/-} and triple knockout mice (RAG^{-/-}TNFR1^{-/-}TNFR2^{-/-}), suggesting a role for TNF receptors in preventing bacterial translocation or antibacterial immunity. When RAG^{-/-}TNFR1^{-/-} mice were irradiated and reconstituted with RAG^{-/-}TNFR1^{+/+} bone marrow, intestinal inflammation was attenuated. In addition, the presence of TNFR1 was associated with restitution of the colonic epithelium with increased BrDU uptake, and activation factors such as AKT expression [200]. Therefore, expression of TNFR1 on innate immune cells seemed to provide a protective effect in DSS-colitis.

TNF action via TNFR1 expression on IEC has also been proposed as a mechanism by which TNF can be protective in colitis. It has been proposed to support barrier function and prevent bacterial translocation. A mouse strain deficient in an intestinal epithelial cell-specific signaling molecule, TAK1, activated by TNF along the RIP-MEKK3 route, develops spontaneous inflammation and death shortly after birth. In the absence of TAK1, TNF signaling resulted in increased epithelial cell apoptosis. A double-deficient strain of TNFR1^{-/-}TAK1^{-/-} mice showed delayed onset of spontaneous inflammation associated with a reduction in intestinal epithelial apoptosis [156]. Deletion of intestinal epithelial NFkB essential modulator (NEMO), which forms a complex with IKKa and IKKB was reported to sensitize these cells to TNF-mediated apoptosis, and leads to spontaneous intestinal inflammation and bacterial translocation [155]. In vitro, TNF has been shown to influence the uptake of protein antigens, but not affect transepithelial resistance in polarized T84 cells [201], whereas a decrease in transepithelial resistance has been attributed to TNF in T84 colon cancer cells reported elsewhere [202]. The above studies describing the action of TNF signaling early in intestinal inflammation suggest at least two mechanisms; that TNF is protective against inflammation by promoting innate antimicrobial responses, such as activating and mobilizing neutrophils and macrophages, and by contributing to barrier function of the

intestinal epithelium by promoting survival of the epithelial cells.

TNF in TNBS Colitis

Studies examining the role of TNF in TNBS-induced colitis have also yielded conflicting results. While TNF-deficient mice are extremely susceptible to DSS colitis [198], they are not as susceptible to TNBS [203]. In fact, TNFR1^{-/-}TNFR2^{-/-}double-deficient mice are also protected against TNBS colitis [204, 205]. TNBS-mediated colitis, when used with a sensitizing dose, is a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) response, although as discussed, TNBS intracolonically can lead to a strong acute inflammatory response on first antigen exposure [88], confounding their interpretation. DSS and TNBS colitis have been reported to produce a very different gene expression profile during inflammation, at least on a BALB/c background [187] and so more work needs to be done to identify which elements of the response are modulated by TNF.

The involvement of TNFR1 and TNFR2 has also been investigated but animal studies have failed to yield a definitive role for TNF receptors in protection or damage in acute colitis. It was reported that TNFR1^{-/-} mice were more susceptible to colitis induced by TNBS, while TNFR2^{-/-} mice were less susceptible compared to WT mice [206]. In contrast, Nakai et al., reported that tissue damage was significantly reduced in TNFR1^{-/-} mice, associated with a reduced level of activated NF κ B [204]. In agreement, blockade of TNFR1 attenuated TNBS colitis [207]. Interestingly in the study by Nakai, the concentration of TNBS administered was much higher at 6% compared to 1.75% by Ebach et al. In addition, in the study by Nakai, mice were killed at day 6 post-TNBS administration while in the other study they were killed at days 2 and 5. The different doses of TNBS might have an impact on the type of immunity activated during TNBS sensitization. While the volumes and concentrations of ethanol remained the same between the studies, the different results suggest different mechanisms of inflammation.

TNFR2 in Colitis

A pro-inflammatory effect in the colon has been also attributed to TNFR2. It is reportedly expressed in the colonic epithelium from inflamed mucosa in CD patients, but not in unaffected mucosa, suggesting that inflammation can trigger the expression of TNFR2 [125]. To further define a role for TNFR2 in the gut, it has been shown in vitro that IFN- γ can prime the human colon carcinoma cell line Caco-2 cells to express both
TNFR1 and TNFR2 however, TNFR2 expression by Caco-2 cells was associated with a loss of barrier function after TNF treatment. This loss of barrier function was associated with a disruption in tight junctions (measured by the expression of occludin and zonulin-1). In addition, TNFR2 signaling led to an increase in myosin light chain (MLC) phosphorylation and MLC kinase expression, demonstrated to contribute to the loss of barrier function by disrupting tight-junction-associated proteins [208]. Whether TNFR2-mediated barrier disruption significantly contributes to colitis *in vivo* remains to be determined.

TNFR2 is expressed on lamina propria and peripheral blood CD4⁺ T-cells from patients with CD compared to controls. Furthermore, adoptive transfer of CD4⁺CD62L⁺ T-cells that constitutively expressed TNFR2 led to a more severe colitis than adoptive transfer of WT cells [209]. Combined with this evidence for T-cell expression of TNFR2 associated with inflammation is evidence that TNFR2 can act as a costimulatory molecule for T-cells, particularly during clonal expansion during a primary T-cell response [210]. However, more recent evidence suggests that TNFR2 may be more important in regulatory T-cell function [211-213]. CD4⁺ T-cell deficiency of TNFR2 in cells reconstituted into RAG^{-/-} mice resulted in a more severe CD4⁺CD45RB^{hi} adoptive transfer model of colitis. Stromal TNFR2 did not influence the outcome of colitis in RAG^{-/-}TNFR2^{-/-} mice reconstituted with WT cells [214]. Studies examining the selective TNFR2 deficiency as opposed to whole animal deficiency, such as those by Ebach et al [206] can provide insights into the function of TNFR2 that contribute to more specific treatments for IBD. However, the conflicting roles reported for both receptors confound conclusions that can be made regarding the efficacy of selective targeting. Thus far, anti-TNF treatment appears to be successful regardless of specific receptor involvement in IBD.

TNF and Subepithelial Myofibroblasts

Along with both epithelial and bone-marrow-derived involvement of TNF in the development of colitis, there is a mesenchymal cell involvement as well. Intestinal myofibroblasts that overexpress TNF have greater MMP9 activity and expression [215]. This implicates intestinal myofibroblasts as targets for the action of TNF in the development of inflammation. In addition, mice that overexpress TNFR1 specifically within cells of mesenchymal origin, specifically the intestinal myofibroblasts, develop a

Crohn's like inflammation [215]. Inhibition of TNF signaling by Infliximab treatment was shown to reduce myofibroblast migration and collagen deposition [216]. Furthermore, TNF-induced expression of COX-2 and subsequent prostaglandin production by myofibroblasts could contribute to inflammation in IBD [217]. This suggests that TNF activation of these cells through TNFR1 is theoretically sufficient to initiate an inflammatory response within the intestine. As colonic myofibroblasts are often located close to the basement membrane of the colonic crypts in proximity to intestinal stem cells, and are purported to play an important role in maintaining the "stem cell niche" [218], their role in inflammation and development of cancer may be crucial.

After examining the involvement of TNF in IBD and a number of animal models, TNF does not have a distinct singular role. Rather, its effects on many different aspects of immunity, combined with differences in genetic make-up and initiating events may predict its effect on inflammation. In contrast, there is a consensus that TNF appears to be an important mediator in tumorigenesis.

TNF and Cancer

TNF was originally discovered as the mediator of endotoxin-induced tumor necrosis, hence its name [219]. Other studies that examined the effects of using anti-TNF antibodies in both rodents [220] and humans suggest that TNF may play a role in anticancer immunity, as cancers such as lymphoma [221, 222] and Kaposi's sarcoma [223, 224] have been associated with anti-TNF therapy. In contrast, other clinical studies failed to find an association with anti-TNF therapy with lymphoma [225-227]. This leads to the question of whether lymphoma could be a result of immunosuppression in general or targeted depletion of TNF-expressing lymphocytes that may have cytotoxic properties targeted at cancerous cells. It could reflect the age of the populations being studied; it is possible that earlier and longer-term treatment with anti-TNF therapies could increase the risk of lymphoma. This becomes of particular concern with anti-TNF therapy being used in the pediatric population [222, 228].

Many earlier studies examined TNF as a possible solid tumor therapy [229-231]. This strategy generally failed because systemic TNF treatment is extremely toxic [230, 232]. Some studies successfully showed tumor regression after intra-tumoral treatment via TNF-expressing adenovirus [233, 234]. Interestingly, one study found that intratumoral injection of TNF-expressing adenovirus not only led to tumor shrinkage and disappearance, but also elicited a memory response against further application of tumor cells in mice [234]. Adenovirus targeting the tumor vasculature is another avenue by which TNF could function as a potential therapy, as TNF demonstrated angiostatic properties when injected within fusogenic liposomes into the femoral artery [235] and when administered via an adenoviral vector [236]. Together, these studies have found that TNF can be used as a potential adjunct therapy to aid in the shrinkage of tumors.

Although TNF therapy showed promising results in solid tumors, during the mid-2000's it became evident that TNF might actually play more of a role in promoting tumor growth when applied systemically. By blocking TNF *in vivo* or by using TNF-deficient cell lines or mouse strains it has been found that TNF plays a critical role in many cancer types and models [237, 238]. Anti-TNF therapies have been evaluated in phase II clinical trials for treatment of cancers with mixed success [239-241]. In renal cell carcinoma, it aided in stabilizing disease progression [239]. In breast cancer, Etanercept did not demonstrate a particular therapeutic effect within the studied parameters [241], and Infliximab may inhibit bone metastasis by breast cancer cells via a reduction in CXCR4 [242]. Whether this is biologically significant remains unknown. In ovarian cancer, there is some evidence that Etanercept may lead to disease stabilization, however, more study is required [241]. It appears that anti-TNF therapy may not be the magic bullet for cancer treatment as it appeared in several animal models [243]; however, it is possible that it may provide supportive therapy in combination with other drugs.

In animal models of cancer, blocking TNF or using TNF or TNFR deficient animals typically reduces cancer [163, 237, 238]. TNFR1, but not TNFR2 was shown to be involved in a reduction in hepatic neoplasia [237]. Applying a phorbol ester to the skin of wildtype and TNF-deficient mice showed that TNF-deficient mice were protected from skin tumor development [238]. TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice are less susceptible to 9,10-dimethyl-1,2-benzanthracene and 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate (TPA)-induced skin tumors compared to WT mice [163]. TNFR1^{-/-} mice were the most resistant with the difference possibly attributed to differential expression of the receptors in the skin. Whereas TNFR1 expression was constitutive, TNFR2 mRNA was induced after TPA treatment in the epidermis. WT mice also had increased expression of activated c-jun after 24 hours of treatment compared to receptor knockout mice suggesting that TNF-

mediated tumorigenesis may occur via the AP-1 pathway. Interestingly, TNFR1 and TNFR2 differentially induced AP-1-responsive genes, granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) and matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3), with TNFR2^{-/-} mice having a markedly reduced epidermal GM-CSF expression and both TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice demonstrating reduced MMP-3 expression [163]. These studies show that TNF inhibition may be an effective means of targeting several different cancers, with the main effects being attributed to TNFR1. TNF signaling through TNFR1 as it pertains to tumorigenesis will be discussed in the next section.

Mechanisms of Colitis-Associated Carcinogenesis

Epithelial Cell Turnover

Colon epithelial cells are normally rapidly dividing cells arising from stem cells Inflammation can cause damage to the epithelium, near the base of the crypt [244]. stimulating a reaction to replace the epithelium and accordingly increased epithelial cell turnover has been described in experimental colitis [245], with an increase in both colonic epithelial cell apoptosis [246, 247] and proliferation [248] in IBD. NFkB-induced expression of anti-apoptotic proteins within the colonic epithelium, and cytokines from infiltrating cells, are associated with CAC [249]. Deletion of RelA, the gene encoding the p65 subunit of NFkB, specifically in intestinal epithelial cells, resulted in increased epithelial apoptosis and a low-grade spontaneous colonic inflammation [250], suggesting that an imbalance between proliferation and apoptosis might contribute to inflammation susceptibility. While NF-kB may be protective during acute inflammation in preserving the epithelium and maintaining barrier function, this may be detrimental in chronic inflammation. The administration of an anti-proliferative drug taurolidine did not affect the outcome of CAC in mice [251], suggesting that in addition to increased colonic epithelial turnover, other signals are required for progression to cancer, emphasizing the importance of cytokines produced during inflammation acting as growth factors for the regenerating epithelium.

Inflammation Activates Tumorigenic Pathways within Intestinal Epithelial Cells

During epithelial regeneration after injury there is an activation of signaling

pathways within the colonic epithelial cells that are associated with the development of cancer. Infiltrating cells produce cytokines, chemokines and lipid mediators that coordinate cellular efforts to prevent infection. These mediators are known to induce signaling that is involved in carcinogenesis. This section will discuss these mediators with an emphasis on what is currently known about the role of TNF in CAC. As TNF is reportedly upregulated in the colonic mucosa during inflammation [252], and is a major target in IBD treatment, it follows that it might play a substantial role in the development of colorectal cancer after prolonged periods of inflammation. TNF is a major activator of the NF κ B pathway, and several studies suggest this may be the main mechanism of activation that leads to the development of cancer.

NFκB activation appears to be critical in the development of colorectal cancer subsequent to repeated bouts of colitis [249]. Mice with a selective myeloid or IEC-IKK β deficiency were treated with AOM and three cycles of DSS to induce CAC. Intestinal IKK β deficiency resulted in reduced tumor numbers and incidence without affecting inflammation severity. Meanwhile, myeloid-specific deletion of IKK β resulted in smaller tumors. Epithelial-specific IKK β deletion was associated with increased epithelial cell apoptosis while cytokines produced by myeloid-derived cell act as growth factors for tumors during inflammation [249]. While inflammation and cancer are related, there may be specific molecular events during an inflammatory response that lead to tumorigenesis. In addition, inflammatory signals within the epithelial cells may contribute just as importantly as those derived from infiltrating leukocytes.

One obvious mechanism of NF κ B activation in intestinal epithelial cells during active inflammation is through the presence of TNF in the inflammatory milieu; however TNF-deficient mice had similar NF κ B DNA-binding activity in the colon as WT mice after acute DSS-induced colitis [198], suggesting that other factors present during colonic inflammation can activate NF κ B in place of TNF. This raises the question whether TNFmediated activation of NF κ B is the most important pathway of colonic epithelial cell protection in an acute response, as TNF deficiency is associated with high mortality during acute DSS colitis, or if tumorigenesis via TNF signaling occurs via the NF κ B pathway.

In contrast, treatment with an anti-TNF antibody reduced the colitis-associated tumor development in mice treated with AOM and DSS with no difference in colitis severity after three cycles of DSS. Antibody treatment significantly reduced nuclear translocation of p65 in colonic tissue from treated mice, suggesting that blocking TNF can reduce NF κ B signaling without affecting inflammation [252]. Whether NF κ B nuclear translocation was reduced *in vivo* as a direct result of TNF signaling or an indirect effect on other inflammatory measures was not clear. TNFR1 expression directly on epithelial cells was not shown. Nevertheless, one mechanism by which TNF might contribute to cancer is through activation of NF κ B. The lack of difference in acute DSS colitis in TNF-deficient mice could be due to a complete TNF deficiency and a susceptibility to infection leading to a hyperinflammatory response [198]. This could mask any effect of TNF on NF κ B expression within the epithelium.

TNF signaling through TNFR1 may promote carcinogenesis through other mechanisms. The development of CAC was evaluated in BALB/c mice treated with AOM and DSS for three cycles. TNFR1^{-/-} mice had reduced severity of inflammation and reduced tumor development compared to WT mice. The culprit appeared to be cells of hematopoietic origin as bone marrow chimeras made from WT mice reconstituted with TNFR1^{-/-} bone marrow had a reduced tumor load compared to TNFR1^{-/-} mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow and WT mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow [243]. Therefore, in this specific model of colitis-mediated cancer, hematopoietic cells are the main contributors to TNF-specific inflammation-mediated cancer, as opposed to the activation of NF κ B via TNFR1 within epithelial cells [249]. TNFR1^{-/-} mice had a reduced infiltration of neutrophils, and this was associated with a decreased expression of CCL2 and CXCL1 in the colon measured by RT-PCR [243]. Despite reports that TNFR1 is expressed on epithelial cells, this study did not find TNFR1 protein in the epithelium via immunohistochemistry, and TNFR1 expression was limited to lamina propria cells [243]. This would support why TNFR1 expression within bone-marrow derived cells is more important in colitis mediated cancer.

The activation of NF κ B by TNF leads to increased expression of the enzyme COX-2, which is involved in the production of lipid mediators prostaglandins and leukotrienes. COX-2 is well-established as a contributor to CRC [253, 254]. Prostaglandins also activate signaling pathways within the cell that promote survival. Prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) has been shown to activate β-catenin signaling and subsequent activation of cyclinD1 and c-MYC, both considered important in tumorigenesis [255].

Accordingly, Joseph et al. showed that PGE₂ addition to detached intestinal epithelial cells could delay detachment-induced cell death in vitro [256]. Deletion of PGE₂ synthase, the last step in PGE₂ production, reduces development of tumors in Apc^{min+/-} mice. This is associated with a reduced accumulation of nuclear β -catenin in dysplastic precursor lesions, showing an in vivo effect of PGE₂ [257]. It should be noted that $Apc^{\min+/-}$ mice already have an increased nuclear translocation of β -catenin due to a mutated Apc, and prostaglandins further propagate this translocation by signaling through the EP2 G-protein coupled receptor, leading to the inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 β , which normally inhibits β -catenin translocation to the nucleus by phosphorylating it, enabling its ubiquitination and subsequent destruction [255]. Colonic epithelial cells could be a source of prostaglandins, but both infiltrating leukocytes [243], and subepithelial myofibroblasts [217] may be a more significant source during CAC. COX- $2^{-/-}$ mice are not any more susceptible to CAC when compared to WT [258], but it is not known if cell selective deletion of COX-2 would have a different outcome in CAC. It was shown that epithelial loss of COX-2 was of no consequence in DSS-colitis, however, loss of COX-2 in endothelial cells and myeloid-derived cells exacerbated colitis, suggesting further that these cells are important in the protective effects of prostaglandins on the epithelium in acute colitis [259] and prostaglanding derived from these sources could promote tumorigenesis in CAC.

TNF-mediated PI3K/AKT activation may be involved in CAC. PI3K/AKT, a serine-threonine kinase, is involved in cell proliferation and protection from apoptosis and can activate NF κ B [147]. AKT phosphorylation is detectable in UC biopsies [260], and it has been reported that wortmannin, a PI3K inhibitor, reduced colitis in DSS-treated mice [260]. In a study of *C. rodentium* infectious colitis, inhibition of PI3K signaling using wortmannin resulted in reduced phosphorylation of β -catenin at Ser552, leading to reduced epithelial cell proliferation [261]. TNF is known to activate the PI3K/AKT pathway [147]. While PI3K inhibition led to a susceptibility to *C. rodentium* infection, these results have implications that it is possible that TNF could lead to β -catenin signaling and thus another mechanism by which it could contribute to CAC.

Cytokines and chemokines may play an important role in the development of CAC due to their abilities to attract leukocytes and stimulate angiogenesis. Recently, Popivanova et al reported that CCL2, a major macrophage-attracting chemokine, was

crucial for the colonic infiltration of COX-2-expressing macrophages and blocking CCL2 resulted in reduced cancer and inflammatory indices and angiogenesis after AOM+DSS treatment [262].

In addition to TNF, IL-6 is another example of the impact of cytokines in CAC. IL-6 signaling though IL-6 receptor $\alpha/\text{gp130}$ activating the signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3 pathway has recently garnered attention in CAC. It has previously been shown that suppression of TGF- β -mediated IL-6 was shown to prevent colon tumor growth via STAT3 [263], outlining the importance of this pathway in cancer. IL-6-deficient mice demonstrate a reduced number of tumors per mouse after AOM+DSS treatment [264]. This was associated with increased survival and proliferation markers in WT cells compared to IL-6-deficient colonic epithelial cells [264]. IL-6 deficiency specifically in hematopoietic cells, especially dentritic cells and CD11b⁺ macrophages, led to a decrease in colonic epithelial STAT3 activation. Furthermore, conditional STAT3 knockout in enterocytes reduced the levels of CAC [264]. STAT3 signaling is associated with many different stages in the progression of cancer and can promote tumorigenesis by influencing proliferation and survival of epithelial cells, and it can also perpetuate inflammatory signals by further promoting the production of cytokines [265].

IL-6 $r\alpha$, only expressed on a limited variety of cells, can be cleaved to become a soluble receptor. The gp130, which is widely expressed, can bind this IL-6/IL-6 $r\alpha$ and induce STAT3 signaling known as IL-6 trans signaling. This may be important in the development of colitis in Samp1yit mice [266]. BALB/c mice treated with an antagonist to gp130 had a lower incidence and number of colitis-associated tumors, and this was associated with a decreased activation of epithelial STAT3 [267]. STAT3 signaling may also contribute to the expression of a DNA methyltransferase gene and subsequent methylation activity in colon cancer cells, which could have implications in gene silencing [268]. Other players in the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway that have been evaluated for their role in CAC include suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 3, where overexpression of SOCS3 inhibited the IL-6/STAT3 pathway, and the NF κ B pathway and reduced CAC in a mouse model of AOM+DSS-induced cancer [269]. As IL-6/STAT3 signaling has been deemed a major player in CAC, the relationship to TNF, already targeted in IBD, may be of importance. It has been demonstrated that TNFR1 co-

precipitated with Jak2, suggesting that TNF may lead to Jak/STAT signaling [270].

Inflammatory Mediators can Promote Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is the formation of blood vessels within the tissue and is a normal physiological process that is tightly regulated. After tissue injury, angiogenesis occurs to re-establish blood flow to the injured tissue. When it occurs during chronic inflammation it may lead to blood vessels that are more permeable, disorganized, and activated with increased potential to further recruit inflammatory cells [271]. Consequently, angiogenesis is a feature of IBD [272, 273], and measures taken to reduce it have resulted in attenuation of inflammation [195]. Angiogenesis is also an important feature of tumor development as blood vessels are important for nutrient delivery for tumor growth and survival [271]. During inflammation-mediated tumorigenesis, increased angiogenesis may promote tumor growth by providing larger quantities of oxygen and nutrients to sites of tissue repair and regeneration. In addition, blood-derived immune cells, such as neutrophils and monocytes, gain access to regenerating tissue, where the release of more growth factors, cytokines and chemokines can further promote tumorigenesis. Infiltrating leukocytes, in particular neutrophils, may play a major role in angiogenesis. As described, they are known to be a source of COX-2 and prostaglandins within the inflamed colon [243]. Neutrophils are also a significant source of matrix metalloproteases, such as MMP-9.

Matrix metalloprotease-9 (MMP-9) is an important neutrophil-derived enzyme involved in angiogenesis. This promotes the "angiogenic switch" and triggers angiogenesis by liberating and activating the angiogenic factor vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [274-276] that is constitutively expressed [277]. Neutrophil proMMP-9 is uniquely free of inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP), leading to efficient proangiogenic action of zymogen proMMP-9, whereas, MMP-9 sources from other immune cells such as macrophages, do not have the same level of activity due to the presence of TIMP [278]. The proMMP-9 angiogenic switch is thought to involve both VEGF and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF)2 [279].

Human umbilical cord endothelial cells (HUVEC) cultured in medium conditioned by neutrophils exposed to hepatocarcinoma cells readily formed tubes compared to non-tumor-exposed neutrophil-conditioned medium, and this tube formation was abrogated by a blocking antibody to MMP-9 [276]. In a multi-stage transgenic model of insulinoma, where mice have simian-virus-40 Tag oncoproteins expressed under the control of the rat insulin promotor, neutrophils were shown to be instrumental in the earlier stage "angiogenic switch" associated with MMP-9 expressing neutrophils within the islets, whereas MMP-9-expressing macrophages remained outside the tumor. Gr-1-mediated neutrophil depletion led to a decrease in angiogenic switch within dysplastic regions [275]. Together, these studies highlight a role for leukocytes in promoting cancer growth through activation of angiogenesis.

TNF has been demonstrated to induce the expression of MMP-9 [280, 281]. Epithelial MMP-9 contributes to the severity of experimental colitis versus leukocyte MMP-9, which did not [282]. In addition, MMP-9^{-/-} mice are protected against CAC [283]. This was attributed to MMP-9 cleavage of Notch1, a transcription factor that prevents colonic stem cell differentiation within the crypt [284]. This study did not differentiate between stromal or bone-marrow-derived expression of MMP-9, sourcing the MMP-9 to either neutrophils or the colon stroma. TNF could potentially induce epithelial MMP-9 expression, leading to Notch1 activation, providing another mechanism that TNF can contribute to, leading to carcinogenesis within the intestine.

TNF has been implicated in angiogenesis during tumor formation. Etanercept was shown to be effective at reducing tumor size in the AOM+DSS model of CAC, even in established tumors, and was associated with fewer blood vessels within tumors [243]. In bladder cancer, tumor TNF levels correlate positively with microvascular density [285]. Reducing angiogenesis by TNF blockade could be another mechanism by which anti-TNF therapy is effective [193, 195], even in the absence of inflammation resolution.

In contrast, TNF has been shown to induce tumor necrosis in mice bearing fibrosarcomas, not through direct tumoricidal effects as might be expected, but through the influence on the tumor vasculature. WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice used to make chimeras and bearing fibrosarcomas were treated with recombinant mouse TNF. In WT mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow there was significant tumor necrosis, but reconstitution of TNFR1^{-/-} mice with WT bone marrow inhibited tumor necrosis, suggesting that expression of TNFR1 on hematopoietc cells was not involved in tumor necrosis. TNF did not directly cause necrosis in these tumor cells. This led the authors to conclude that it was TNFR1 expression on endothelial cells that are the target causing

tumor necrosis, however, this was not directly shown [286].

TNF has been shown to contribute to angiogenesis in a TNFR2-dependent manner. Specifically, TNFR2 signaling in endothelial cells can cause activation of endothelial/epithelial tyrosine kinase (Etk), which is involved in cell migration, proliferation and survival. Etk could be a target for TNF-mediated angiogenesis. Specifically, Etk can form a complex independent of TRAF2 with TNFR2, meaning signaling through TNFR2 does not necessarily lead to NF κ B activation. Endothelial cells transfected with a constitutively active form of Etk showed increased cell migration and blood vessel formation when treated with TNF compared to cells transfected with a dominant-negative form of Etk [287]. This suggests that blocking TNF can inhibit angiogenesis through multiple mechanisms, but neutralizing TNF directly, and preventing membrane-bound TNF from interacting with TNFR2 may be effective.

Inflammation can Directly Damage Tissues through Reactive Oxygen Species Production

IBD is associated with a high level of oxidative stress, defined as an imbalance between the level of oxygen radicals produced and the enzymes and antioxidants available to neutralize them [288-292]. Oxidative stress can damage cellular components including proteins, lipids and DNA via the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Most frequently, the most DNA-damaging ROS is the hydroxyl radical [293]. ROS can be produced via a number of pathways. First, there is oxidative phosphorylation, where ROS can be released from mitochondria during metabolic processes. The contribution of mitochondrial ROS to inflammatory-related oxidative stress is not clear. Inhibitors of the respiratory electron chain, such as rotenone, do appear to have some effect on reducing inflammation in the gut, specifically in ischemia-reperfusion injury [294]. Other sources include xanthine oxidases, involved in purine metabolism, lipoxygenases and cytochrome P450, involved in drug metabolism. Xanthine oxidase activity does not appear to be increased during UC [295]. Allopurinol, a xanthine oxidase inhibitor, is sometimes prescribed during IBD as an adjunct prophylactic drug for hyperuricemia that can occur with certain drugs used in IBD therapy such as 6-mercaptopurine [296] and is therefore not a major mode of reducing inflammation in itself. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is another significant source of ROS, leading to the production of nitric

oxide (NO) that can be further transformed to peroxynitrite by reaction with superoxide radicals [297]. iNOS produces NO using the terminal nitrogen of L-arginine and molecular oxygen [297].

NADPH oxidase is an enzyme complex found in various cell types that catalyzes the transfer of electrons from NADPH to O₂, resulting in the superoxide anion (O⁻). This reaction is important for anti-microbial immunity. Lacking a functional NADPH oxidase enzyme complex in cells of the immune system can result in an immunocompromised phenotype manifesting as Chronic Granulomatous Disease in humans [298]. Those affected are unable to mount an effective anti-bacterial response particularly at mucosal surfaces and as a result develop frequent bacterial infections and granulomas [298]. The NADPH complex is comprised of several proteins; the membrane associated flavocytochrome b, which is composed of two proteins, gp91 and p22phox, and cytosolic proteins Rac2, p47phox, p67phox and p40phox. Several isoforms of NADPH oxidase exist with different functions in different tissues. For example, Nox1 is found primarily in intestinal epithelial cells and is thought to play a role in host defense and regulating inflammation. Nox2 is found primarily in neutrophils and macrophages, but can also be found in T-cells and NK cells.

Just as reduced levels of NADPH oxidase results in disease, overproduction of reactive oxygen species produced by Nox enzymes have been implicated in the pathology of several inflammatory disorders including atherosclerosis [299], and ischemia-stroke [300].

Reactive Oxygen Species and Colitis

As leukocyte NADPH oxidase is critical in protecting the host from opportunistic infections, its role in IBD, where there is mass leukocyte infiltration, warrants examination. While it may play a role in worsening already established disease by causing tissue damage and further activating the immune system, there is also a possibility that it could protect against the development of disease by preventing infection in the gut. Interestingly, two cases of a Crohn's-like colitis were reported in a form of chronic granulomatous disease where there was an autosomal-recessive p47phox deficiency [301]. Other studies suggest that inhibitors of ROS production, including superoxide dismutase (SOD), improve colitis in mice treated with 2.5% acetic acid to induce colitis. In this model of colitis in particular, xanthine oxidase pathway

inhibitors did not affect the production of ROS during colitis, suggesting that another source of ROS, such NADPH oxidase, is the major contributor [302]. One of the strongest indicators that high oxidative stress is a potent contributor to colitis comes from a mouse strain deficient in 2 isoforms of glutathione peroxidase, Gpx1 and Gpx2 an enzyme which functions to convert hydrogen peroxide to water. These mice develop spontaneous colonic inflammation, suggesting that antioxidant enzymes play a homeostatic role in the colon and that IBD could potentially result as an imbalance between oxygen radicals and efforts to quench them [321].

Less is known about NADPH oxidase in intestinal inflammation. One study examining the role of NADPH oxidase found that p47^{-/-} mice developed inflammation similar to WT mice [303]. SOD transgenic mice overexpressing SOD, on the other hand had increased measures of colitis compared to WT, while iNOS^{-/-} mice had attenuated colitis. When iNOS was inhibited in p47^{-/-} mice, there was an enhanced protection against colitis. P47 deficiency was associated with an increased NO production in LPS+IFN-γ-stimulated neutrophils, but O₂• production by iNOS^{-/-} neutrophils was not different from WT mice [303]. In contrast, a recent paper that described DSS-induced colitis in mice deficient in the main catalytic subunit of NADPH oxidase, gp91, demonstrated that gp91^{-/-} mice have a reduced clinical and histopathological outcome and reduced MPO activity and IL-6 expression in the colon compared to WT [304]. While p47 is a component of the NADPH oxidase enzyme, and p47 deficiency is associated with chronic granulomatous disease, p47 has the potential to interact with other NADPH oxidase isoforms [305] potentially masking a true deficiency, which could help explain the differences between the two studies.

There is little evidence connecting Nox2-derived ROS and colitis mediated cancer, despite the role of ROS in cellular damage. ROS can induce lipid peroxidation and protein/DNA damage. Lipid peroxidation can lead to the formation of aldehydes, such as malondialdehyde, which can further damage DNA and protein. Protein damage can alter the function of the protein, and this can contribute to cancer if proteins involved in DNA repair or cell cycle control are affected. DNA damage by ROS can manifest in single/double strand breakage, amongst other changes. There are many different DNA adducts that form as a result of oxidative damage. If this damage is not repaired, it could lead to DNA mutations, replication errors, genomic instability and cell death.

TNF and NADPH Oxidase

TNF can directly cause mutations through oxidative damage via ROS [306]. TNF has the ability to act as a mutagen as powerful as ionizing radiation [306]. In addition, normal lung epithelial cells showed DNA damage after TNF treatment [307] and longterm TNF treatment was shown to directly induce immortality in cell lines [308]. A relationship between TNF signaling and ROS production was first described in 1986 by Klebanoff et al. where TNF alone was shown to slightly increase phagocytosis and the production of H₂O₂ by human neutrophils [309]. TNF may enhance ROS production when added with chemotactic peptides such as fMLP and phorbol esters [309, 310]. TNF has been reported to upregulate transcription of NADPH proteins through NFkB in human macrophages [311], indicating one mechanism by which TNF can induce ROS production. TNF-induced ROS production by BALB 3T3 and L929 cells was abrogated by rotenone treatment, which inhibits mitochondrial-derived ROS, suggesting that the mitochondria-derived ROS could be induced by TNF [306]. L929 fibrosarcoma cells were shown to express Nox1, a TNF-activated ROS-producing isoform of NADPH oxidase [312], indicating that there are several different avenues of TNF-mediated ROS production.

Neutrophils are one of the most abundant sources of ROS during inflammation [313]. TNF alone was shown to activate NADPH oxidase in human neutrophils when cells were adhered to matrix proteins fibronectin and fibrinogen, inducing conformational changes in the $\alpha_L\beta_2$ integrin [314]. Two studies evaluated the role of TNFR1 and TNFR2 in TNF-induced respiratory burst in matrix-adherent human neutrophils. Using monoclonal antibodies, the first study showed that antagonizing TNFR1 with a monoclonal antibody resulted in ROS production. An antagonizing antibody to TNFR2 did not, so it was proposed that TNFR1 was the mediator of TNF-activated ROS production. The second study used a different mAb to antagonize TNFR2, and found that when TNFR2 was also activated, ROS production was enhanced by 60% [315]. More recently, an association between TNFR1 and riboflavin kinase links TNFR1 to NADPH oxidase through p22phox. Riboflavin kinase aids in flavin adenine dinucleotide synthesis, which is an important cofactor in the function of NOX2 [316]. Therefore, it is possible that TNFR2 could contribute to enhancing TNF-activated ROS by passing the ligand to TNFR1. A mechanism for TNFR2-mediated ROS production has not been described.

It was shown that TNF stimulation induces serine phosphorylation of p47, an important event in the priming of neutrophils for increased sensitivity to inflammatory stimuli [317]. Therefore, TNF could prime cells for efficient ROS production, where they would be quickly induced by integrin activation when leukocytes arrive at the affected location. While this mechanism has not been described in neutrophils, it is possible that TNF can affect neutrophil-mediated ROS release in a similar fashion.

It has become clear that Nox2-derived ROS are not the only inflammation-related ROS. Kim et al., 2007 found that L629 cells that do not express Nox2 treated with TNF produced ROS. Knocking down Nox1, a Nox2 isoform expressed largely in the colon, resulted in a decrease in the TNF-stimulated ROS production by these cells [318]. Nox1 co-precipitated with TRADD and Rac1, suggesting a complex was formed in response to TNF. RIP1 was shown to associate to Nox1. TRADD was shown to associate with NoxO1 as well. The exact mechanism that linked TNFR1 and Nox1 is still poorly defined. While TRADD, Rac1 and Nox1 coprecipitated, it was unknown how Nox1 physically interacted with TRADD [318]. Nox1 is an isoform expressed in the colonic epithelium and may play a role in both IBD and CAC but has yet to be investigated experimentally. It is possible that TNF can contribute to oxidative stress within the colon. Whether this might occur through leukocyte Nox2, endothelial Nox2, or colonic epithelial Nox1 is not known.

Microbial Colonization and Colitis-Associated Cancer

IBD does not have a clear infectious origin, yet it is thought to be a function of an improper host response to microbial colonization, presumably by commensal organisms. Animal studies suggest that microbial colonization itself can affect the outcome of colitismediated cancer. It has been reported that germ-free AOM-treated IL- $10^{-/-}$ mice monocolonized with *B. vulgatus* have reduced cancer development compared to conventionally-housed IL- $10^{-/-}$ mice [319]. As these mice develop a more mild form of colitis, it is not clear if inflammation severity directly affects tumor growth. Inflammation in these mice is dependent on the presence of bacteria, therefore it will be difficult to delineate the contributions of each. Mice on a TGF $\beta 1^{-/-}$ RAG2^{-/-} background that were exposed to a specific pathogen-free environment developed colitis, but not cancer, and *H. hepaticus* introduction resulted in colon cancer, suggesting that in this model cancer is associated with a specific infectious cause [320]. Whether this is due to the general presence of bacterial antigens, or a specific molecular mechanism is not clear. Mice deficient in two glutathione peroxidase enzymes, *Gpx1* and *Gpx2*, develop spontaneous inflammation when exposed to commensal microflora [321] but not when mice were germ-free [322]. This was a function of enterocyte-specific gpx [323] and inflammation was associated with an increase in mutations in the colon [324] which in non-specific-pathogen-free conditions resulted in the development of invasive carcinoma [325]. Collectively, these studies suggest that specific bacterial ligands can trigger protumorigenic pathways within the colon. Whether this is a function of enterocyte-microbial interactions remains to be determined.

It has been proposed that genes involved in bacterial sensing might be involved in the inflammatory progression to cancer. In humans, several candidate genes, such as the nucleotide oligomerization domain (*NOD*)2/CARD15 gene, are implicated as such a genetic factor in CD susceptibility [326, 327]. The *NOD2/CARD15* gene product is an intracellular receptor that senses the bacterial product muramyl dipeptide. We await epidemiological evidence on whether it is associated with any increase in risk of CAC, other than the innate risk that increased inflammation would contribute [328].

Mice with deficiency in Nod1, a NOD2-related receptor, showed a significant increase in tumor development compared to WT when administered AOM and DSS [329]. This was associated with a greater activation of NF κ B, MAPK and intestinal permeability leading to bacterial translocation. Nod1 is an intracellular pathogen recognition receptor, specific for a moiety found on peptidoglycan. Treating these mice with antibiotics or germ-free conditions reduced tumor formation, suggesting that the commensal microflora potentiates tumorigenic signals in the absence of Nod1[329]. Tolllike receptor (TLR2)^{-/-} mice also develop more severe dysplasia and mortality when exposed to the AOM and repeated DSS regimen. Although inflammation was not scored. more TLR2^{-/-} mice died before the end of the regimen, and TLR2^{-/-} was associated with higher inflammatory cytokine levels, increased leukocyte infiltration and larger, more frequent tumors [330]. This suggests that inflammation is dependent on the TLR2 loss, and might have confounded the role of TLR2 on cancer development. Together, these studies suggest that Nod1 and TLR2 may be important in regulating colonic homeostasis and that the bacterial population within the gastrointestinal tract can potentiate protective signals against both inflammation and cancer.

In contrast to the outcomes in mice with compromised TLR function, mice with a constitutively active IEC-specific, TLR4 were found to have increased CAC [331]. In addition, bone marrow chimeras lacking hematopoietic TLR4 developed larger tumors compared to WT bone marrow, presumably due to recruiting COX-2⁺ macrophages to the colon [332]. TLR4-deficient mice were less susceptible to CAC owing to a reduction in COX2 expression and epidermal growth factor receptor signaling [333, 334]. Together, these studies ascribe a pro-tumorigenic function to TLR4 in CAC.

In contrast, studies have reported that a downstream molecule to TLR2 and TLR4, MyD88, may be protective against development of CAC after AOM and DSS treatment, as MyD88-deficient mice had more tumors compared to WT mice [335, 336]. MyD88-'mice develop a severe inflammation in response to DSS treatment [337]. However, in the absence of IL-10, MyD88 deficiency protected mice against the development of inflammation-mediated cancer [319]. Together, these studies suggest that IL-10 can modulate the tumorigenic response in a manner dependent on bacterial colonization. TLR agonists, at least those that signal via MyD88, may represent a normal commensal colonization, and may protect against the development of tumors during chronic inflammation. In addition, TLR2/MyD88 signaling may reduce inflammation severity, playing a regulatory role in the gut, which protects against tumor development. The contrast between the roles TLR4, TLR2/MyD88 play in colitis-mediated cancer suggest that the MyD88-independent pathway might be involved in the development of CAC, however there is no existing evidence to support this. Interestingly, MyD88-independent TLR2/TLR4 signaling is associated with anti-cancer immunity [338]. It is possible that cell-specific expression (epithelial vs. myeloid) of the receptors modulate the outcome of inflammation-mediated cancer, as this was not addressed in the TLR2/MyD88 studies. In addition, MyD88 is also involved in IL-1 and IL-18 signaling, which could be protumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic, respectively. When IL-1 receptor or IL-18 deficient mice were treated with AOM+ DSS, it was found that the presence of IL-18, a cytokine that strongly induces IFNy and influences anti-cancer immunity, was protective against CAC in this model [335].

MyD88-dependent TLR activation leads to NF κ B activation, which is implicated in tumorigenesis [143]. In the context of protecting the epithelium against bacterial translocation, this NF κ B activation may also be protective against inflammation and subsequent tumor development. When inflammation does occur, downstream of receptor activation is the production of inflammatory mediators, including TNF. As discussed, TNF may play an important role, specifically in innate immunity, in protecting the body against acute inflammation and infection, while activating pathways that can contribute to tumorigenesis when present during chronic inflammation.

Objectives and Rationale:

At the inception of this project, there were reports of extra-intestinal cancers associated with anti-TNF therapy [224, 339, 340] but the role of TNF and its receptors in chronic colitis and the development of cancer were not known. The influence of long-term anti-TNF therapy on the presentation of colitis-associated cancer had not yet been explored. With mixed outcomes observed after blocking TNF during experimental colitis, we sought to examine this question in DSS-colitis. The prevailing evidence is suggestive that TNF promotes tumor development so we sought to dissect any impact of TNF by manipulating receptor expression. The hypothesis was that TNF would contribute to inflammation and colitis-associated cancer via one, or both TNF receptors. Specifically, we asked if TNF signaling through its cognate receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2, played a role in acute DSS-mediated colitis. As we were interested in the receptor deficiency in chronic CAC, we first had to establish a benchmark of inflammatory status after 1 cycle of DSS. Differences in the severity of inflammation could potentially confound findings during chronic colitis if the development of cancer is dependent on colitis severity. Other reports that TNFR1 may play a very important role in innate immunity during colitis [200] prompted us to ask whether the pro-tumorigenic effect of TNF signaling through TNFR1 occurred within the epithelium or infiltrating leukocytes. To achieve this, we created bone marrow chimeras in WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice reconstituted with either WT or TNFR1^{-/-} bone marrow. Finally, we asked if TNF signaling could induce oxidative stress in a manner that could contribute to carcinogenesis. Oxidative damage via leukocyte Nox2 was examined in this model of CAC using mice lacking the gp91 subunit of the NADPH oxidase enzyme.

Figure 1.1 The Adenoma/Dysplasia to Carcinoma Sequence between Sporadic Colon Cancer and Colitis-Associated Cancer



Sporadic Colon Cancer

Itzkowitz, S. H. et al. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 287: G7-G17 2004

Reused with permission from Elsevier Licence # 2763201161749

Molecular events that occur during the development of sporadic colon cancer (top) and colitis-associated cancer (bottom). Adenoma indicates a lesion arising from dysplastic glands in the colon, while dysplasia indicates abnormal growth of glands that could be a result of healing (indefinite) or tumorigenesis (high grade-carcinoma). MSI, microsatellite instability, APC, adenomatous polyposis coli, DCC, deleted in colon cancer, DPC, Deleted in pancreatic cancer.



Figure 1.2 TNF Signaling through TNFR1 and TNFR2

Depiction of TNFR1 and TNFR2 signaling pathways within the cell. TNFR1 signaling leads to cell survival via NF κ B and MAP kinases while it activates extrinsic apoptosis via death domains and the caspase cascade. Caspase-8 can cleave Bid activating the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. TNFR2 does not possess a death domain, but can activate both NF κ B and apoptosis via other mechanisms.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents and Antibodies

Azoxymethane (AOM) and DSS were purchased from Sigma, (St. Louis, MO), and MP Biomedicals (Irvine CA), respectively. Antibodies for Western Blotting and Immunohistochemistry were sourced as follows: sTNFR2 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), Ly6G (Clone 1A8, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA), TNFR1 and TNFR2 (abcam, Cambridge, UK), Caspase-3 (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA), F480 (clone CI:A3-1, Serotec, Raleigh, NC), 8-OHDG (clone N45.1 JaICA, Japan). MIP-2 ELISA TNF, IL-12, and IL-4 ELISAs were purchased from Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ),

Animals and Experimental Protocols

All protocols using mice were approved by the University Committee on Laboratory Animals, which is governed by the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Mice with targeted mutations, originally obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, Maine), were bred in our facility. C57BL/6 mice were purchased from either Jackson Laboratories (Barr Harbor, MA), or Charles River (Saint-Constant, QC). Mice were housed conventionally in plastic shoebox cages on a 12-hour light/dark cycle with *ad libitum* access to both food and water. Mice with targeted mutations were on a C57BL/6 background backcrossed for 10 generations by the supplier. Genotypes were confirmed in tail snips/ear punches from random mice in the colony using primer sequences published by Jackson Labs.

Acute DSS Colitis

All mice (8-12 week-old, both sexes) were fed 3% w/v DSS (MW 36,000-50,000) in facility water *ad libitum* for five days then were switched back to regular water for two (all strains) or seven days (TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-}). At the end of the experiment mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and killed by exsanguination via cardiac puncture. Serum was obtained by clotting the blood recovered by cardiac puncture for an hour at room temperature in a sterile microfuge tube followed by centrifugation, and was stored frozen at -20°C until analysis.

Azoxymethane and DSS-induced Chronic Colitis and Colon Cancer

Mice (12 weeks of age) (WT, TNFR1^{-/-}, TNFR2^{-/-}, Nox2^{-/-}) were subjected to a single intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of AOM (10 mg/kg) dissolved in sterile 0.9% saline. Control mice were administered an equal volume of 0.9% saline alone. Mice were divided into the following groups, 0.9% saline alone (no treatment, NT), AOM alone (AOM only), 0.9% saline followed by four cycles of DSS (DSS only) and AOM followed by 4 cycles of DSS (AOM+DSS). One cycle of DSS consisted of 3% w/v DSS fed for five days, followed by 14 days of tap water (Figure 2.1). Weights and clinical scores were recorded daily during the first 12 days of the cycle unless mice were losing significant weight (>10% body weight). In this case, weights were monitored daily, and if the weight dropped more than 20% of the original weight the mouse was euthanized.

Assessing Disease Severity

Clinical Scores

Clinical illness scores were assigned based on the extent of weight loss, the presence of blood in the stool (occult and gross) and the severity of diarrhea in a modified clinical scoring system based on that described by Cooper et al. [90]. The criteria utilized for this score are outlined in Table 2.1. Stools were considered normal if they were small and hard, soft if they were wet and large, and diarrhea if there was residue left on the anus. The presence of occult blood was detected with a Hemoccult kit (Beckman-Coulter, Mississauga, ON). Gross blood was noted if bright red blood was visible on the anus or within the stools.

Histopathological Scores

At necropsy the colon and cecum were removed and opened longitudinally along the mesenteric axis. The colon was divided in half longitudinally and one full-length half was prepared as a 'Swiss roll' and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. The Swiss roll technique allows the observation of the entire colon length. The remaining half was weighed and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen followed by homogenization at full speed while frozen for 30 seconds (PowerGen 125, Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON) in 50mM HEPES buffer (4 μ l/mg colon tissue) containing a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma). Homogenates were centrifuged (18,000 x g) and cell-free supernatants were collected for analysis and frozen at -80°C.

The fixed tissue was paraffin-embedded and sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin to ascertain histopathology after the treatment regime. Slides were coded and scored blindly by two individuals based on a scale that graded the extent of inflammatory infiltrate (0-5), crypt damage (0-4), ulceration (0-3) and the presence or absence of edema (0 or 1) (Table 2.2). The scores represent the histological damage associated with DSS treatment in the mid-colon (from the distal end of the plicae circulares to two thirds from the anus), where inflammation was the most severe. The sums of the scores in each category were used for statistical analysis.

Assessing Cancer

The severity of cancer development in mice on the chronic AOM+DSS regime was assessed by gross examination of the tissue and by microscopic examination of formalin-fixed Swiss rolled samples. Macroscopically, tumors were counted as solid, opaque, raised lesions. Tumor diameter was measured using the average of three diameter measurements in tumor-bearing mice. Microscopically, the presence or absence of dysplasia was used to determine dysplasia incidence in mice without visible tumor growths. Dysplasia was described as crypts (glands) that were irregularly shaped with an absence of goblet cells. In addition, nuclei in the dysplastic glandular epithelium were large, depolarized and hyperchromatic. Tumors and dysplasia in these experiments were confirmed by a clinical pathologist as intramucosal adenocarcinomas (Dr. Heidi Sapp, Department of Anatomical Pathology, QEII Health Science Centre, Halifax). Cancer severity was not quantified as a measurable unit, however, increased tumor number and size were considered more advanced and severe than flat dysplasia.

Enumerating Neutrophils and Eosinophils

Evidence suggests that innate immune cells play an important role in the pathology of DSS colitis via TNFR1 [200]. Therefore, we measured the presence of neutrophils, eosinophils and macrophages in the colon after colitis induction. To differentiate between neutrophils (Chapter 3) and eosinophils, tissue sections were stained with Congo red. Congo red stains the granules in eosinophils but not neutrophils. Congo red dye (Sigma) was dissolved in 50% ethanol and filtered. After

deparaffinization and rehydration, as described above, slides were incubated at ambient temperature for 2 hours in freshly prepared Congo red dye and counterstained with hematoxylin. In AOM+DSS experiments, the rat anti-mouse IgG2a antibody to neutrophil-specific Ly6G was used at a concentration of 1:1000, with a biotinylated goat anti-rat secondary as described above. Neutrophils and/or eosinophils were counted in the mucosa and submucosa in 5 high-power fields. If ulcers were present, neutrophils and eosinophils were counted within the ulcers to control for inflammation severity between strains, and where they were not present, they were counted in random selections of tissue. Mice in the no treatment or AOM-only groups had negligible numbers of neutrophils present in the gut.

ELISAs

TNF concentrations in Chapter 3 were determined in whole colon preparations by ELISA (sensitivity 41 pg/ml) as described elsewhere [341]. The ELISA was developed using the GIBCO amplification system (Life Technologies, Gaithersburg, MD). The capture and detection antibodies were obtained from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN) and Endogen (Woburn, MA), respectively. Mouse MIP-2 (sensitivity 32-2000 pg/ml), TNF (16-2000 pg/ml, Chapter 4), IL-12 (16-1000pg/ml), IL-4 (16-2000 pg/ml) concentrations were determined in whole colon preparations according to the manufacturer's instructions and was developed with ABTS substrate and read on a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax 190, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) at OD405 nm.

Soluble TNFR2 levels were determined in both serum and whole colon preparations using an ELISA specific for the extracellular region of the molecule (R&D Systems). Samples were loaded in triplicate at a dilution of 1:100 (serum) or 1:10 (whole colon) and ELISAs were performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Standards for the TNFR2 ELISA were spiked with serum from healthy TNFR2^{-/-} mice in the same concentrations as samples to verify that there were no confounding factors in serum that would affect the sensitivity of the assay plates developed with tetramethylbenzidine substrate were read at OD450 nm.

Western Blotting

Cell-free supernatants were added to 2x SDS buffer (62.5 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8),

2% SDS, 10% glycerol, 100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 0.01% bromophenol blue) and boiled for 10 minutes [342]. Proteins were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis in 12% acrylamide then transferred to nitrocellulose membrane via electrophoresis. The membranes were then blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS buffer followed by incubation overnight with rabbit anti-human cleaved caspase-3 antibody or rabbit anti-human TNFR1 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA). For a protein loading control, anti-actin antibodies were used (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Western blots were analyzed with software for densitometry (Unscan it, Silk Scientific, Orem, UT) and cleaved caspase-3 levels were calculated relative to actin levels.

Bone Marrow Chimeras

Six-12-week old recipient WT and TNFR1^{-/-} female mice were fed 0.2% neomycin sulphate in their drinking water for two weeks while being housed in conventional facility. The mice were then irradiated with two doses of 500 rads two hours apart with a gamma-irradiator to minimize the negative effects on the animal while maximizing bone marrow ablation [343]. Bone marrow was isolated from healthy donor male WT and TNFR1^{-/-} 6-12-week-old mice by aseptic removal of the femur and tibias, and rinsed in sterile HBSS without $Ca^{2+}Mg^{2+}$. White blood cells were counted using a crystal violet stain, and recipient mice received 5×10^6 cells via tail vein injection following the second dose of radiation. Following irradiation and bone marrow reconstitution, mice were housed in sterile HEPA-filtered cages and fed sterile food and water containing 0.2% neomycin sulphate for two weeks. Weights and health were monitored daily. Eight-12 weeks following the bone-marrow reconstitution, mice were subjected to the AOM-DSS regime described previously. By 8-12 weeks, most host immune cells are replaced [344]. Chimerism was detected immunohistochemically via in situ hybridization of the Y chromosome in the spleen and colon as per the manufacturer's instructions (Cambio, New York, NY). Briefly, 10 µm formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue sections (colon, spleen) were incubated in 1M sodium thiocyanate followed by protein digestion with pepsin at 37°C. Slides were then refixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and dehydrated with graded ethanols. The FITC-labeled Ychromosome paint was applied under a cover slip and rubber cement and incubated overnight in a humidified chamber at 37°C. The following day, slides were washed in a formamide solution, then citrate buffer and then a biotinylated antibody to FITC (Vector laboratories, Burlingame, CA) was applied for 1 hour at room temperature. Horseradish peroxidase-avidin complex was applied for 30 minutes (Vector laboratories), followed by chromagen development with diaminobenzidine (Vector Laboratories). Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin, dehydrated through graded ethanols and mounted. Cells with small brown spots within nuclei of infiltrating leukocytes were considered positive for the Y chromosome. Male gut sections were used as positive controls and female gut sections were used as negative controls.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on tissue sections fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for at least 24 hours. Sectioned (3 μ m) samples were deparaffinized and rehydrated in xylene and graded ethanol, respectively. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked using 3% H₂O₂ for 20 minutes, and antigen retrieval was performed using 10mM citrate buffer, pH 6, microwaved for 2 minutes until boiling then maintained in a 95°C water bath for 20 minutes. Following that, a blocking step using 5% goat serum in PBS plus 0.1% tween-20 for 1 hour was performed. Primary antibody was applied at concentrations as per manufacturer's instructions overnight at 4°C diluted with blocking buffer. Biotinylated secondary antibody was also diluted in blocking buffer and applied to individual slides for one hour at ambient temperature. Slides were then subjected to avidin-bound horseradish-peroxidase (ABC elite, Vector Laboratories) for 30 minutes. Colour was developed using diaminobenzidine (Vector Laboratories) and slides were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich).

To measure a footprint of oxidative damage, formalin-fixed samples were stained immunohistochemically with an mouse antibody to 8-OHDG (1:100) with the following variations; antigen retrieval was performed using proteinase K for 20 minutes at 37°C, mouse seroblock (Serotec) was used to block Fc receptor binding in the blocking solution, and only positive nuclei within the colonic epithelial cells were evaluated to limit counting false positives due to mouse-on-mouse staining. Nitrotyrosine was also measured in paraffin-embedded samples to ascertain the level of oxidative and nitrosative damage to the cells and tissues. Antigen retrieval was performed in 10mm Citrate buffer as described previously and a goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated with biotin

was used. Primary antibody was applied at 1:500 for 24 hours at 4°C.

Apoptosis was measured by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase nick-end labeling (TUNEL) and by activated Caspase-3 antibody. The TUNEL assay was performed as indicated by the manufacturer's instructions (Chemicon, Temecula, CA). Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated samples were treated with proteinase K for one hour. Slides were then treated with terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase which adds digoxigenin-labeled nucleotides to ends of damaged DNA. For activated caspase-3, primary antibody (Cell signaling) was applied at 1:100 to rehydrated gut sections followed by a goat anti-rabbit biotinylated IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechology, Santa Cruz, CA). Positive-stained cells were counted per 100 crypts. Diaminobenzidine was used as a substrate to develop color and the slides were counterstained with methyl green. Slides were mounted and examined using light microscopy. To quantify the number of apoptotic cells per treatment group, positively-stained colonic epithelial cells were counted within 100 intact crypts per section per mouse in two sections per slide.

Macrophages and neutrophils were detected using a rat monoclonal antibody to F4/80 and Ly6G, respectively at a concentration of 1:1000 and incubated for 24 hours at 4°C (Serotec, Raleigh, NC). Biotinylated goat anti-rat IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was used as a secondary antibody at a concentration of 1:400 and applied for 1 hour at ambient temperature. Sections were incubated for 30 minutes at ambient temperature with a peroxidase-conjugate and diaminobenzidine was used to develop color. Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin and dehydrated and mounted as described previously. Macrophages were counted in ulcerated lesions in both the mucosa and submucosa. A total of 5 high-power fields were enumerated in at least 3 high power fields in tumor tissue in tumor-bearing mice.

Anti-rabbit polyclonal TNFR1 and TNFR2 antibodies (abcam) were used to detect the intracellular portion of receptor expression within the colon. They were used at concentrations of 1:100 and 1:50, respectively.

Statistics

Where data distribution was normal (determined by lack of skew or kurtosis), a two-way ANOVA was performed using main effects strain and treatment, with two or three levels of strain and four levels of treatment. Non-parametric data, such as pathology and illness scores, were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis One-way ANOVA between strains or treatments. Weight loss data, where normal, was analyzed using a repeated-measures ANOVA over the treatment period. Chi square was used to detect differences in the tumor incidence between groups at a power of 0.8, with the n required for that power calculated previously. Where only two groups existed (ie. Nox2 vs. WT tumor size and multiplicity), two tailed- t-tests were used to detect differences. Prism GraphPad (Version 4.0a, 2003) was used to perform analyses.

Scores	Weight Loss (%)	Stool Consistency	Presence of Blood	
0	None	Normal	None	
1	None	Normal	Occult+	
2	1-5	Normal	None	
3	1-5	Soft	None	
4	1-5	Soft	Occult+	
5	1-5	Diarrhea	Occult+/Gross	
6	5-10	Soft	Occult+/Gross	
7	5-10	Diarrhea	Occult+/Gross	
8	10-20	Soft	Occult+/Gross	
9	10-20	Diarrhea	Occult+/Gross	
10	>20	Diarrhea	Occult+/Gross	

Table 2.1 Clinical Illness Scoring System

Clinical illness was scored using a combined score for weight loss, stool consistency and presence or absence of occult/gross blood in the stool. Normal stool was hard, while soft stool was soft and moist, and diarrhea was soft stool that left a residue on the anus of the mouse. Where gross blood was not detectable, occult blood was measured in the stool with a Hemaccult kit.

Score	Inflammation	Crypt Damage	Ulceration	Edema
0	No infiltrate	None	None	Absent
1	Occasional cell limited to submucosa	Some crypt damage, spaces between crypts	Small, focal ulcers	Present
2	Significant presence of inflammatory cells in submucosa, limited to focal areas	Larger spaces between crypts, loss of goblet cells, some shortening of crypts	Frequent small ulcers	
3	Infiltrate present in both submucosa and lamina propria, limited to focal areas	Large areas without crypts, surrounded by normal crypts	Large areas lacking surface epithelium	
4	Large amount of infiltrate in submucosa, lamina propria and surrounding blood vessels, covering large areas of mucosa	No crypts		
5	Transmural inflammation (mucosa to muscularis)			

Table 2.2 Histopathological Scoring System

Histopathological scores were determined in the mid-colon by examining H&E-stained whole colon sections. Scores were determined by the sum for individual indicators of disease severity, such as the presence of inflammatory infiltrate (out of 5), ulceration (out of 4), crypt damage (out of 3) and the presence of submucosal edema (out of 1).

Figure 2.1 Regimen for Colitis-Associated Cancer



Mice were administered 10mg/kg AOM (Day 1) followed by 4 cycles of 3% DSS/14 days of tap water. Controls were administered either DSS alone or AOM alone.

CHAPTER 3: THE ROLE OF TNF RECEPTORS, TNFR1 AND TNFR2 IN DEXTRAN SODIUM SULPHATE-INDUCED COLITIS

Stillie, RoseMarie M.Sc¹ and Andrew W. Stadnyk PhD^{1,2}

Published in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases 2009 Oct;15(10):1515-25

Introduction

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) has long been appreciated as a mediator central to various inflammatory diseases in humans (recently reviewed in [345]). This includes the inflammatory bowel diseases, Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, during which the levels of TNF are elevated in the serum and intestinal mucosa [164-166]. These findings are consistent with the observations that neutralizing TNF is associated with improved disease, particularly in Crohn's disease [346-348]. A similar pattern of elevated TNF is associated with animal models of colitis, and transgenic mice that overexpress TNF develop a spontaneous ileitis [121]. However, whether neutralizing TNF reduces these model diseases has yielded mixed results and thus the roles TNF may play in colitis are not entirely understood [173, 188, 191, 349].

Studying the role of TNF in disease is complicated by the fact that there are two TNF receptors, TNFR1 (p55) and TNFR2 (p75), with TNFR1 but not TNFR2 possessing a death domain that can activate apoptotic signaling pathways [350]. TNFR1 is constitutively expressed by most cell types while constitutive expression of TNFR2 is mostly limited to cells of the immune system. TNFR2 may also share TNF by making it available to TNFR1 in the membrane of cells with both receptors. TNFR1 signaling can result in the activation of several pathways including MAP kinases, NF- κ B, and caspases, leading to apoptosis. TNFR2 does not activate the apoptotic pathways but otherwise signals similar to TNFR1, through the MAP kinases and NF- κ B. Both receptors can be proteolytically cleaved, becoming soluble TNF antagonists [351], and TNFR2 binds preferentially to membrane-bound TNF while TNFR1 binds with higher affinity to soluble TNF [129, 352]. Regarding TNFR expression during IBD, TNFR2 expression is reportedly upregulated on colonic epithelial cells during both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis [125]. TNFR2 but not TNFR1 is upregulated on lamina propria lymphocytes in active Crohn's disease [209]. Since TNFR1 and TNFR2 can signal through different pathways, and an upregulation of inducible TNFR2 occurs during inflammation, it is possible that they play distinct roles in the pathogenesis of IBD.

Two murine models of IBD, in particular, have been used widely to examine the role of TNF in colitis. One model better resembles Crohn's colitis; 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS)-induces a T cell-dependent colitis [88] while the second, dextran sodium sulphate (DSS) induces colitis that is lymphocyte-independent and more closely resembles ulcerative colitis [91, 92]. Studies using antibodies to block TNF in these models have provided mixed results. Treating mice with a rabbit antisera had no effect on DSS-colitis while treatment with a rat monoclonal antibody exacerbated acute DSS colitis [188]. These studies are contrasted with one in which antisense oligodeoxynucleotides and rat monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies both resulted in less DSS colitis [353]. Blocking TNF with antibodies resulted in reduced clinical illness and inflammation in TNBS colitis [173]. The inconsistencies observed with antibody treatments may be due to differences in the timing of their use, in the capacity of the antibodies to block cell-associated TNF or fix complement, or in the case of rabbit antisera may be due to host antibodies to the rabbit immunoglobulin.

A more definitive approach to address the role of TNF is to use TNF gene knockout mice. TNF gene knockout mice developed less inflammation in response to TNBS treatment [203], but experienced an exacerbated, potentially fatal colitis when treated with DSS [198]. These opposing results suggest that TNF may induce a harmful (TNBS) or protective (DSS) effects through different mechanisms, depending on the model of colitis induction. Considering the different signaling outcomes of the two TNF receptors, an alternate approach to using TNF deficient mice is to use mice deficient in either receptor.

TNFR1 and TNFR2 deficient animals have been used in TNBS colitis and have again yielded conflicting results. In one study, mice lacking TNFR2 were protected from weight loss compared to wildtype while TNFR1^{-/-} mice had severe weight loss and mortality despite similar histological damage observed after treatment [206]. This suggests that TNFR1 is protective and TNFR2 may be involved in the pathogenesis of TNBS colitis. However in a second study, no differences in inflammatory infiltrate between strains after TNBS treatment were reported, while tissue damage scores were lower in TNFR1^{-/-} mice and double receptor knockout mice compared to WT [204]. This second study suggests that TNFR1, but not TNFR2, plays a role in the pathogenesis of

TNBS colitis. Why the roles of TNFR in TNBS colitis are different between these two studies is unclear. Now, to advance on this understanding of the role of the TNF receptors in acute colitis we made it our objective to characterize the inflammation in DSS-treated mice lacking expression of each TNF receptor type.

Results

Mouse Characteristics

We first established whether the colons of untreated TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice were normal, as the characteristics of the intestines in these mice have not yet been described. Figure 3.1 shows using the Swiss roll technique that TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice have grossly normal colons, similar to WT mice. The proximal colon is distinguished by the plicae and is in the centre of the coil. Colons from untreated older (>60 weeks) receptor knockout mice were also histologically normal (data not shown), indicating that these mice do not experience any spontaneous colitis.

Mice in all groups began losing weight between days 4 and 5 of DSS treatment (Figure 3.2a) while untreated mice maintained their body weight throughout the experiment (data not shown). In DSS-treated groups observed out to day 12, WT mice had their highest percentage of weight loss at day 7 but weight was completely restored by day 8. Weight loss peaked at day 8 but was completely restored by day 11 in DSS-treated TNFR1^{-/-} mice. In DSS-treated TNFR2^{-/-} mice, weight loss peaked at day 6 but was regained by day 10. The percentage of total weight loss did not differ significantly between WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice. In TNFR1^{-/-} mice, weight loss did not differ significantly from WT until day 8, when weight loss peaked and was restored more slowly. At day 11, the weight of both knockout strains was similar to WT mice. Weight loss did not differ between TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice. Compared to WT, TNFR1^{-/-} mice had more severe weight loss but even this strain recovered by day 12.

All strains developed soft, enlarged stools when treated with DSS, with evidence of diarrhea (stool residue apparent on anus). Occult blood appeared in the stools in all strains at day two of treatment. By day four, mice showed gross blood in their stools and some showed rectal bleeding. These features were not detectably different between strains and were not apparent in untreated mice. We observed that fecal occult blood could occur in the absence of weight loss and thus we combined weight loss, stool consistency and the presence of fecal blood into a scale indicating clinical disease severity (maximum score = 10, Table 1). Clinical disease scores for WT mice were most severe at day 6, and returned to normal by day 10 (Figure 3.2b). In TNFR1^{-/-} mice clinical scores were most severe at day 8 but returned to near normal by day 12. TNFR2^{-/-} mice peaked by day 7 but it returned to normal by day 11. At days 8 and 9 of treatment, TNFR1^{-/-} mice had a significantly more severe score than both WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice; however, no difference existed between WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice.

Post-necropsy we evaluated the pathology associated with DSS colitis in each strain. Colon length, which is frequently reduced in DSS colitis, did not differ between strains of DSS-treated mice, but in all strains, colon length was significantly shorter compared to non DSS-treated strain controls at day 7 and in both knock-out strains at day 12. In addition, colon wet weight was significantly greater only in DSS-treated TNFR2^{-/-} mice compared to their strain controls at day 7. The ratio of colon weight: length was not different between strains but all strains treated with DSS had a significantly greater weight: length ratio compared to their untreated controls at day 7, while only TNFR2^{-/-} mice had a greater weight: length ratio at day 12 (Table 3.1). We also observed that the cecum was shrunken in mice treated with DSS but when measured, only TNFR2-'reached statistical significance. Cecum weight:length ratios were not different between strains and treatments. DSS-treated TNFR2^{-/-} mice had a significantly greater number of macroscopically visible ulcers at day 7 compared to WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice, but the number of visible ulcers in DSS-treated TNFR2^{-/-} mice at day 12 were similar to the other strains. There were no differences between strains and treatments in spleen weights. We conducted one experiment using mice with combined TNFR1 and TNFR2 deficiency and these animals experienced severe clinical disease and consequently most were euthanized when their weight loss exceeded 20% of their initial weight (APPENDIX B).

Histological Inflammation Characteristics

As a random sampling from the colon could potentially lead to different levels of inflammation, we used the Swiss roll technique to evaluate the severity of inflammation along the entire colon length. We found that DSS treatment affected primarily the mid-colon (Figure 3.3), with some cellular infiltrate but almost no ulceration in the distal colon. In all strains the mid-colon colonic mucosa was completely damaged, with only a

layer of infiltrate and no remaining crypts. All strains showed submucosal edema, crypt damage, cellular infiltrate and ulceration. Crypt abscesses were also observed in non-damaged epithelium. We summarized histological inflammation using a scoring system that weighted the severity of cellular infiltrate, ulceration, crypt damage and edema (maximum score = 14). We did not detect a difference in the severity of inflammation between strains treated with DSS using this scoring system (Figure 3.4).

TNFR1 and TNFR2 Expression

To determine whether TNFR1 expression was affected by strain or treatment, we measured TNFR1 in the colon by Western blot. TNFR1 levels were similar between treatment groups within a strain (Figure 3.5a). Soluble TNFR2 levels have been found elevated in the serum of IBD patients, particularly in Crohn's disease [168, 354] and differences in concentration could confound any interpretation of the role TNF may play in the different strains. We therefore measured sTNFR2 in the serum and found that levels were not significantly elevated due to the colitis, nor were there significant differences between strains. sTNFR2 was not detected in TNFR2^{-/-} mice, as expected (Figure 3.5b). In contrast to the serum results, sTNFR2 levels in the colon were significantly higher in WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice after DSS treatment at day 7 compared to untreated mice, and while this level remained high in WT mice at day 12, the levels in TNFR1^{-/-} mice were similar to untreated mice at day 12 (Figure 3.5c).

TNF and MIP-2 Levels in the Colon

TNF levels were measured in whole colon preparations of uninflamed and DSS inflamed mice. There were no significant differences between strains or treatment groups in the levels of TNF in the colons of mice (Figure 3.6a). TNF was not detected in the serum in any of the strains used (data not shown). We also measured levels of the neutrophil chemokine, MIP-2, in the colon since neutrophils feature prominently in the histopathology. Untreated mice did not have detectable levels of MIP-2 in colon tissue. TNFR1^{-/-} mice appeared to have lower levels of MIP-2 in the colon tissue however this was not significantly different than WT or TNFR2^{-/-} mice (Figure 3.6b).

Cellular Infiltrate

Neutrophils, eosinophils and macrophages were counted in ulcerated tissue in
both the submucosa and mucosa in 5 high-power fields per colon section. There were no differences in the number of neutrophils or eosinophils in the mucosa or submucosa between strains treated with DSS. However, macrophages were significantly less numerous in the mucosa of TNFR1^{-/-} mice compared with TNFR2^{-/-} and WT. There were no differences in the numbers of submucosal F4/80⁺ macrophages in areas directly below ulcers (Figure 3.7).

Measurement of Apoptosis in the Colon using TUNEL and Cleaved Caspase-3 Levels

TNF reputedly directly affects epithelial cell apoptosis in the gut and early extensive epithelial apoptosis has been suggested to underlie increased intestinal permeability [155]. Moreover, others have reported that both cell proliferation and apoptosis are different in the colons of mice lacking either TNFR1 or TNFR2, yet we observed no differences in the number of apoptotic (TUNEL⁺) cells between DSS-inflamed strains (Figure 3.8a). The number of TUNEL positive cells per 100 crypts in untreated controls of all strains was similar to DSS-treated mice (not shown). Cleaved caspase-3 is another indicator of apoptosis and levels in whole colon tissue were not significantly different among DSS-treated strains or treatments (Figure 3.8b). Cleaved caspase-3 levels did not differ between treatments in WT or TNFR1^{-/-} or TNFR2^{-/-} mice.

Discussion

TNF is widely appreciated to be part of the mechanism behind multiple inflammatory diseases, including IBD [345, 355] and rodent models of IBD. The DSS model of mouse colitis is appreciated to cause inflammation resembling ulcerative colitis, is responsive to a number of therapies used to treat IBD [356], and used acutely, includes increases in Th1 and Th17 cytokines [94]. Yet mice deficient in TNF, in contrast to what may have been predicted, experience exacerbated DSS colitis [198, 357]. Considering there are two receptor types, one approach to examining the role of TNF has been to induce colitis in mice deficient in one or both receptors. We therefore sought to examine whether the exacerbated DSS–induced colitis was attributable to a single TNF receptor type by using receptor deficient mice. We observed that mice deficient in either receptor have no evidence of spontaneous colitis, and experience clinical illness and colonic

inflammation that are for the most part similar to wildtype strain mice. Wildtype and both receptor-deficient strains show severe mid-colonic inflammation with striking ulcers, submucosal edema, and submucosal and mucosal cellular infiltrates after only 5 days of ingesting DSS followed by 2 further days of water only (e.g. day 7). All strains rebounded to a large extent, evident with the mice gaining weight and recovery of the colon crypt architecture at day 12, or 7 days after removing DSS from the drinking water. Some measures, albeit few, showed statistically significant differences between strains. TNFR1^{-/-} mice had the greater clinical illness scores at day 8 and 9 as well as fewer mucosal (but not submucosal) infiltrating macrophages. This pattern of reduced macrophages with increased illness contrasts with TNF deficient mice which reportedly experience greater macrophage infiltration [357] and in anti-macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF) treated inflamed mice, which had less inflammation [358]. It is noteworthy that the increase in MIF in colitis mice was TNF-independent since it was unaffected by anti-TNF antibodies [358]. TNFR1 deficient mice lacking lymphocytes (crossed with RAG1 deficiency) also showed increased macrophage infiltration associated with increased pathology [200]. There is, however, a precedent for a protective role for macrophages, as depleting macrophages prior to DSS treatment resulted in a more severe colitis associated with increased neutrophil infiltration [359]. Whether there is a unique inverse relationship directly between mucosal macrophage numbers and clinical illness in lymphocyte sufficient TNFR1^{-/-} mice will require further analyses.

Our finding that there was no striking difference in the colonic inflammation between the receptor knockout strains corroborates a similar lack of difference in colonic pathology scores reported for TNF receptor deficient mice assessed within 5 days of TNBS administration, although systemic indicators of illness and mortality were greater in this model for TNFR1^{-/-} mice compared to wildtype [206]. In a second study using TNBS, in which mice were assessed after one week, colon inflammatory cell scores were similar but tissue damage was reportedly less in TNFR1^{-/-} and double TNFR knockout mice [204]. These findings using TNBS colitis in receptor deficient mice contrast the result of TNBS in TNF^{-/-} mice, which experienced less inflammation [203]. Despite this apparent incongruence in the TNBS model, possessing either receptor protects mice from the exacerbated and often fatal colitis that double receptor deficient or TNF deficient mice experience due to DSS. An exception is the exacerbation of DSS-induced colitis in double TNF receptor-deficient mice crossed with RAG1 deficiency and also TNFR1 deficiency crossed with RAG1 deficiency, which suggests that TNFR1 acting through innate mechanisms provides suppression from exacerbated colitis [200]. That single TNF receptor-type deficient mice experience similar levels of inflammation whether colitis is due to DSS or TNBS indicates that lymphocytes modulate the response, particularly by acting through TNFR2 to oppose the pro-inflammatory effects of TNF on innate effector cell mechanisms as suggested by the TNFR^{-/-}RAG^{-/-} double deficient model. Finally, we observed that TNFR1^{-/-} mice experienced higher clinical illness as did the TNFR1^{-/-} crossed with RAG deficiency [200]. As suggested by Mizogouchi and co-workers, this may be due to TNF acting through TNFR1 on hematopoietic cells to protect against the translocation of colonic bacteria.

Another feature of TNF biology that may begin to explain how different mechanisms lead to similar inflammatory phenotypes in receptor deficient but lymphocyte normal mice, are levels of soluble receptors. IBD patients have elevated levels of both receptors in their urine correlating with disease activity [360] while TNFR1 levels are increased in serum whether disease is clinically active or not and TNFR2 levels were higher in Crohn's disease versus ulcerative colitis but both were higher than healthy control levels [168]. Despite higher than normal levels in IBD patients, one study of adsorptive granulocyte-monocyte apheresis found increased levels of soluble TNF receptors in the column eluate administered back to the patient and levels correlated with reductions in clinical disease suggesting there is a therapeutic benefit to high receptor levels [361]. Lymphocyte expression of TNFR2 but not TNFR1 is increased among cells recovered from the mucosa of Crohn's patients [209]. We similarly found no differences between healthy and inflamed mucosal homogenate concentrations of TNFR1; however, we did find mucosal concentrations of TNFR2 were increased in day 7 DSS-inflamed mice compared to uninflamed mice of the same strain. This means that mucosal TNFR2 in both wildtype and TNFR1^{-/-} mice is a better marker of the DSS-induced inflammation than TNFR1 in wildtype or TNFR2^{-/-}. This pattern also indicates that the upregulation of TNFR2 is independent of TNFR1. The elevated mucosal TNFR2 was sustained to day 12 in wildtype but not TNFR1^{-/-} mice which may indicate that the inflammation was abating in these mice but our histopathology scores did not support this hypothesis. Moreover, our detecting higher mucosal levels of TNFR2 in the absence of increased

serum levels may indicate that the molecule could be increased in its membrane-bound form. Whether mucosal cells secrete TNFR2 could be reconciled by measuring the supernatant of cultured mucosal explants. Whether the TNFR changes we observe are representative of rodent colitis cannot be definitively concluded as data for levels of TNFR in other models using single receptor deficient mice are not available.

During colitis TNF is widely presumed to directly result in increased epithelial cell apoptosis. For example, intestinal epithelial NEMO-deficient mice experience a severely exacerbated DSS-induce colitis which is prevented when the mice are crossed to also become TNFR1 deficient [155]. The authors suggested this was due to NEMOdeficient epithelial cells becoming particularly sensitive to TNF driving apoptosis. Yet the rate of apoptosis as detected by TUNEL in TNBS colitis were higher compared to untreated mice, although no effect of TNFR deficiency was observed [204]. Nor was any difference in the frequency of apoptotic epithelial cells detected in TNFR deficient mice versus wildtype strain in a T cell-dependent model (anti-CD3 injection) of small intestinal injury [362]. We likewise did not only find any difference in TUNEL-positive cell frequency between strains of mice but also between DSS-inflamed versus uninflamed. Other reports support a model whereby T-lymphocytes stimulated by TNF effect epithelial cell apoptosis, for example, the Crohn's-like SamP1/YitFc mouse strain. A single injection of TNF antagonizing antibodies into these mice prevents the spontaneous colitis these mice would otherwise experience concomitant with increased T lymphocyte apoptosis but decreased epithelial cell apoptosis [177]. Thus it would seem that the role of TNF in epithelial cell apoptosis could be context specific, showing considerable variability among the various models of mouse colitis.

While deficiency of either receptor contributes to some measures of DSS colitis, the evidence from our experiments and others favors TNFR1 playing a protective role in the event of an innate-mediated colitis. Histopathological scores were similar between groups suggesting that TNF receptors either do not play a major role or are redundant in the pathology associated with DSS colitis. TNF may be playing a more significant role in the reaction to bacteria than in the early inflammatory events. This hypothesis is compatible with blocking TNF in humans not resulting in an exacerbation of colitis but perhaps increased risk of infections. Figure 3.1 Untreated WT, TNFR1^{-/-} And TNFR2^{-/-} Mice Do Not Have Any Differences In Colon Pathology And Do Not Show Signs Of Spontaneous Inflammation



Hematoxylin and eosin-stained mouse colons prepared in the Swiss roll manner from the three strains without DSS treatment. a,d) Wildtype, b,e) TNFR1^{-/-}, c,f) TNFR2^{-/-}. Magnification 10x (a-c), 100x (d-f)

Figure 3.2 Weight Loss And Clinical Scores In WT, TNFR1^{-/-} And TNFR2^{-/-} Mice



Percent original weight (A) and clinical illness score summary (B) from wildtype (WT), TNFR1^{-/-}, TNFR2^{-/-} mice. * denotes a significant difference (p<0.05) between TNFR1^{-/-} and the other strains, WT and TNFR2^{-/-}. Data presented as mean ± standard deviation.

Figure 3.3 Histopathology of WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} Mice at Days 7 and 12



Representative hematoxylin and eosin-stained mid-colon sections from DSS-treated wildtype (WT) (a, d), $TNFR1^{-/-}$ (b,e) and $TNFR2^{-/-}$ mice (c,f) showing inflammation at days 7 (a-c) and 12 (d-f). Original magnification 200x.





Figure 4. Histopathological disease severity scores of wildtype (WT), $TNFR1^{-/-}$ and $TNFR2^{-/-}$ mice treated with 3 % DSS for 5 days followed by 2 (day 7) and 7 (day 12) days of facility water.



Figure 3.5 TNFR1 And Soluble TNFR2 Expression In The Colon And Serum.

(A) Western blot detection of TNFR1 in whole colon preparations of wildtype (WT) and TNFR2^{-/-} mice (B) ELISA detection of sTNFR2 receptor levels in the serum (n=6/group) and (C) whole colon preparations of WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice treated with 3% DSS for five days followed by two (day 7) and seven (day 12) days of regular water (n=6/group). NT, no treatment, ND, not detectable. Data are mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.6 Cytokine levels in colon homogenates from WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} at days 7 and 12.

TNF (A) and MIP-2 (B) levels determined by ELISA in whole colon extracts at day 7 and day 12 (n=6/group). Data are mean \pm SEM and analysed by Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA for both strain and treatment.

Figure 3.7 TNFR1^{-/-} Mice Have Fewer Colon Macrophages At Day 7



Inflammatory cell infiltrate in the colon at day 7. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections from mice killed at day 7 were stained with congo red to differentiate between neutrophil (neut) and eosinophil (eos) granulocytes, and using an antibody to F4/80 to stain macrophages (mac). Cells were counted in 5 high power fields in ulcerated areas, distinguishing submucosa from mucosa, counted per sample (n=6/group). Data expressed as mean \pm standard deviation.

Figure 3.8 Apoptosis Is Not Different Between Strains In WT, TNFR1^{-/-} And TNFR2^{-/-} Colon Mucosa



Apoptosis in the colon. A) Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections from mice killed on day 7 were probed for TUNEL positive cells. Numbers were counted as the number of positively-stained cells per 100 intact crypts in DSS-treated mice (n=6/group). Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation.

B) Cleaved Caspase-3 levels in colonic tissue determined by SDS-PAGE and Western blot (n=4/group). Bars represent Cleaved Caspase-3 levels relative to actin levels. Data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation.

3
Ц.
st
.E
ē
さ
ā
1
12
$\overline{\mathbf{D}}$
<u> </u>
Se
Ä
9
Σ
e
e
q
3
Ε

interaction occurred, Tukey's multiple comparison post-test was performed to detect differences between groups. Significant differences are denoted by superscripted letters across a row. Data presented as mean±SEM. Statistical differences were detected using a 2-way ANOVA and where an

Measurement	WT			TNFR1			TNFR2 ^{-'-}			Signifi	cance	
	NT	Day 7	Day 12	NT	Day 7	Day 12	NT	Day 7	Day 12	Strain	Tx	Interaction
Colon Length (cm)	7.9±0.7	6.9±0.7*	7.3±0.8	8.7±0.3	7.1 ±0.5*	7.1±0.2*	8.7±0.4	6.4±0.7 *	7.2±0.6*	SN	p<0.001	NS
Colon Wet Weight (mg)	251±78	326±69	288±40	302±94	354±61	310±60	235±16	357±36*	350±90*	NS	p<0.05	NS
Colon Weight/length Ratio (mg/cm)	32±13	47±10*	38±3	34±10	50±7*	44±9	27±0.7	56±7*	4 8±10*	NS	p<0.001	p<0.05
Cecum Length (cm)	2.4±0.6	1.9±0.6	2.6±0.2	2.7±0.5	2.3±0.6	2.2±0.4	3.1±0.2	2.1±0.3*	2.3±0.2*	NS	NS	p<0.05
Cecum Wet Weight (mg)	130±35	196±23*	148±27	128±27	156±19*	171±37*	136±12	173±11*	167±48*	NS	p<0.01	NS
Cecum Weight/Length Ratio (mg/cm)	55±10	108±30*	55±7**	27±23	94±11*	103±18*	44±5	90±22*	78±5*	NS	p<0.0001	p<0.05
Macroscopic Ulcers	0	2.8±1.2*	4.3±2.2*	0	2.6±0.9*	4.3 ±1.6*	0	7.5±3**	2.3±0.3*	p<0.05	NS	p<0.001

CHAPTER 4: TNFR1 DEFICIENCY PROTECTS MICE FROM COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER AND IS ASSOCIATED WITH A DECREASED LEVEL OF OXIDATIVE DAMAGE WITHIN THE COLON.

Introduction

Crohn's Disease (CD) and Ulcerative colitis (UC) are inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer [20, 22]. This risk increases with duration and severity of disease. Consequently, therapies that reduce inflammation often reduce the risk of colorectal cancer in affected individuals, but exactly which element of the inflammation is mechanistically contributing to cancer risk is not clear.

TNF is a major therapeutic target in IBD. TNF is a pleiotropic cytokine reportedly elevated in the serum [165, 166] and mucosa during IBD. TNF signaling through its cognate receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2 can activate several pathways within cells of the immune system, such as NF κ B, PI3K/AKT, and MAPK/AP-1 [144]. The role of TNF in colonic inflammation remains controversial. Blocking TNF has yielded mixed success in rodent models [188]. Furthermore, genetic ablation of TNF or its receptors has not been shown to significantly reduce disease measures in several models of experimental colitis [203, 204, 363], and in some cases, exacerbated them, especially in dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) colitis [198, 200]. It is possible that TNF has different roles depending on the target cells. This is supported by the inefficacy of Etanercept, a soluble chimeric TNFR2 molecule, in IBD [181] while anti-TNF therapies targeting membrane-bound TNF on activated leukocytes are effective [348, 364, 365].

Originally, TNF was identified as the factor involved in LPS-induced tumor regression [219]. However, research in the past decade is challenging this [366], especially in models of colitis-associated cancer (CAC) [243, 252]. Using a TNF-deficient mouse model on a C57BL/6 background worsened DSS-induced colitis compared to WT controls [198] yet did not affect cancer development in a model of colitis-associated cancer in APC^{min+/-} model [367], suggesting that pathways involved in inflammation differ than those involved in cancer. In contrast, mice on a BALB/c background that lacked TNFR1 showed a reduced level of inflammation and

reduced colonic tumors after azoxymethane (AOM)+DSS-induced CAC. A tumorigenic effect was attributed to leukocyte-specific TNFR1 as chimeric WT mice irradiated and reconstituted with TNFR1^{-/-} bone marrow were protected against tumor development compared to mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow [243]. Previous studies have not addressed whether the presence of TNFR2 could affect CAC.

Components of the NF κ B signaling pathway are considered integral to inflammation-mediated cancer. In a model of AOM+DSS CAC, with intestinal epithelial and leukocyte-specific IKK β deletion, expression of IKK β was considered crucial for tumor development [249]. Epithelial IKK β was associated with more frequent tumors, while leukocyte IKK β was associated with larger tumors [249]. It has been suggested that TNF-induced NF κ B activation may play a significant role in a azoxymethane (AOM)+DSS model of CAC as Infliximab-treated mice showed reduced mucosal NF κ B activation [252], however a direct cause-effect has yet to be directly shown *in vivo*, for example, if NF κ B is activated by TNF directly in intestinal inflammation, or if it becomes activated in response to other signals as well. In addition to activating the NF κ B pathway, TNF can contribute to oxidative stress by inducing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) via several isoforms of NADPH oxidase [316, 368]. TNF treatment can directly lead to oxidative damage and DNA mutations in cell culture [306]. ROS may contribute to tumorigenesis by damaging proteins, lipids and DNA. TNFmediated oxidative damage has not been yet been evaluated *in vivo*.

In this study, we sought to further clarify the contribution of TNF in CAC. We previously reported no major histological differences during acute inflammation in C57BL/6 mice and TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice [363]. Here, we report that mice (on a C57BL/6 background) that are deficient in TNFR1 are less susceptible tumor development after chronic colitis compared to WT or TNFR2^{-/-} mice while inflammatory measures remain similar. Additionally, we evaluated colonic oxidative damage during chronic colitis in mice lacking either TNFR, on the premise that TNFR1 may be protective against the development of tumors due to the reduction of oxidative damage to sensitive cells within the crypt.

Results

We treated WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice with 10 mg/kg AOM followed by

four cycles of 3% w/v DSS. The pathology of acute DSS colitis in these strains is described in detail in Chapter 3 [363]. Blood appeared in the stool (occult) after the second day of DSS treatment and by the fourth day, gross blood appeared in all strains treated with DSS in the first cycle. After the DSS treatment was discontinued in each cycle, the appearance of gross blood subsided by the end of the 14-day water period but occult blood was still detectable in the stool. There was no mortality associated with treatment in these strains. Three experiments, each using 8-12 mice per group, were conducted. There were no significant differences (interexperimental variation) between experiments with respect to measures of disease severity and cancer incidence therefore they were grouped together for statistical purposes. Percent weight change during each cycle was not significantly different between strain and DSS/AOM+DSS treated mice while each strain lost weight during each 5 day DSS exposure. Generally, weight lost was regained by the end of each cycle.

As the severity of inflammation has been linked to the development of colon cancer [13], we first looked at inflammation acutely in female mice (after 5 days 3% of DSS followed by 2 days of water). We previously established that histologically-detectable inflammation did not differ between WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice [363].

In the present study, untreated mice and mice treated with 10 mg/kg of AOM alone did not have any detectable inflammation at the experiments' conclusion (Figure 4.1). In DSS-treated groups, we found that most inflammation occurred in the mid colon, while little to none occurred in the proximal colon. The distal colon showed less infiltrate and less damage and ulceration than the mid-colon, and was not significantly different among DSS and DSS+AOM-treated strains. Differences in the mid-colon inflammation scores were also not statistically significant between strains after four cycles of DSS in the DSS only and DSS+AOM groups (Figure 4.1b). Cellular infiltrate consisted of granulocytes (neutrophils and eosinophils), lymphocytes and macrophages. A cellular infiltrate was observed in the submucosa, mucosa and even the muscularis layers (Figure 4.1 d-f).

No treatment (NT), AOM-alone and DSS-alone control groups did not develop any detectable tumors or dysplasia, macroscopically or microscopically, respectively. Tumors were observed in all strains treated with DSS+AOM both macroscopically and microscopically (Figure 4.2). All three strains developed polyp-like tumors that were non-invasive (did not penetrate into the submucosa) intramucosal adenocarcinomas, as determined by Dr. Heidi Sapp. Tumors were found exclusively in the mid-to distal colon. TNFR1^{-/-} mice had a significantly lower incidence of tumors and dysplasia after 4 cycles of DSS compared to WT and TNFR2^{-/-} both macroscopically and microscopically (Figure 4.2a), as determined by Chi-square analysis. Tumor incidence was not significantly different between WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice. In addition, TNFR1^{-/-} mice had significantly fewer tumors per mouse compared to TNFR2^{-/-} and WT (Figure 4.2c), while WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice had similar tumor counts per colon. Tumor size did not differ significantly between strains (Figure 4.2b).

There were no statistically significant relationships between the severity of inflammation and tumor size, or number (APPENDIX C). In addition, when the inflammation scores between mice with and without microscopically detectable dysplasia were compared, there were no significant differences (Figure 4.2d). This is an important observation as it further suggests differences in tumor development are a function of genotype and not a difference in inflammation severity.

Infiltration of Leukocytes during Inflammation in Mice Deficient in TNFR1 or TNFR2

To determine if lacking either TNFR1 or TNFR2 affects leukocyte infiltration into the colon, the expression of Ly6G (neutrophils), F480 (macrophages) were measured in the colon. We determined the extent of eosinophil infiltration because they are an innate immune cell that produces many inflammatory mediators. However, there is evidence that they play a protective role against the development of tumors [483]. No differences between strains treated with AOM+DSS were found in the number of infiltrating leukocytes (Figure 4.3).

Activated-Caspase-3

There is a precedent for TNFR1 promoting epithelial cell homeostasis in the intestine, especially when NF κ B is inhibited [155, 156]. To determine the effect of treatment and genotype on colonic epithelial apoptosis, activated caspase-3 was measured by immunohistochemistry on tissue sections. We did not find any significant effect of strain on the presence of colonic epithelial cell apoptosis (Figure 4.4), although DSS-treated mice had a significantly greater number of activated caspase-3-positive cells per

100 crypts compared to untreated or AOM-treated mice.

TNFRs in the Colon

TNFR1 and TNFR2 are reportedly expressed in intestinal epithelial cells [125, TNFR2 expression was demonstrated in the colonic epithelium during 208, 369]. inflammation [125]. We tested for the presence of TNFRs in the colonic epithelium via immunohistochemistry to determine if TNF could directly affect the development of tumors by acting upon the epithelium. We found that TNFR1 was expressed within the colonic epithelium in DSS-treated and untreated mice (Figure 4.5). Because TNFR2 is so readily shed during inflammation [354], we measured soluble TNFR2 in the serum of these mice after the AOM+DSS regime. No differences were found between AOM+DSS WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice in the level of serum sTNFR2. TNFR1^{-/-} mice treated with DSS alone had reduced levels of sTNFR2 (Figure 4.5a). No sTNFR2 was detected in TNFR2^{-/-} mice. We decided to measure sTNFR2 in the serum, and not the whole colon, as in Chapter 3, because of the availability of an anti-TNFR2 antibody that detected and localized TNFR2 within the epithelium. TNFR2 was expressed solely on infiltrating cells within the lamina propria and areas of inflammation, and was not detected in the epithelium in untreated (not shown) and treated mice (Figure 4.5d).

Colonic Cytokines

We measured cytokines present in homogenized colon by ELISA to determine if there were any differences between strains. TNF, MIP-2, and IL-4 levels in the whole colon were similar between treatment and strains when corrected for both tissue weight and protein content. Interestingly, IL-12 was significantly increased within the colon of AOM+DSS-treated TNFR1^{-/-} mice when adjusted for total protein compared to all other groups (Figure 4.6b).

Bone-Marrow Chimeras

To determine whether the tumor-promoting actions of TNF are due to the action of TNF through TNFR1 on the mesenchymal and stromal tissue, or an indirect effect due to activation of hematopoietic cells, we created bone marrow chimeras using WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice and treated them with the AOM+DSS regime. Histological inflammation was similar between WT→WT mice and R1→R1 mice (Figure 4.7a). WT→R1 mice had similar histological inflammation to WT \rightarrow WT and R1 \rightarrow R1. In contrast, WT mice reconstituted with TNFR1^{-/-} bone-marrow had a significantly decreased level of histologically-detectable inflammation compared to both WT \rightarrow WT and WT \rightarrow R1 mice. R1 \rightarrow WT mice showed a reduced Ly6G+ cellular infiltrate compared to R1 \rightarrow R1 mice, however, in other strains infiltration was similar (Figure 4.7b).

With regard to cancer development, $WT \rightarrow WT$ mice had an incidence similar to non-chimeric mice (87%), while R1 \rightarrow R1 mice failed to develop any tumors or dysplasia (incidence of 0%). It was found that mice lacking either stromal/mesenchymal ($WT \rightarrow R1$) or bone-marrow-derived TNFR1 (R1 \rightarrow WT) had significantly reduced incidences of tumors compared to $WT \rightarrow WT$ (Figure 4.8a), and had incidences higher than R1 \rightarrow R1 mice. While tumor multiplicity was not affected by strain or bone-marrow in tumor-bearing reconstituted mice (Figure 4.8c), tumor diameter was significantly reduced in WT mice bearing TNFR1^{-/-} bone marrow compared to other groups (Figure 4.8b). These chimeric data suggest that in the C57BL/6 mice, selective leukocytederived TNFR1 deficiency can affect inflammation, but both hematopoietic and stromal TNFR1 expression can mediate carcinogenesis.

Role of TNFR1 in Oxidative Damage to the Colon

Whether TNF can promote tumor development through an effect of oxygen radicals has not been reported. We measured nuclear 8-OHDG, a DNA adduct formed after exposure to oxygen radicals that promotes DNA mutations favourable to tumorigenesis [371]. Untreated mice had few 8-OHDG⁺ nuclei/20 crypts (Figure 4.9a). We found a significant difference between strains treated with AOM+DSS in the level of oxidative damage to colonic epithelial cells, with TNFR1^{-/-} mice showing reduced numbers of 8-OHDG⁺ nuclei (Figure 4.9b) compared to WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice (Figure 4.9c or d, respectively).

Discussion

A common finding is that the development of CAC is dependent on the severity and extent of inflammation [13]. In our study, despite a reduction in tumor development in TNFR1-deficient mice, inflammation was similar between strains treated with AOM+DSS. This has implications in IBD, as Etanercept was ineffective at reducing intestinal inflammation [181], but due to its TNF-antagonizing actions, may reduce the risk of colorectal cancer.

The finding that TNFR1^{-/-} mice had reduced tumor/dysplasia incidence and tumor load is not surprising, as similar findings have been reported in other models [243, 252]. Etanercept [243] and Infliximab [252] have been shown to prevent CAC in a DSS mouse model without affecting inflammation. This has implications in clinical IBD where treatment might be stopped if it is ineffective. There may be a sub-threshold effect that could impact future cancer development.

Not all models of CAC show an effect of TNF-antagonism on the outcome of cancer. Sakai et al., showed that TNF deficiency in an $Apc^{\min+/-}$ on a C57BL/6 background did not lead to a reduction in chronic colitis or tumor development in mice treated with DSS [367]. In agreement with the present study, the level of colonic inflammation after DSS treatment was similar between TNF^{-/-} and TNF^{+/+} mice. However, DSS was only given once, not accounting for the remitting recurring course of the disease [367]. $Apc^{\min+/-}$ mice develop tumors throughout the small and large intestine, however, DSS further promotes the development of colonic tumors in these mice [83, 372]. Small intestinal tumor development was also not affected by the presence or absence of TNF. It is possible that the $Apc^{\min+/-}$ mutation affected any protection that TNF deficiency was fatal in DSS colitis on a C57BL/6 background, the same background used in the study by Sakai et al. [198].

The finding that TNFR1^{-/-} mice develop less cancer than WT supports the prior study by Popivanova et al, 2008 [243]. In their paper, TNFR1 deficiency in BALB/c mice resulted in a reduced level of intestinal inflammation and AOM/DSS-induced cancer development within the colon. There are several distinctions between this previous study and our own. First, BALB/c mice are reportedly less sensitive to DSS treatment when compared to C57BL/6 mice [103]. It is possible that the reduced sensitivity to DSS made a difference between WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice more evident. Conversely, BALB/c mice are much more sensitive to AOM when compared to C57BL/6 mice [75]. While Etanercept treatment lowered cancer indices without affecting inflammation, TNFR1 signaling in particular in BALB/c mice appears to be important for inflammation, while it is not in a complete TNFR1 deficiency in C57BL/6 mice.

Nevertheless, both studies concluded that TNF likely plays a pro-tumorigenic role in colitis-mediated cancer.

Despite a similar level of inflammation, tumor severity is reduced when TNFR1 is deficient in our study. This suggests that an element of TNF signaling that does not directly affect inflammation is responsible for the reduction in cancer susceptibility. It also suggests that inflammation severity may not be directly related to tumorigenesis. Supporting this finding, most of the tumors were noted in the mid-distal colon, with the majority of tumors located close to the anus. This suggests that anatomical location of the inflammation may not be as important as systemic inflammation in the development of tumors, as the most severe inflammation occurred in the mid colon in our hands. This has been reported in IBD, where microscopic colitis can influence tumor development as opposed to the presence of gross inflammation [373].

We generated bone marrow chimeras to determine whether the reduction in cancer incidence between WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice was due to an indirect effect of TNFR1 deficiency in leukocytes versus a direct effect of TNFR1 present on epithelial cells and other stromal/mesenchymal tissue. According to our data, TNFR1 expression on both bone-marrow-derived cells and the stroma/epithelium are important for tumor development. Which cell subset expressing TNFR1 may be the contributing factor to tumor development remains to be determined. Unlike Papivanova et al., we found that epithelial/stromal TNFR1 deficiency could result in a significant reduction in tumor incidence, suggesting that epithelial expression of TNFR1 is an important determinant of cancer risk. BALB/c mice did not show epithelial TNFR1 expression, therefore it is possible that pro-tumorigenic signaling through TNFR1 did not occur [243].

In addition to reduced colon cancer, mice lacking TNFR1 expression in bonemarrow-derived cells had a significantly decreased histological pathology score compared to WT mice reconstituted with WT bone-marrow, and even TNFR1^{-/-} mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow, which is consistent with previous reports [243]. While TNFR1 deficiency itself did not lead to any inflammatory differences in nonchimeric mice, it was unexpected that leukocyte TNFR1 deficiency would be sufficient to reduce inflammatory measures. If TNFR1 is pathogenic in the bone-marrow derived tissue, it is possible that it is protective within the stromal/epithelial tissue. TNFR1 can activate NFκB and it has been suggested that NFκB activation can be beneficial in barrier function within the colonic epithelium [155, 156], potentially affecting inflammation. TNFR1-mediated activation of hematopoietic cells may lead to the activation of COX-2 and production of pro-inflammatory lipid mediators such as prostaglandins [243]. These may also have implications in epithelial cell activation by TNF, as TNF and subsequent COX-2 activation within these cells can induce β -catenin translocation to the nucleus via prostaglandins. In addition, mice that lack COX-2 had no measurable differences in CAC indices although this did not address the targeted deletion of COX-2 in AOM+DSS CAC [258].

If TNF played a role in homeostasis of the colonic epithelium, then we would predict changes in the number of apoptotic cells within the colon. We measured activated caspase-3 as a measure of apoptosis. TNF in some circumstances can lead to IEC apoptosis [374, 375] and treatment with anti-TNF therapy may reduce colonic epithelial cell apoptosis [185]. Whether an alteration in apoptosis by TNFR deficiency would affect cancer incidence was unclear. There were no differences in the number of activated caspase-3+ cells within the colon, suggesting that TNFRs likely do not play a significant role in controlling the rate of colonic epithelial apoptosis, at least in the DSS model. While recent evidence implicates NF κ B signaling in colonic epithelial survival *in vivo* via TNFR1 signaling [155, 156], whether this occurs as a result of TNFR1 in the gut has not been directly shown. *In situ* NF κ B activation via TNFR1 has not been demonstrated in vivo in the colon. It is possible that other sources of NF κ B activation, such as microbial ligands, can induce survival signals within the epithelium.

In non-chimeric mice, the finding that pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF and MIP-2 were not different between treatments and strains is consistent with the lack of difference in inflammation between the strains. While it has been reported that serum and colonic TNF is elevated during intestinal inflammation [165], this is not always the case [170, 171]. MIP-2, or CXCL2, a product of macrophages chemotactic to neutrophils [376], signals through CXCR2. MIP-2 be important in DSS-colitis as treating mice with an antiserum to CXCR2 [110] or a genetic deficiency for CXCR2 [377] was successful in reducing measures of DSS-induced inflammation associated with a reduced neutrophil infiltration. IL-4 is reportedly elevated in the colon during chronic DSS-colitis [94]. Taken together, similarities between strains in IL-4 and MIP-2 levels in the colon confirm a similar extent of inflammation in our study.

The finding that IL-12 is elevated in TNFR1^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS but not other strains is interesting. IL-12 is produced predominantly by dendritic cells inducing T-cell maturation and differentiation [378], and is also involved in the cytotoxic response by CD8+ T-cells and natural killer cells. An increased IL-12 production could be indicative of an increase in anti-cancer immunity [379], partially explaining a protective effect of TNFR1 deficiency in this model. In contrast, a similar increase in IFN- γ was not observed in our study (not shown), which would be expected in an antitumor response. Why IL-12 levels would be increased in AOM+DSS-treated mice, but not DSS-only-treated TNFR1^{-/-} mice is unclear. This elevated IL-12 expression only represents one point in time 83 days following AOM administration and chronic colitis, and it is unknown if this increased level was present earlier on, or throughout the study at some critical point in tumorigenesis.

Oxidative stress, reportedly increased in colitis [290, 380], has not previously been attributed to TNFR1 in vivo in colitis. TNFR1 has been shown to contribute to oxidative stress in an animal model of lung injury [381] therefore it is possible that it contributes to oxidative damage in colitis. TNFR1-/- mice had significantly fewer 8-OHDG⁺ colonic epithelial nuclei compared to WT and TNFR2^{-/-} mice. 8-OHDG is a DNA adduct that occurs after oxidative damage, and is normally cleaved by an enzyme in DNA repair. 8-OHDG adducts can lead to translocations and alterations in gene expression. High levels of 8-OHDG are associated with tumorigenesis [382] and is elevated in UC patients with dysplasia [383]. As TNF has been shown to cause oxidative stress [306] and TNFR1 directly associates with Nox enzymes [316], it is possible that TNFR1 deficiency reduces oxidative stress and damage, potentially reducing CAC. Mice with a reduced capacity to produce oxygen radicals during DSS colitis show a similar level of intestinal inflammation [303] compared to WT mice suggesting that oxygen radicals may damage the epithelium independently of inflammation status. We sought to determine whether TNF could influence the production of oxygen radicals in WT and TNFR1^{-/-} neutrophils and macrophages, the most abundant source of oxygen radicals [313]. We were not able to detect TNF-mediated ROS production by either neutrophils or macrophages isolated from the bone marrow or peritoneal lavage from thioglycollateinduced peritonitis (APPENDIX E). While we cannot conclude that the reduction in oxidative damage within the epithelium of TNFR1^{-/-} mice is a result of reduced ROS

production by infiltrating leukocytes, we do know that PMA-stimulation of leukocytes showed that TNFR1^{-/-} mice were still able to produce ROS in the same capacity as WT mice (APPENDIX E).

It is possible that internal production of ROS by colonic epithelial cells, mediated by the NADPH oxidase isoform Nox1, was responsible for this difference in 8-OHDG levels. Nox1 can be directly activated [318] and upregulated by TNF [368], and it has been suggested that Nox1 may play an important role in inflammation-mediated tumorigenesis in the colon [384]. The role of ROS in CAC has been investigated combining the use of antioxidants which reduced DSS-mediated CAC [385]. Additionally, glutathione peroxidase-deficient mice develop spontaneous colitis when exposed to commensal bacteria and subsequent ileal and colon cancer [386]. In these mice the inflammation is associated with an increased number of mutations [324].

In conclusion, TNFR1 deficiency is protective against the development of colitisassociated cancer and this protective effect exists independent of the severity of inflammation. Both leukocytic and stromal TNFR1 expression are important in this protective effect. Finally, a reduction in oxidative damage may account for the protective effect of TNFR1 deficiency, however, more research is needed to determine the mechanisms by which this occurs.

Figure 4.1 Inflammation In WT, TNFR1^{-/-} And TNFR2^{-/-} Mice Treated With 10mg/Kg Azoxymethane Followed By 4 Cycles Of 3% DSS.

- a) Weight change during the 83-day azoxymethane (AOM) and dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) regime. Graph shows AOM+DSS treated wildtype (WT), TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice from days 1-12 of each cycle. Values are a percent change in weight from the beginning of each cycle as there was a net weight gain from the beginning to the termination of the study. Data are presented as mean ± SEM and statistics were performed using repeated measures ANOVA with a p<0.05 considered significant.</p>
- b) Histologically-detectable inflammation in hematoxylin and eosin-stained colon sections after AOM+ 4 cycles of 3% DSS. Sections were scored based on a previously validated scale based on presence of inflammatory cells, ulceration, crypt damage and edema. Horizontal lines indicate the mean, and statistics were performed using non-parametric ANOVA.
- c) WT AOM only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- d) TNFR1^{-/-} AOM only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- e) TNFR2^{-/-} AOM only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- f) WT DSS only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- g) TNFR1^{-/-} DSS only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- h) TNFR2^{-/-} DSS only-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification
- i) WT AOM+DSS-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification.
- j) TNFR1^{-/-} AOM+DSS-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification.
- k) TNFR2^{-/-} AOM+DSS-treated mouse H&E-stained section 100x magnification







а



С



g

f

h



j

i

k

Figure 4.2 TNFR1^{-/-} Mice Have A Reduced Tumor And Dysplasia Incidence And Tumor Multiplicity After Treatment With 10mg/Kg Azoxymethane Followed By 4 Cycles Of 3% DSS.

a) Tumor (macroscopic) and dysplasia (microscopic) incidence (%) in WT (n=33), TNFR1^{-/-} (n=32) and TNFR2^{-/-} (n=25) mice treated with 10mg/kg AOM followed by 4 cycles of 3% w/v DSS. Significance (p<0.05) determined by χ^2 analysis with a power of 0.9.

b) Tumor size (average of 3 diameters in mm) in WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS. No statistical differences were found with a one-way ANOVA between strains. Data presented as mean±SEM.

c) Tumor Multiplicity (gross tumor count) in WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS. Gross tumors were counted in the whole colon under a dissecting microscope. A one way-ANOVA found significant differences between strains and differences between strains were determined with a Tukey's Multiple Comparison Posttest. Data presented as mean±SEM.

d) Inflammation score in mice with and without dysplasia/tumors to determine if there is a difference in level of inflammation based on tumor presence

e-g) Hematoxylin and Eosin-stained tissue sections depicting adenocarcinomas in each of the three strains WT (e), TNFR1^{-/-} (f), TNFR2^{-/-} (g) at 25x magnification. Line denotes an adenocarcinoma.



е f ALD g

Figure 4.3 Infiltration Of Leukocytes After AOM+ 4 Cycles Of 3% DSS Treatment



a) Neutrophils (neut, Ly6G+) and Eosinophils (Eos, Congo red+) were counted in 5 high power fields in AOM+DSS-treated mice. Neutrophils were counted at 400x magnification in areas of inflammation with an inflammation score of at least 3 (out of 5) within that field. b-e) F480+ macrophages in AOM+DSS treated mice were not different between strains, as measured by Kruskal Wallis ANOVA. d) Tumor tissue showing an absence of F480+ cells.

Figure 4.4 Apoptosis In The Colon Of WT, TNFR1^{-/-} And TNFR2^{-/-} Mice Is Not



Activated (cleaved) Caspase-3+ cells measured by immunohistochemistry in No Treatment (NT)/AOM-treated groups (n=6/group, 3 NT, 3 AOM-only, pooled), DSS only-treated groups (n=6 per group), and AOM+DSS-treated groups (n=6 per group) were counted within 100 intact crypts within the colon of WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice at a magnification of 400x. Mice treated with AOM+DSS had significantly greater activated Caspase-3+ cells per 100 crypts compared to untreated and AOM treated mice, as measured by a Kruskal-Wallis One-way ANOVA for both strain and treatment.

Figure 4.5 TNFR1 and TNFR2 Expression in the Epithelium

TNFR1 and TNFR2 expression was determined by immunohistochemistry in WT mice to determine localization of receptor expression in the colon. a) Negative control in an untreated WT mouse section with no primary antibody application (400x), b) TNFR1+ cells in the colon in untreated mouse colon section (400x), c) TNFR1 expression in a AOM+DSS-treated mouse section (400x) d) TNFR2 expression in AOM+DSS-treated mouse section, with TNFR2 expression only found in infiltrate (400x), e) soluble TNFR2 levels in the serum as measured by ELISA in WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice. Significant difference denoted by *.

e

С



d





93
Figure 4.6 Colonic IL-12 is elevated in TNFR1^{-/-} mice, but other cytokines in the colon are not affected by strain

Cytokines were measured via ELISA in colon extracts from DSS-only and DSS+AOM-treated mice as outlined in Chapter 2. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (for DSS-only group n=6-8, AOM+DSS groups n=10-15) and expressed per mg of protein as determined by Bradford assay of extracts. Statistics were determined by Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA for both strain and treatment. Significant differences denoted with a star (p<0.05).

- a) TNF levels pg/mg of protein in colon extracts
- b) IL-12 levels pg/mg of protein in colon extracts
- c) IL-4 levels pg/mg protein in colon extracts
- d) MIP-2 levels pg/mg protein in colon extracts



Figure 4.7 TNFR1 On Bone-Marrow-Derived Cells Contributes To Chronic Intestinal Inflammation

- a) Inflammation scores of chimeric mice treated with 10 mg/kg AOM+ 4 cycles of 3% w/v DSS for 4 cycles as previously described. Data presented as mean (denoted by horizontal line), and plotted as individual points. Statistics were performed as Kruskal-Wallis One-way ANOVA with a Dunn's post-test to determine differences between groups (p<0.05). Number of animals per group: WT→WT n=14, R1→R1 n=8, R1→WT n=23, WT→R1 n=15.</p>
- b) Ly6G+ cells within inflamed areas in 5 high-powered fields of colon sections from chimeric mice as measured by Kruskal-Wallis One-way ANOVA.
- c) -f) Hematoxylin and Eosin-stained sections from chimeric mice at 100x magnification showing areas of inflammation in each group.





Figure 4.8 TNFR1 On Bone-Marrow-Derived Cells And Stromal Cells Play A Role In The Development Of Colitis-Associated Cancer.

- a) Incidence of tumors and dysplasia in chimeric mice treated with 10mg/kg AOM+ 3% w/v DSS for 4 cycles as previously described. χ² analysis was performed to detect statistical differences in incidence between groups (WT→WT n=14, R1→R1 n=8, R1→WT n=23, WT→R1 n=15).
- b) Tumor size from tumor-bearing mice measured as an average of 3 diameters (mm). A one-way ANOVA with a Tukey's Multiple Comparison post-test was used to determine differences between groups.
- c) Tumor multiplicity in tumor-bearing mice as determined by gross examination, with the exception of R1→R1 mice, which did not develop tumors. A one-way ANOVA was used to determine statistically significant differences between groups in tumor-bearing mice.
- d) Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections from WT→WT mouse (25x). Lines denote tumors.
- e) Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections from $R1 \rightarrow R1$ mouse (25x)
- f) Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections from R1 \rightarrow WT mouse (25x)
- g) Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections from WT \rightarrow R1 mouse (25x)

% Incidence	WT→WT	R1→R1	R1→WT	WT→R1
Gross Tumors	86%	0%	41%	43%
Dysplasia	86%	0%	46%	43%



а

Figure 4.9 8-OHDG+ Colonic Epithelial Nuclei Are Reduced In TNFR1^{-/-} Mice, Suggesting A Reduction In Oxidative Damage In These Mice.



a-d) Photomicrographs of 8-OHDG+ cells within colonic epithelium of AOM-onlytreated WT (a), AOM+DSS-treated TNFR1^{-/-} (b), and AOM+DSS-treated WT (c) and AOM+DSS-treated TNFR2^{-/-} mice (d). Magnification 400x, positive nuclei show brown staining.

e) The number of 8-OHDG+ cells within 20 intact colonic crypts from AOM+DSStreated mice, * denotes statistically significant difference (p<0.05) determined by a Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA with a Dunn's multiple comparison post-test.

CHAPTER 5: MICE LACKING A FUNCTIONAL NADPH OXIDASE 2 ARE PROTECTED AGAINST COLITIS-ASSOCIATED CANCER

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), including Crohn's disease (CD) and Ulcerative colitis (UC), are conditions in the gastrointestinal tract associated with oxidative stress [288]. Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the mechanisms to control these, namely, the ROSscavenging system of antioxidants [288]. Several lines of evidence support an imbalance in the pathogenesis of IBD. First, the treatment of experimental colitis with antioxidants has shown success in reducing inflammation [387]. Next, impaired antioxidant defense systems have been shown in IBD [388-390] and animal models of colitis [391]. Whether this impairment is a result of an overwhelmed antioxidant defense system during inflammation, or a precursor to inflammation is not clear [304]. Third, measures of oxidative stress from the plasma are higher in IBD patients [290, 388, 392]. Collectively, this suggests that excess production of ROS or an impaired ability to neutralize them contributes to inflammation within the colon. Mice with a deficiency in two glutathione peroxidase enzymes develop a spontaneous colonic inflammation when exposed to conventional housing [322], suggesting that this balance is necessary for homeostasis in the colon.

ROS are produced as byproducts from a range of metabolic processes, including energy metabolism, and are also produced by cells of the immune system to kill bacteria [393]. Normally, extra ROS are scavenged and neutralized by antioxidant enzymes, such as glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase. Failure of these systems could lead to tissue and cell damage by ROS attack of proteins, lipids and nucleic acids. Damaging these components affect a wide range of cellular processes, including cell cycle control, and DNA repair, leading to mutations [393].

During IBD, ROS are produced in abundance and the resulting tissue and cellular damage and the accompanying molecular alterations likely contribute to carcinogenesis. Evidence supporting this idea comes from studies that show that the addition of a strong oxidant, iron, to the diet of mice treated with dextran sulphate sodium (DSS), increases the frequency of tumors in inflamed mice [73]. Impaired antioxidants in dysplastic tissue in DSS colitis has also been reported [394]. In addition, treatment with an

antioxidant can reduce the severity of colitis-associated cancer [385]. Finally, the double glutathione peroxidase-deficient murine model of colitis develops inflammation and cancer after exposure to commensal microflora in conventional housing [325]. The inflammation in this model is associated with a number of molecular alterations that could lead to tumorigenesis [324]. Together, these studies suggest a role for excess ROS and oxidative damage in CAC.

NADPH oxidase 2 (Nox2) is an enzyme complex the function of which is critical in the formation of ROS involved in phagocyte function [395]. Integral in this complex are protein subunits p47phox, p22phox, p67phox and the glycoprotein 91 (gp91) catalytic core. Other important members of this complex include Rac1, Rac2, which interact with the p67phox [395]. Several isoforms of NADPH oxidase exist, but the Nox2 isoform is the most prevalent form within the immune system particularly in neutrophils and macrophages [313], the frontline innate immune cells involved in clearing bacterial infection. Individuals lacking a functional Nox2 can develop chronic granulomatous disease, an immunodeficiency where leukocytes are unable to mount an effective response to bacteria, and instead surround the infection with numerous effector cells creating granulomas.

The contribution of the Nox2 enzyme in colitis has been investigated in three studies of DSS colitis. One study, using a strain of mouse deficient in the p47phox subunit, found no major differences in the severity of inflammation and illness compared to WT mice on a C57BL/6 background [303]. The second and third studies used a strain of mice lacking Nox2 [304, 396]. While one found a pathogenic effect of Nox2 in DSS colitis [304], the other did not report differences in clinical measures (such as weight loss and stool consistency) from the WT strain [396]. The study by Mori et al., [396] did not include histopathological data so comparisons are difficult. Notwithstanding differences in their protocol, these conflicting reports suggest that a role for Nox2 in colitis warrants further investigation. In addition, no data exists for the role of Nox2 in chronic colitis and its participation in tumorigenesis, despite Nox2^{-/-} expressing cells purportedly contributing to the development of colitis-mediated cancer [396]. Here, we report that there is no significant difference in the severity of acute colitis between WT and gp91^{-/-} (Nox2) mice after 5 days of 3% DSS treatment. In addition, Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with 10mg/kg azoxymethane (AOM) and 4 cycles of 3% DSS were protected against tumor

formation compared to WT.

Results

Acute Colitis

Eight-12-week old male C57BL/6 (WT) and Nox2^{-/-} mice were fed 3% DSS for five days followed by two days of reverse osmosis-purified water. Expectedly, no signs of spontaneous inflammation were observed in untreated Nox2^{-/-} mice. In both strains, occult blood appeared in the stool at two days after DSS commencement. At the termination of the experiment, gross blood was visible within the colons of both strains. Both strains developed enlarged, soft stools, but did not develop diarrhea. Neither weight change over the seven-day period nor clinical scores differed significantly between groups (Figures 5.1a and 5.1b) with both groups losing as much as 2-5% of their original weight by day seven.

Inflammatory Measures

At the end of the seven-day experiment, colons were removed, and sections were formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded then sectioned and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for assessment of inflammation based on the criteria outlined in Table 2.2. There were no significant differences found between $Nox2^{-/-}$ and WT with respect to histopathological disease severity (Figure 5.1c). Both strains showed infiltration of leukocytes within the submucosa and ulceration of the epithelium (Figure 5.1d-e). In addition, the number of Ly6G+ cells were similar between strains (Figure 5.1f). Untreated mice did not show any Ly6G+ leukocyte infiltration into the colon (data not shown).

Chronic Colitis

To study colitis-associated cancer, mice were treated with 10mg/kg of AOM followed by 4 cycles of 3% DSS. Weight loss and clinical illness was assessed. During the first two cycles, weight loss and clinical illness scores did not differ significantly between strains. Unlike our previous experiments, WT mice were very sensitive to this regime and many had to be euthanized before the completion of the experiment. In contrast it was found that Nox2^{-/-} mice were significantly protected from weight loss

following the third and fourth cycles (Figure 5.2a). In addition, their clinical scores in these two cycles were lower compared to WT mice. A survival curve indicated that WT mice experienced a significantly greater mortality compared to Nox2^{-/-} mice, with mortality beginning following the third cycle (Figure 5.2b). When the animals that were euthanized early were assessed by necropsy, it was found that there were extremely large tumors causing obstructions in the bowel. The colons were distended and lacking muscle tone. Weight loss and clinical illness scores were not significantly different between DSS-only treated mice despite slightly greater weight loss and clinical scores in these mice.

At necropsy, colon lengths and weights were measured and it was found that in both strains, colon length was significantly shorter after DSS treatment, however, Nox2^{-/-} mice had significantly greater colon lengths after 4 cycles of AOM+DSS compared to WT mice (Table 5.1). In addition, AOM+DSS-treated WT mice had a significantly greater colon weight compared to untreated/AOM-treated WT mice, while AOM+DSS-treated Nox2^{-/-} mice did not. Weight: length ratios were also unchanged after AOM+DSS treatment in Nox2^{-/-} mice while WT mice had a greater weight:length ratio compared to untreated WT mice (Table 5.1).

Histopathological inflammation scores were not significantly different between the AOM+DSS-treated strains or the DSS-only strains at day 83 (Figures 5.2c-e). Both strains had significant influx of leukocytes including neutrophils and macrophages. In addition, both strains showed leukocyte extravasation from blood vessels in the muscularis layer tunneling up through to the submucosa, which could lead to the development of fistulas, often observed in severe CD [397]. It should be noted that hisopathological scores were only performed on those mice that survived to the completion of the study, therefore they might not completely reflect the true scores as those mice that were euthanized earlier in the cycle were not included in the analysis.

Tumor Development in WT and Nox2^{-/-} Mice

When cancer was assessed in these two strains, it was found that Nox2^{-/-} mice were protected from colitis-associated cancer. While the incidence of macroscopic colon tumors and microscopic dysplasia was 100% in WT mice, only 58% of Nox2^{-/-} mice developed macroscopic tumors and 71% of Nox2^{-/-} mice developed dysplasia (Figure

5.3a). In addition, Nox2^{-/-} mice had significantly smaller and fewer tumors compared to WT mice, (Figures 5.3 b, c respectively). Tumors that developed in the mucosa in each strain were adenocarcinomas *in situ*, and neither strain displayed any evidence of breaching the basement membrane. Tumors within the colon of close to 50% of WT mice were very large, and several appeared to be obstructing the colonic lumen.

Ly6G+ Infiltrate into Inflammatory Lesions and Tumors in WT and Nox2^{-/-} Mice

Examination of blood smears revealed no differences in the proportions of white blood cells (polymorphonuclear cells, monocytes and lymphocytes) within the blood of these mice (Figure 5.2f), suggesting that Nox2^{-/-} deficiency does not affect the migration of leukocytes into the bloodstream. Ly6G+ cells, which are mostly neutrophils, were enumerated within the colonic mucosa and submucosa in areas with inflammation scores of at least 3. No difference between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with both AOM and DSS were found in the number of neutrophils (Figure 5.4). In addition, DSS-only-treated mice showed no strain-related differences in neutrophil numbers in 5 high power fields (not shown). Neutrophils can influence tumor growth and angiogenesis by secreting matrix metalloproteinases and other mediators [275, 398]. Significant neutrophil numbers were noted within tumors of mice, most abundant around the luminal surface of the tumor (Figure 5.5a,b). When Ly6G+ cells were enumerated within dysplastic tissue, it was found that Nox2^{-/-} mice had a reduced Ly6G+ cellular infiltration into tumors and dysplastic tissue compared to WT mice (Figure 5.5c). In areas of inflammation, Ly6G+ cell numbers were similar between AOM+DSS-treated mice.

The number of F480+ macrophages were not different between strains and treatments (Figure 5.5 d-e). They were present within both tumors and the lamina propria of the colon, as well as in areas of inflammation.

8-OHDG is not Different Between WT and Nox2^{-/-} Mice

8-OHDG was measured by immunohistochemistry to determine if Nox2 deficiency affected the amount of oxidative damage detectable within the colon. Unexpectedly, the number of 8-OHDG+ nuclei within intact crypts was not different between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS (Figure 5.5).

Discussion

This study examined acute and chronic colitis in a mouse strain lacking Nox2, the catalytic core of an important enzyme involved in antibacterial immunity. Acutely, mice were not protected against the development of colitis after DSS treatment. Chronically, Nox2^{-/-} mice were protected clinically against illness after AOM+ four cycles of 3% DSS treatment, with WT mice suffering significant morbidity and mortality. In addition to clinical measurements, post-necropsy measurements of colon length, weight, and weight: length ratio suggest that $Nox2^{-/-}$ mice do not develop colitis as severely as do WT mice. Colon shortening has been reported in DSS colitis as a rough measure of damage and fibrosis [77], while weight: length ratio can give an indication of edema within the tissues. Nox2^{-/-} mice also developed a lower incidence of tumors and dysplasia compared to WT mice, while histological inflammation scores were not significantly different. This suggests that while Nox2^{-/-} may be protective against clinical illness, it does not prevent DSS-mediated histological damage and mechanisms independent of histological damage could contribute to tumor development. In addition, the weight loss tracks the illness throughout the experiment, while the histopathological scores evaluate one timepoint only. Therefore, while there is no evidence that histopathological inflammation was different between groups, important in considering tumor development, clinical illness scores suggest that Nox2 deficiency is protective. In keeping with the similar degree of inflammation, inflammatory cell infiltrate was not significantly different between strains. This includes both Ly6G+ and F480+ cells. When examining neutrophil infiltration into dysplastic tissue, WT mice had greater numbers of tumor-associated neutrophils compared to Nox2^{-/-} mice. As inflammatory lesion-associated and blood neutrophils were present at similar levels between strains, Nox2 may affect the migration of neutrophils into dysplastic tissue, but not normal epithelium. While not examined in this study, it is not unreasonable to speculate that some of these Ly6G+ cells possessed the myeloidderived suppressor cell (MDSC) phenotype. On mechanism by which Nox2^{-/-} mice might be protected against tumor development is through impaired MDSC development. MDSC can utilize Nox2 to produce ROS involved in inhibiting the T-cell response [443], and thus anti-tumor immunity.

Nox2^{-/-} mice are used as a model of chronic granulomatous disease (CGD), however, even in aged mice granulomas were not detectable in the intestines (not shown).

In addition, no spontaneous inflammation was detected, which would be expected based on a previous report of DSS-colitis in Nox2^{-/-} mice [304], however, human CGD has been associated with hyperinflammation [399], and a mutation in the *NCF1* gene that encodes p47 is associated with intestinal inflammation in CGD [301], however, it is unlikely that it is related to IBD in the absence of CGD [400]. We suggest that despite the NADPH oxidase functional deficiency, this model does not mimic CGD and therefore is not confounded by spontaneous granulomatous disease.

Previous studies examining the deficiency of Nox2 on colitis are conflicting [303, 304, 396]. This research is consistent with the findings of Krieglstein et al. where acute inflammatory measures, such as clinical score, histopathological score, TNF, IL-1 and MIP-2 were similar between mice lacking Nox2^{-/-} and WT mice. Krieglstein used a model of NADPH deficiency where mice were lacking the p47^{Phox} subunit [303], while the studies by Bao et al looked at the same strain of mice as in the present study, finding protection in the Nox2 deficiency [304]. The p47 subunit may have roles in other NADPH oxidase isoforms in addition to Nox2, including Nox1 and Nox3 [305, 401], which may account for the difference.

While several measures of inflammation severity were slightly lower in Nox2^{-/-} mice during acute inflammation, they failed to reach statistical significance. Histologically-detectable inflammation was not significantly lower in Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS. Whether multiple parameters, each slightly lower in Nox2^{-/-} mice, collectively contributed in a protective effect against tumor development is not clear. We did not find significant differences in histological inflammation scores between strains, but they were slightly lower in Nox2^{-/-} mice. While no significant differences between infiltrating neutrophils were detected, Nox2^{-/-} mice had slightly lower numbers in the mucosa and submucosa of the colon. WT mice put on the AOM+DSS regime may have experienced obstructions that are responsible for the decline in the animals' health. Mice treated with DSS-alone did not develop this degree of clinical illness. Therefore, we suggest that the clinical illness scores in these select mice are more likely linked to the severity of cancer and not a more severe histological inflammation.

A role for neutrophils in promoting cancer has been well-established [275, 278, 402]. Neutrophils secrete matrix metalloproteinase-9, activating vascular endothelial growth factor, driving the angiogenic switch in tumors and allowing the tumor to obtain

more nutrients from the host [275]. Whether neutrophils are involved in the initial stages of tumorigenesis is less clear. While Nox2 is expressed in several types of leukocytes, neutrophils remain the most abundant source of inflammation-derived oxygen radicals generated by Nox2 [313]. It has been shown that neutrophils can cause cell cycle arrest at the G2/M stage, leading to colonic epithelial replication errors *in vitro* and the activation of p53 and p21(waf1/cip1)[398]. However, the arrest and p53 activation were not prevented by the addition of catalase or superoxide dismutase, suggesting that these effects were not due to the superoxide radical or hydrogen peroxide alone [398]. While it remains to be determined which mediator was responsible for promoting these replication errors, the idea that ROS generation and oxidative stress can lead to genetic damage has been documented [324].

8-OHDG is a DNA adduct that is associated with increased levels of oxidative stress [403]. As much of the oxidative stress during inflammation occurs as a result of inflammatory cell infiltration, we hypothesized that 8-OHDG would be reduced in chronic colitis in Nox2^{-/-} mice. However, contrary to our hypothesis, there was no difference between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice in the number of 8-OHDG⁺ nuclei detected immunohistochemically in mid-colon crypts. Several mechanisms could explain this finding. First, the level or capacity of anti-oxidant enzymes could be reduced in NADPH oxidase deficiency, therefore in mice genetically predisposed to produce fewer ROS, a reduced antioxidant capability could result in DNA damage. It has been reported that there is a reduced antioxidant capacity in IBD [403]. Next, there could be a reduced ability to cleave 8-OHDG adducts by the enzyme in Nox2^{-/-} mice, resulting in higher 8-OHDG expression. Further it is possible that within the intestinal epithelium, despite a lack of leukocyte Nox2, ROS are being produced by other mechanisms, in particular by Nox1. Activated Nox1 could account for the increased 8-OHDG expression at this timepoint. Earlier timepoints might have revealed differences in 8-OHDG staining and damage to the epithelium prior to tumor development. While 8-OHDG is a good representative of cumulative oxidative damage, it is constantly being cleaved, therefore, expression may have been different at different time points. To control for these factors, another measure of oxidative damage should be done, such as the measure of nitrosative damage in the colon epithelium by detecting nitrotyrosine expression via immunohistochemistry.

In conclusion, mice deficient in Nox2^{-/-} are protected against tumorigenesis and dysplasia after chronic inflammation, suggesting that Nox2 and subsequent inflammation-related ROS production can contribute to this process. Whether this process results from direct ROS-induced damage to the epithelium or indirectly through reducing inflammation was not clear in this study and warrants further investigation.

Figure 5.1 Acute Colitis is similar between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice

Figure 5.1a) Weight change in WT (n=6) and Nox2^{-/-} mice (n=7) fed 3% w/v DSS in drinking water for 5 days followed by 2 days of regular tap water was not significantly different between groups. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to determine differences between groups.

Figure 5.1b) Clinical illness scores in WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice fed 3% w/v DSS for 5 days followed by 2 days of regular tap water is not significantly different between strains. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to detect differences between groups.

Figure 5.1c) Histopathological scores in WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice fed 3% DSS for 5 days followed by 2 days of regular tap water are not significantly different between strains. Statistical differences were determined using Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA for both strain and treatment.

Figure 5.1d-e) Hematoxylin and Eosin –stained sections (100x magnification) from the mid-colon of WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice, respectively, showing inflammation after DSS-administration.

Figures 5.1f) Ly6G+ cells from 5 high powered fields (1000x magnification) within areas of inflammation with a score of at least 3 (see Table 2.2). Differences between groups were determined by two-tailed t-test (p<0.05).



а





Figure 5.2 Histopathological Inflammation In Chronic Colitis In Wildtype And Nox2^{-/-} Mice Is Not Significantly Different Between Strains Despite Greater Clinical Illness In Wildtype Mice

Figure 5.2a) Weight loss during the 83-day experiment in WT (n=22) and Nox2^{-/-} (n=24) mice treated with AOM+DSS is significantly greater in WT mice compared to Nox2^{-/-} mice as determined by a repeated measures ANOVA (p<0.05).

Figure 5.2b) WT mice treated with AOM+DSS develop significant illness and weight loss leading to mortality in WT mice after the third cycle.

Figure 5.2c) Histopathological scores are not significantly different between WT (n=12) and Nox2^{-/-} (n=24) mice after treatment with AOM+ 4 cycles of 3% w/v DSS. Only those mice that were present at the end of the experiment were included in scoring.

Figure 5.2d-e) Representative hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections showing inflammation within the mid-colon (100x magnification) in both WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice, respectively.

Figure 5.2f) White blood cells counted in blood smears stained with crystal violet, counted as a proportion of total white blood cells in WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS.



b









f

Table 5.1 WT and Nox2^{-/-} characteristics at necropsy

Tukey's multiple comparison post-test was performed to detect differences between groups. Significant were made. Statistical differences detected using a 2-way ANOVA and where an interaction occurred, Legend: After the 83-day regimen, surviving mice were euthanized and post-necropsy measurements differences are denoted by superscripted letters across a row. Data presented as mean±SEM.

Measurement		Wildtype			Nox2	
	N	DSS	DSS+AOM	ħ	DSS	DSS+AOM
Colon Length (cm)	7.9±0.2ª	5.7±0.2 ^b	5.3±0.4 ^b	9±0.7°	5.8±0.6 ^b	7±1ª
Colon Wet Weight (mg)	314±12ª	44±17 ^b	524±113 ^b	392±68 ^{ab}	489±64 ^b	389±90 ^{ab}
Colon mg/cm	40±17 ^a	85±9 ^b	91±21 ^b	44±8ª	85±14 ^b	52±12ª
Cecum Wet Weight (mg)	157±17 ^a	230±24 ^b	152±50 ^a	189±42ª	230±24 ^b	193±30 ^{ab}
Spleen Wet Weight (mg)	93±6ª	225±22 ^b	221±73 ^b	128±38ª	211±28 ^b	265±94 ^b

Figure 5.3 Nox2^{-/-} Mice Are Protected From Tumor Development After Azoxymethane And 3 Cycles Of Dextran Sulphate Sodium

Figure 5.3a) Incidence of dysplasia and tumors within the colon of WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+4 cycles of 3% w/v DSS. Chi-squared analysis was used to determine differences in incidence between strains (p<0.05).

Figure 5.3b) Tumor diameter was significantly reduced in Nox2^{-/-} mice. Tumor diameter was determined taking the average of three diameter measurements per macroscopic tumor. Significance was determined using a two-tailed t-test.

Figure 5.3c) Tumor multiplicity was significantly reduced in Nox2^{-/-} mice. Tumor multiplicity represents the number of macroscopically visible tumors per colon. Significance was determined using a two-tailed t-test.

Figure 5.3d-e) Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections (100x magnification) showing a non-invasive adenocarcinoma in both WT (d) and $Nox2^{-/-}$ (e) mice.

% Incidence	WT	Nox2-/-	P-Value
Gross Tumors	100%	58%	0.0037
Dysplasia	100%	71%	0.02



	-	٩	k.	
	-	1	l	
٩	-	,	L	

119



Figure 5.4 Ly6G + Cellular Infiltrate Into Tumors Is Reduced In Nox2^{-/-} Mice, But Not In Inflamed Tissue Compared To Wildtype

Figure 5.4a) High power field (1000x magnification) showing Ly6G+ cells within the tumor of a WT mice.

Figure 5.4b) High power field (1000x magnification) showing Ly6G+ cells within a tumor of a Nox2^{-/-} mouse.

Figure 5.4c) The number of Ly6G+ cells within 5 high power fields (400x magnification) in dysplastic tissue. Differences between strains were detected using a two-tailed t-test.

Figure 5.4d) The number of Ly6G+ cells within 5 high power fields (400x magnification) in inflamed tissue in the colon.

Figure 5.4e) F480+ cells within AOM+DSS-treated WT mice, 400x magnification



Figure 5.5 8-OHDG Staining Within Epithelial Cells Is Similar Between Wildtype And Nox2^{-/-} Mice



Nox2^{-/-} and WT mice were treated with 10mg/kg AOM+ 3% w/v DSS for 4 cycles, each cycle consisting of 5 days of DSS followed by 14 days of facility water. 8-OHDG, a marker of oxidative damage, was measured in sectioned colon. Positive nuclei within the crypt epithelium were counted and compared to total number of nuclei per crypt to determine proportion of 8-OHDG+ cells per crypt. 10 intact crypts per section were included per sample. a) 8-OHDG staining in Nox2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM+DSS (400x) b) 8-OHDG staining in WT mouse treated with AOM+DSS (400x), c) Proportion of 8-OHDG+ nuclei per crypt (5 crypts counted per sample), d) AOM only-treated mouse section stained with 8-OHDG (400x)

CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION

Anti-TNF therapy remains an important means of reducing inflammation in IBD. Research into the mechanisms of action of this therapy is necessary to both prevent complications and to develop newer, more effective therapies. Whether the efficacy of anti-TNF therapy is due to antagonizing TNF during inflammation, or a function of removing activated leukocytes expressing TNF is not yet clear. More importantly, the long-term outcome of the use of anti-TNF therapies on the risk of CAC is unknown. This research therefore aimed to further clarify the role of TNF signaling through its cognate receptors in an animal model of colitis and colitis-associated cancer. Initially, reports that anti-TNF therapy was associated with an increased risk of extra-intestinal cancers (which has since been disputed, but not disproven [27]), led us to ask questions about whether TNF might actually play an anti-tumor role in the intestine. At the initial stages of this research this question had not yet been asked. There is evidence that TNF can activate colonic epithelial cell apoptosis in the absence of NFkB signaling [155, 156], which could potentially exacerbate colitis if there is an imbalance between cell death and regeneration and the epithelial layer becomes breached. In addition, TNF, as its name suggests, has been known to be toxic to tumors and can induce tumor regression, especially in solid tumors [404]. It has since become evident that TNF possesses protumorigenic properties, and our research supports this.

Summary of Major Findings

We showed a lack of major differences between mice lacking TNFR1, TNFR2 and WT mice in the severity of acute inflammation following experimental DSSmediated colitis. This was associated with no differences in measures of cytokines within the colon tissue and inflammatory cells between strains treated with DSS. TNFR1^{-/-} mice had a higher clinical score at days 6 and 7, suggesting a delay in healing, but this did not correspond with any increases in histopathological scores at days 7 and 12. Macrophage infiltration into the colon of TNFR1^{-/-} mice was significantly reduced at day 7 compared to other strains. Colonic epithelial cell apoptosis was not affected by strain after DSS treatment.

Using DSS combined with AOM to model remitting/recurring chronic colitis,

TNFR1 gene-deficient C57BL/6 mice developed a significantly reduced incidence of colorectal tumors and microscopically-detectable dysplasia compared to wildtype and TNFR2-gene-deficient mice. In addition, TNFR1^{-/-} mice had fewer macroscopic tumors compared to the other strains. There were no correlations between tumor size and number with inflammation severity in the mid-colon, nor did mice with or without dysplasia differ in their inflammation severity. This is important as overall inflammation scores showed great variability, possibly masking a potential statistical significance between strains. By subdividing the groups into categories based on disease outcome, we still observe no significant difference between groups in the inflammation severity. Measures of inflammation, such as cellular infiltrate and cytokine levels, remained similar between groups with the exception of elevated IL-12 protein levels in the colon of AOM+DSStreated TNFR1^{-/-} mice. When mice were irradiated and made chimeric with donor bone marrow, we found in WT and TNFR1-/- mice engrafted with TNFR1-/- and WT bone marrow, respectively, there was a significantly decreased incidence of colonic dysplasia and cancer. This suggests that both stromal TNFR1 and bone-marrow-derived TNFR1 are important in the development of colitis-associated cancer. We showed that there were significantly fewer 8-OHDG+ cells within the colonic epithelium, corresponding to our hypothesis that TNF may play a role in regulating the production of ROS in the colon.

We then were interested in the role of leukocyte-derived ROS in the development of colitis-associated cancer. To determine the contribution of leukocytic production of ROS to colitis-mediated cancer we treated mice lacking a functional NADPH oxidase 2 with the same regime described previously. We did not find a significant difference between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice with respect to inflammation severity when we measured acute colitis; however, Nox2^{-/-} mice tended to have lower inflammation parameters, and Ly6G-expressing cells compared to WT.

When treated with the AOM +DSS regime, Nox2^{-/-} mice were protected against the development of CAC and had fewer and smaller tumors compared to WT mice. While inflammatory measures were similar between groups (histopathological score, cellular infiltrate), clinical scores and weight loss were significantly greater in WT mice. This was associated with a significantly greater mortality. Nox2^{-/-}, while showing a similar Ly6G+ infiltrate into the inflamed epithelium, showed reduced infiltrate into dysplastic tissue. Interestingly, 8-OHDG was similar between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice, confounding the potential role of leukocyte-derived ROS in epithelial cell damage.

Relevance to Current Literature

Despite the success of anti-TNF therapies, the role of TNF as a soluble mediator driving colitis has not yet been definitively confirmed. Both Infliximab and Etanercept bind to the soluble TNF trimer, however, Infliximab binds with more affinity, while Etanercept appears to dissociate from soluble TNF readily [183]. This could potentially underscore the higher impact of Infliximab therapy on IBD compared to a lack of efficacy by Etanercept. However, evidence points to the presence of outside-in signaling by membrane-bound TNF on monocytes and lymphocytes as being a mechanism by which anti-TNF therapy exerts efficacy [173, 184]. Once these activated effector cells are depleted, the sustained chronic inflammatory response triggered by an unknown insult can be controlled. Therefore it is not surprising that single TNF receptor deficiency does not significantly alter the course of colitis during DSS treatment.

In both acute and chronic colitis, we did not see any differences in TNF protein levels between strains. In our hands, TNF levels, while slightly higher compared to untreated mice, were not significantly elevated in the soluble fractions from colon homogenates of DSS-treated WT mice compared to untreated mice. Other studies, as discussed, have both confirmed [243] or refuted [198] the role of TNF in the pathology of IBD. Therefore, an overall consensus has not been yet been achieved. We suggest that while in some cases TNF may be elevated in the mucosa during active inflammation it is not a major driver of inflammation and in fact may be important in limiting inflammation in the context of maintaining barrier function. To this end, TRAF2, a downstream molecule in TNFR1 signaling, is required in neonatal mice to prevent spontaneous colonic inflammation (BALB/c) and mortality in C57BL/6 mice [405]. There is also high mortality in DSS-treated TNF deficient mice [198], and in our own experience using double TNF receptor knock-out mice (Appendix B). These mice developed severe inflammation and colonic hemorrhage and splenic necrosis and 50% mortality after 1 cycle of DSS treatment. While we did not measure bacterial translocation, it is possible that without functioning TNF signaling, these mice were unable to mount an effective antibacterial response to bacterial translocation and sepsis, or TNF deficiency could have resulted in an impaired ability for epithelial regeneration. TNFR1-'-RAG-'- double

knockout mice treated with DSS show increased bacterial translocation to distant organs [200], suggesting that in the absence of T and B-cells, TNFR1 signaling on remaining innate immune cells is protective in the development of inflammation. Mice deficient for TRAF2 show high levels of colonic epithelial cell apoptosis [405], suggesting that TRAF2-mediated activation of the NFκB pathway is protective by preventing colonic epithelial cell apoptosis. Another explanation is that TRAF2 deficient mice lack the ability to ubiquitinate RIP1, leading to the association of RIP1 with Caspase-8, providing a scaffold for the DISC [479]. In addition, epithelial TAK1 and NEMO are important for epithelial cell survival via TNFR1 [155, 156]. We did not see any differences in apoptosis between WT and TNFR-deficient mice either acutely or chronically. It is possible that a complete TNFR deficiency might have more impact on epithelial cell apoptosis.

TNF bioactivity is another confounder to consider when measuring TNF levels in our models. When we measured TNF in the colon extracts by ELISA we did not find any strain or treatment-dependent differences in TNF levels. The levels we did detect might not have taken into account total TNF levels in the colon, as soluble receptors could potentially have bound and masked TNF [481]. We did report high levels of soluble TNFR2 in the serum and colons of DSS-treated mice, confounding a possible difference between treatments or strains. This may not give an accurate indication of TNF bioactivity during inflammation. Indeed, Ebach et al., [206] reported that TNBS treatment did not significantly increase serum soluble TNF, which was essentially undetectable, but significantly increased total TNF (soluble plus receptor-bound) [206]. We were not able to detect TNF in the serum (not shown), but it is possible that with an ELISA kit detecting bound and unbound TNF, we would have been able to measure it more accurately.

That TNFR1 deficiency is associated with a decreased incidence and severity of cancer, broadly, is consistent with previous research. In a similar model using BALB/c mice, TNFR1 deficiency reduced inflammation-mediated colon cancer [243]. Where our findings differed; however, is that TNFR1-deficient BALB/c mice were protected against DSS-induced colitis as well as cancer, meaning the reduction in cancer could potentially be a function of the reduced inflammation. This was confirmed further with bone marrow chimeric mice, where TNFR1 expression on hematopoietic cells but not stromal cells was

associated with a decrease in the number of tumors per mouse [243]. When WT bone marrow was reconstituted in TNFR1^{-/-} mice, there was no significant difference in inflammation after AOM+DSS compared to WT mice reconstituted with WT bone marrow, but a significantly greater inflammatory score compared to WT mice reconstituted with TNFR1^{-/-} bone-marrow. This attributes a significant pro-inflammatory role to TNFR1 in hematopoietic cells that was not evident in whole-body TNFR1 deficiency. It is possible when TNFR1 is absent in all cells, the effect of hematopoietic-specific TNFR1 deficiency is lost. Therefore TNFR1-deficiency in other tissues is contributing to the inflammation, ascribing a protective role to TNFR1 expression in the mesenchyme and stroma. With this idea, it is expected that stromal TNFR1 deficiency would affect inflammation scores if it was indeed protective.

Papivanova et al., reported that stromal TNFR1 deficiency did not reduce cancer incidence, or tumor number [243], however, we found that it did. Unlike Papivanova et al., we found that epithelial cells expressed TNFR1, suggesting that a pro-tumorigenic signaling pathway could potentially be activated if TNF is being produced. In future studies, TNFR1-activated NF κ B signaling should be explored to determine if this is the pro-tumorigenic pathway activated within epithelial cells and not mediators produced by cells in close proximity to the epithelium. In a mouse model of spontaneous Crohn's like ileitis, where TNF was overexpressed after the removal of the AU-rich regulatory elements, it was reported that specific intestinal epithelial expression of TNFR1, with TNF overexpression, did not lead to significant intestinal pathology, supporting the role of cells other than intestinal epithelial cells as targets of TNF signaling through TNFR1 [406]. Therefore the protective effect of TNF may not be through direct TNF signaling in the epithelium, but indirectly through the production of protective mediators by other cells.

In our experiments, TNFR1 deficiency in either the bone marrow or stroma/epithelium led to a reduction in tumor incidence and severity to a degree similar to TNFR1^{-/-} animals. As mice with hematopoietic TNFR1 deficiency had reduced inflammation, it leads us to conclude that hematopoietic TNFR1 deficiency is protective against tumor development in an inflammation-dependent manner. Therefore inflammation may contribute directly to tumorigenesis. In stromal/epithelial TNFR1 deficiency, inflammation was similar to WT mice with WT bone-marrow, suggesting that

tumorigenesis in these mice is occurring in a TNFR1-specific manner independently of inflammation. It leads us to question what role specifically TNFR1 has in tumorigenesis and which cells are involved, as our results suggest that TNFR1 is widely expressed.

Two examples of TNFR1-expressing cells within the stroma/mesenchyme are myofibroblasts and endothelial cells. Myofibroblasts can respond to inflammatory mediators, such as LPS, IL-1 and TNF. TNF-stimulated myofibroblasts can produce cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-8 [407] Cox-2 [217, 408] and MMP-3 [409]. These cells are positioned in close proximity to the epithelium, and are purported to be integral in maintaining the stem cell niche and homeostasis in colonic crypts [410]. Due to their proximity to the epithelium, it is plausible that TNF produced by infiltrating leukocytes such as macrophages and neutrophils can activate myofibroblasts to further produce inflammatory mediators, amplifying inflammation. In the mouse model of Crohn's-like ileitis induced by deletion of the AU-rich regulatory elements from TNF, intestinal myofibroblasts were shown to mediate inflammation via TNFR1 [215]. In fact, intestinal myofibroblasts may be activated by epithelial-derived TNF early in the course of inflammation [406].

The activation of myofibroblasts during inflammation can stimulate signals that lead to epithelial activation and proliferation. The production of mediators like IL-6 and IL-24 by colonic myofibroblasts after activation through TNFR1 could lead to the activation of STAT3 in colonic epithelial cells, although this has yet to be shown in primary epithelial cells, as IL-24-mediated STAT3 activation was observed in HT-29 colonic carcinoma cells [411]. IL-6 receptor expression has been shown on colonic epithelial cells *in vivo* [412]. STAT3 activation in CAC has been described and it is thought that STAT3 induces colonic epithelial proliferation, and also protects them from apoptosis [264]. Therefore, the activation of subepithelial myofibroblasts by TNF could be a mechanism by which stromal TNFR1 signaling contributes to tumor formation in CAC.

Endothelial cells play a crucial role in inflammation by expressing adhesion molecules and chemokines that allow leukocytes to extravasate to the site of inflammation. Many studies have shown that they possess bioactivity in response to TNF. Any alterations in the number of infiltrating leukocytes could be a function of changes in endothelial cells. Infliximab therapy can reduce inflammation by reducing angiogenesis
[195, 196]. This may have application in cancer therapy, as tumor blood vessels are often disorganized, leaky and phenotypically heterogeneous [271]. It has been demonstrated that anti-TNF therapy can reduce angiogenesis within tumors [243], and directly inhibit endothelial proliferation *in vitro* [196]. TNF has been shown to induce Pim-3 expression [413], a serine and threonine kinase involved in endothelial cell migration [414]. In tumors, TNF can induce vascular endothelial growth factor, a potent pro-angiogenic factor [415]. Whether this is a direct effect on endothelial cells *in vivo* by TNF or whether activation of infiltrating leukocytes leading to production of inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandins is not known. Stromal TNFR1 signaling contributes to tumor development without affecting inflammation in our model of CAC. As we did not find significant TNFR1 protein in colonic epithelial cells, it is likely that other cell types, including endothelial cells or subepithelial myofibroblasts contributed to tumorigenesis.

Popivanova et al., reported that during chronic colitis infiltrating leukocytes expressed COX-2 and hypothesized that subsequent PGE₂ production could influence angiogenesis [243]. They demonstrated that anti-TNF treatment reduced vascular density within tumors, and actually reduced the size of established tumors [243]. Reduction in angiogenesis has been reported in CD after Infliximab treatment [195]. It was not determined whether PGE₂ was actually the factor that led to tumorigenesis in this model, although it has been reported that $Cox-2^{-/-}$ mice are as susceptible to experimental CAC as WT mice [258]. Complete deficiency may have a different impact than a targeted deficiency. EP4 deficiency, the prostanoid receptor shown to have most impact during DSS-colitis [416, 417], has not been evaluated in this model but epithelial-specific EP4 deficiency could provide some insight into the role of PGE₂ in CAC. If PGE₂ deficiency could lead to reduced tumorigenesis, then it is possible that TNF activation of PGE₂ production could contribute to CAC. PGE₂ has been shown to contribute to epithelial cell survival from detachment-induced apoptosis [256, 416] and has been implicated in other GI cancers [418, 419]. As PGE₂ has been implicated in the nuclear translocation of β catenin followed by the expression of oncogenic c-myc and cyclinD1, it is possible that this is a mechanism by which tumorigenesis could occur.

As mentioned, a TNF-mediated signaling pathway that could potentially contribute to tumorigenesis is through the activation of NF κ B. Components of the NF κ B pathway, specifically IKK β , were shown to be important in the development of cancer

after chronic inflammation [249]. Through the production of conditionally IKKβdeficient mice, lacking IKK β either in the intestinal epithelium or myeloid-derived cells, it was determined that epithelial IKKB was important in the initiation of tumor development, while myeloid IKK β was important in the production of cytokines that could act as growth factors [249]. In addition, epithelial IKKβ deficient mice had a much higher rate of epithelial cell apoptosis, suggesting that IKKß signaling resulted in greater survival [249]. Further supporting this mechanism, a role for TNF in activating the NFKB pathway in intestinal epithelial cells during CAC was recently demonstrated by Onizawa et al., [252]. These two studies suggest that NFkB signaling is very important in the development of CAC and that TNF can activate this signaling pathway in intestinal epithelial cells. Whether TNF signaling is directly involved in activating NFκB in colonic epithelium, or if NFkB activation is an indirect result of inflammation remains to be determined. Popivanova reported that TNFR1 expression was confined to infiltrating cells, and not on colonic epithelial cells [243]. It is possible that TNF activates mediators in other cells that can activate the NF κ B pathway in colonic epithelial cells, however our experiments did not directly measure this.

In both our acute and chronic colitis models, we were surprised that we did not detect differences in the number of apoptotic cells within the gut. Given that TNFR1 can trigger both apoptosis and survival, we expected to see alterations in apoptotic cells in TNFR1-deficient mice. Cleaved caspase-3 is a sensitive measurement for early events in apoptosis [484]. TUNEL, which measures DNA fragmentation, a later event, has been questioned for its reproducibility and reliability [484]. In acute DSS colitis, we confirmed both with immunohistochemical TUNEL and colonic extract cleaved caspase-3 that there were no differences between strains in the level of apoptosis. In our chronic AOM+DSS model, we looked at immunohistochemically-detectable cleaved-caspase 3 only. It would have been beneficial to examine another marker of apoptosis such as TUNEL, as DSS treatment reportedly increases the rate of apoptosis in the colon [245]. P53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis, or PUMA, is also upregulated during DSS colitis and IBD [485]. PUMA can promote apoptosis and is upregulated in inflamed tissues. Anti-TNF treatment reduced PUMA expression and colonic epithelial apoptosis. In addition, PUMA-deficient mice were protected against DSS-mediated colitis, suggesting that epithelial apoptosis could play a role in inflammation. TNF can promote PUMA expression via NF κ B [486], thereby creating an alternate mechanism by which TNF can contribute to apoptosis independent of the death domains. Whether this has relevance to CAC remains to be determined, and it would be desirable to determine if TNFR1 mice have altered PUMA expression. While at the time point measured there was no difference in apoptosis between strains, it is possible that early in DSS treatment, or during the early healing response, differences in apoptosis could affect the development of tumors in knockout mice.

There is much emphasis on the activation of pro-carcinogenic transcription factors in CAC, however, TNF has other biological actions that could potentially contribute to tumor development. TNF has the ability to increase oxidative stress. TNF has been functionally linked, through the TNFR1, to NADPH oxidase [316]. TNF has been shown to prime neutrophils and induce ROS production [420]. Furthermore, TNF-induced activation of NF κ B can result in upregulation of Nox subunits, increasing the capacity of ROS production [311, 368]. Therefore, we hypothesized that TNF signaling would induce ROS production in infiltrating leukocytes, leading to oxidative damage within the tissues. While we were unable to source these ROS, we did find that TNFR1 mice had lower levels of an oxidative damage marker, 8-OHDG in the nuclei of colonic epithelial cells compared to WT.

TNF-mediated ROS production is not limited to Nox2. In the colon, ROS production can occur after a number of events. TNF can activate an enzyme called spermine oxidase [307], which is expressed and upregulated in infiltrating leukocytes in inflamed tissue in UC [421] along with the substrate polyamine, spermine [422]. Furthermore, exposure of HT-29 carcinoma cell line to *Bacteriodes fragilis* resulted in an increase in intracellular spermine oxidase, suggesting that it is present in both leukocytes and epithelial cells [423]. In addition to spermine oxidase, a second NADPH oxidase isoform, Nox1, has been implicated in colonic epithelial cell production of ROS [424]. Nox1 has been implicated in carcinogenesis and is overexpressed in colon cancer [425, 426]. TNF activates Nox1 during necrotic cell death in fibroblasts [318] and in the mouse colon [427]. Therefore, while oxidative stress can theoretically occur via TNF-activated ROS production by Nox2, there are other oxidative enzymes that may have contributed to the formation of 8-OHDG adducts in the nuclei of colonic epithelial cells.

The finding that TNFR1^{-/-} mice were protected from CAC and this was associated

with a reduced measure of oxidative damage prompted us to question directly the role of ROS produced by neutrophils and macrophages via the enzyme Nox2. Nox2^{-/-} mice lack the ability to produce ROS and are an animal model of chronic granulomatous disease. It was recently reported that Nox2^{-/-} mice had a markedly reduced colitis compared to WT [304]. This was associated with reduced tissue MPO expression in the early stages of colitis, suggesting that Nox2 contributes to inflammation. Our study suggested that there was a small, but statistically insignificant, difference in inflammation scores between WT and Nox2^{-/-} mice. We measured Ly6G⁺ cells in the colon as a measure of neutrophil infiltration, and again found a small but statistically insignificant reduction in neutrophil While not statistically significant, it is possible that it was biologically numbers. significant, as Nox2^{-/-} mice had reduced rates of cancer and less severe cancer measurements, such as tumor number. It is possible that in the absence of statistical significance, a slightly reduced inflammation in Nox2^{-/-} mice was enough to reduce the effect on cancer development after inflammation. A reduction in neutrophils could still have an impact on tumorigenesis despite a lack of Nox2, as neutrophils produce proinflammatory mediators such as cytokines and proteases that could contribute to tissue damage and epithelial proliferation [428].

In our Nox2^{-/-} experiments, colonic epithelial cells show similar levels of 8-OHDG between strains, suggesting that they encountered similar levels of oxidative damage. Thus, whether the inability of infiltrating leukocytes to produce ROS and a resultant reduced level of colonic epithelial damage is responsible for the decrease in cancer incidence is not clear. This is inconsistent with the idea that the main producers of oxidative radicals during inflammation are Nox2-expressing cells. There could be a number of possible explanations. First, there could be instrinsic ROS production as other ROS-producing enzymes are activated by inflammatory mediators within the colon, such as Nox1, abundant in the colon [384]. Instrinsic Nox1 activation is known to damage DNA [429, 430]. Second, there is potential for other ROS production to be increased in both infiltrating cells and epithelial cells, as p47^{-/-} neutrophils were reported as having a significantly increased stimulated nitric oxide production compared to WT cells [303]. iNOS has been shown to play an anti-inflammatory [431, 432] and a pro-inflammatory role [303] in experimental colitis. WT mice irradiated and reconstituted with iNOS^{-/-} bone marrow are protected against DSS and TNBS colitis, suggesting that leukocyte iNOS may have a pathogenic role in colitis [433]. Neutrophils were found to be major producers of iNOS [433]. It is possible that leukocytic iNOS can lead to inflammatory damage while epithelial/stromal iNOS could be more protective, and leukocyte NO production in the case of Nox2 deficiency could compensate for oxidative damage in epithelial cells. iNOS expression has been correlated with 8-OHDG expression, however, no definitive link has been reported [434].

Similar to models of colitis, the role of iNOS in CAC is not clear. It was reported that a nitric-oxide inhibitor was effective at reducing CAC in APC^{+/-} mice treated with DSS [435]. A second study found that iNOS deficiency did not affect the expression of CAC [436]. Double-deficient IL-10^{-/-}iNOS^{-/-} mice did not develop inflammation differently than IL-10^{-/-} mice, however, IL-10^{-/-}iNOS^{-/-} mice had greater cancer severity compared to IL-10^{-/-} mice, suggesting that iNOS served a protective role in the absence of IL-10 [437]. Interestingly, a protective role of NO has been described in the ability of NO to reduce damage by ROS by inhibiting NADPH oxidase [438]. It is possible that in the absence of NO these radicals can further damage the mucosa. All three studies used different models to evaluate the role of iNOS in CAC. As there is a complex interplay of both genetic and environmental factors (with the method of colitis induction being an environmental factor), it is difficult to compare these studies in a common context. Measuring iNOS and NO in our model would help clarify the interplay between ROS and nitric oxide. In addition, measuring nitrotyrosine would give another indicator of both oxidative and nitrosative damage, as nitrotyrosine is an oxidation product of peroxynitrite and measurable via immunoistochemistry or Western blot.

In addition to ROS-induced oxidative damage, TNF may lead to DNA damage by other mechanisms. One mechanism of note is the activation of cytidine deaminase. This enzyme removes the amino group from the cytidine base, altering it to uridine [480]. This causes DNA repair mechanisms to recognize the former cytidine as thymidine, leading to mutations changing the C:G base pair to T:A base pairs. This enzyme is crucial in the development of antibody diversity [480]. In CAC, increased levels of cytidine deaminase were detected in both inflamed epithelium and tumors. In a colonic epithelial cell line, TNF induced cytidine deaminase and this led to an increase in p53 mutations [480]. Therefore, it is possible that TNFR1 deficiency could affect the expression of cytidine deaminase, however, this has yet to be determined.

During my research, I became interested in the role that neutrophils played in tumor development. We observed high levels of Ly6G+ cells within tumors in all of the mouse strains within the dysplastic glandular crypts and tumor periphery, where Ly6G+ cells appeared to be migrating out of the tissue into the lumen. The involvement of these cells in tumors has been well-documented [275, 398, 439]. As they are a major infiltrate during colitis [440], it is possible that they contribute to tumorigenesis. We began to evaluate the role of neutrophils in colitis by depleting Ly6G+ cells during DSS treatment in C57BL/6 mice. Due to high clinical scores and weight loss, we were hesitant to continue with repeated DSS treatment in case of extreme morbidity and mortality. Another barrier to this study was whether we were depleting mature neutrophils, or whether we would be depleting myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), which have been shown to express Ly6G when they are of the granulocytic MDSC phenotype in mice [441]. Upon reflection, it would have been interesting to look at depleted Ly6G+, or Gr-1+ cells in a modified AOM+DSS model to determine a role for neutrophils that infiltrate in chronic colitis and their function in tumor development. In addition, earlier time points could be used to determine how neutrophils could function in the initial process of tumor development. Complications of this regimen, especially depletion over several cycles could potentially lead to problems with sepsis, and neutralizing antibody production [442]. In addition, the depletion of neutrophils would be transient, occurring only during DSS treatment, as after the discontinuance of the antibody treatment, mice began to show neutrophils in the blood, bone marrow and intestine again. Nevertheless, the finding that tissue damage is abated, yet clinical illness is more severe is an interesting finding and supports a dual role for neutrophils in infection and colitis.

While TNFR deficiency did not affect Ly6G+ cell migration into tumors, Nox2^{-/-} mice showed a reduction in tumor-associated neutrophils. It is possible that the neutrophil infiltration into tumors is indicative of the presence of MDSC. Nox2^{-/-} MDSC demonstrate an inability to suppress T-cell activity, suggesting that anti-tumor immunity in Nox2^{-/-} mice may be more effective, potentially explaining the reduced cancer incidence and severity we observed [443].

Whether neutrophils play a role in the development of tumors from healthy tissue needs to be investigated further. It has been demonstrated in clinical studies that intratumoral neutrophils are associated with a shorter, recurrence-free survival in those affected by clear cell renal-cell carcinoma [439]. It was also reported recently that neutrophils were present in high numbers in the peritumoral stroma in human hepatocarcinoma, and the number of neutrophils present was associated with a poor prognosis [276]. For example, head and neck tumor cells have been shown to produce macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF), leading to CXCR2-dependent neutrophil chemotaxis towards the tumor and MIF production was directly proportional to neutrophil infiltration into tumor tissue. Tumor-derived MIF led to MMP-9 production by neutrophils [274]. In vitro experiments revealed that neutrophils cultured in tumor-conditioned medium, as opposed to liver cell-conditioned medium, produced elevated levels of MMP-9. In addition, Ly6G+CD11b+ neutrophils can develop into a pro-tumorigenic phenotype dependent on TGF- β , demonstrated by reduced tumor growth after neutrophil depletion in mice [402]. Neutrophils can play a pro-tumorigenic role by secreting proinflammatory and angiogenic factors such as MMP-9 and several cytokines, as well as ROS that can damage cells and tissues, and contribute to oxidative stress and potentially contributing to DNA mutations. The contribution of neutrophil-derived ROS and oxidative stress remains unclear at present.

Relevance of the Model to Human Colitis-Associated Cancer

The model we have used to evaluate CAC has several advantages over other models. The use of DSS allows the control of the inflammation [77]. With this tool, we can mimic a remitting-recurring course of inflammation that occurs in both CD and UC. DSS is minimally invasive and does not place, other than inflammation and related complications, any extra stress on the animal. It does not require any genetic deficiencies, although genetics do play a role [75, 102, 444, 445], and can therefore be used to study the roles of different genes in the development of CAC without a preexisting genetic deficiency confounding the results. An example of this in the context of this study was the use of $Apc^{\min-/+}$ mice as a background strain to demonstrate CAC in TNF-deficient mice. The TNF deficiency did not alter the course of inflammation or cancer, which is contrary to what we, and others have found. In addition, APC mutations are a late occurrence in CAC, with the APC mutation being the major genetic change that occurs between dysplasia and carcinoma [13]. The APC gene product plays a role in cellcell adhesion and regulation of β -catenin signaling, which could have an impact in development. One major difference between inflammation as well as cancer

AOM+DSS-induced CAC and IBD-associated cancer is mutations of β -catenin. IBDassociated cancer tends to present mutations in *APC*, which occur in advanced dysplasia and carcinoma, and is thus a late event [57, 63], while in AOM+DSS-induced cancers these mutations more commonly occur in β -catenin [76]. Other reports suggest that β catenin and *APC* mutations are not common events in UC-associated cancers and are more involved in sporadic colon cancer [65]. Therefore differences between tumor phenotypes in the mouse model and human CAC may affect the efficacy of therapeutic interventions.

In AOM+DSS induced CAC, the relative frequency of chromosomal instable tumors has been reported as 81% [446], not that different from the 85% reported in IBD-associated cancers [49]. Another similarity between the mouse model and IBD-associated cancer is that in both our experiments and in IBD-associated cancers, dysplastic lesions and tumors tend to occur distally and not in the proximal colon [447]. In AOM+DSS associated cancers, several oncogenic genes are upregulated such as *MYC* and Wnt inhibitory factor [448]. IBD-associated cancers also show KRAS mutations [63], while *KRAS* mutations have not been reported in AOM+DSS. Inflammation-independent AOM-induced carcinogenesis, however, has been reported to produce mutations in many genes observed altered in IBD-associated cancer, specifically *KRAS*, suggesting that this is likely mutated in CAC as well [82]. Overall, much less is known about mutations that occur in the AOM+DSS model of colitis and if they reflect the genetic profiles of IBD-associated cancers.

In our experience, AOM+DSS-induced colitis does not cause invasive carcinomas at least during the regimen used in these studies. It is possible that with increased dose of AOM and longer periods between DSS treatments, this could occur. The molecular events determining invasive-carcinoma are not as well-understood in our model. The expression of p53 may be an indicator of advanced stage in this model, however mutations in p53 are not widely reported. Invasive carcinomas were described in AOM+DSS-treated mice lacking heat-shock protein 70, associated with an increased Cox-2 and iNOS expression as well as *p53* mutations in 2/5 tumors [449]. Positive immunostaining for p53 is associated with the severity of dysplasia, with more advanced dysplasia and carcinoma being positive for p53 [450, 451]. In murine DSS-only CAC, p53 immunostaining is not as common within tumors [78, 452], suggesting that p53

positivity is associated with AOM-induced mutations/alterations. p53 is a tumor suppressor activated when DNA damage or oxidative stress occurs, and regulates the function of DNA repair enzymes and can halt the cell cycle [453]. There is evidence that p53 can regulate genes involved in tumor invasion and progression, and loss of function of this gene may be important in determining the invasiveness in CAC. How this may correlate to invasiveness and positive immunostaining in CAC is unclear, although it could mean that overexpression of p53 occurs in response to cell stress but mutations render this protein non-functional. The lack of invavesiveness in the AOM+DSS model is definitely a disadvantage because tumors are not truly malignant until they can breach the submucosal barrier.

There are several limitations to this model that should be addressed. First, because water is fed *ad libitum*, the mice might receive variable doses of DSS. While group housing, and constant conditions will minimize this, this is a fact that we must consider and may explain some of the variation in inflammation observed within groups. In addition, the DSS batch could have variable composition. The molecular weights of the DSS polymers are variable, being 36,000-50,000, suggesting that a particular batch could have a more potent colitigenic action, as higher molecular weight DSS molecules are associated with a more robust inflammatory response [101]. Even the sulphur content of the DSS may be linked to the colitogenic properties of DSS [114] and this could explain the clinical illness differences between the TNFR^{-/-} and the Nox2^{-/-} studies in WT mice. It is possible that the sulphur content was different between lots, although this has not been specifically evaluated. Another limitation is that intestinal inflammation, after DSS administration, does not result in any measurable tumor development. AOM is required to induce DNA damage that can result in tumor development with inflammation acting as a promoter. Unlike inbred mice, humans are genetically heterogeneous, and our environment is not controlled therefore we are exposed to a number of toxins that could contribute to cancer development. Therefore, AOM essentially acts as that environmental factor.

Another difference between this model and IBD is that in IBD, anatomical location is an important risk factor for CAC [26]. In our model, despite lower levels of inflammation in the distal colon compared to the mid-colon, tumors were found in similar numbers in both the mid and distal colon. We would have predicted that due to the extent

of inflammation in the mid-colon, most of the tumors would have developed there. It is possible that the enzyme that catalyzes AOM was more bioactive or expressed at greater levels in the distal colonic epithelium, therefore requiring less inflammation to cause tumorigenesis. Another explanation is that inflammation was severe in the distal colon, but resolved at the time of our measurements. It is also possible that DSS feeding changed the microflora [99], changing the signaling patterns within the epithelium of the distal colon. A study evaluating colorectal cancer in MyD88-deficient mice found that in the absence of inflammation, this strain was less susceptible to tumorigenesis when crossed with the APC^{min-/+} strain [486], suggesting that signals induced by the microflora may play a role in tumorigenesis.

During consideration of a CRC model in the study design, the AOM+DSS model provided minimal invasiveness and maximum consistency, and the tools were available (mice with targeted mutations) to study the genes of interest. Overall, this model provides a good foundation upon which to evaluate the mechanisms of human CAC.

Limitations of Research

We were interested in complete TNF deficiency in the development of colitisassociated cancer. We treated TNFR1/TNFR2 double receptor knockout mice with 3% DSS for 5 days followed by 2 days of regular tap water to determine extent of colitis (Appendix B). In agreement with previous research done using TNF deficient mice [198], these mice became very ill and half had to be euthanized before the termination of the experiment. Therefore we could not continue this experiment to evaluate chronic colitis in these mice. Upon reflection, the doses and timing of AOM and DSS could have been altered to measure the effect of complete TNF deficiency on CAC. It could also have been possible to use these mice in a chimera model to evaluate tissue-specific TNF deficiency. It is possible that TNFR2 could play a role in cancer development under different circumstances.

We measured neutrophil numbers (Ly6G+ cells) as an indicator of relative inflammation severity. These numbers appeared to confirm our more subjective measures of inflammation severity, such as clinical score and histopathological scores. Nevertheless, a second objective measure of inflammation severity would have helped strengthen the data and overcome any biases that were present. Certainly the scale and relative weighting of each element may have some impact on our conclusions, in

particular with respect to the scale used to measure histological inflammation. The scale used to measure acute colitis may not be suitable to characterize chronic inflammation. In the chronic studies, especially the Nox2^{-/-} study, there were some situations where dysplastic tissue spanned the whole mid-colon. It was difficult to ascertain inflammation severity in those cases because it is not clear if the infiltrate that is present is a result of the tumor cells or inflammation, and instead is responsible for tumorigenesis.

There is a possibility that the secreted homotrimer lymphotoxin α 3, a membranebound member of the TNF superfamily, could affect TNF signaling, as it can interact with both TNFR1 and TNFR2. There is evidence that lymphotoxin α 3 promotes inflammation through TNFR1, as shown in transgenic mice overexpressing lymphotoxin α 3 in the kidney and pancreas then crossed with TNFR1 or TNFR2-deficient mice [482]. This has implications in our TNFR1-deficient model as the pathogenesis of AOM+DSS CAC could involve lymphotoxin α 3. We did not consider whether or not the protumorigenic effect of TNFR1 signaling is attributable to TNF or lymphotoxin α 3.

With respect to the chimera data, given that chronic inflammation was affected by the strain of the host and graft, it would have been desirable to look at acute inflammation in these mice. We would have predicted based on our acute studies using single receptor knockout mice that inflammation would not have been different between groups. While a complete TNFR1 deficiency might have little effect on clinical and pathological outcomes in acute colitis, further delineating where exactly TNFR1 might be more important would help our understanding of how TNF antagonists reduce colitis.

The chimera model has a confounding effect related to the extent of chimerism. Because we used donor bone marrow from male mice, we looked at Y-chromosome via *in situ* hybridization within the nuclei in both the spleen and the gut from chimeric mice. This method may not accurately reflect the extent of chimerism due to differences in the way that the section is cut. While 10µm sections were used, it is quite possible the Ychromosome was present in an area of the section not visualized on the slide. We were able to detect Y-chromosome in our samples, although we cannot accurately determine the proportion of cells that originate from donor cells. If we were to repeat this study, it would be more efficient and quantitative if we were to use congenic mice as wildtype mice and measure the congenic marker such as Thy 1.1 in bone-marrow-derived cells as a positive indicator of effective reconstitution. Alternatives to bone marrow chimeras exist, such as creating a targeted mutation under the control of a tissue-specific promoter could be used to specifically knock out the receptors in myeloid versus lymphoid tissue, or in mesenchymal or epithelial tissue. This could be beneficial irradiation and reconstitution, especially if it a knock-out mouse, will lead to a deficiency of the specific receptor in all non-hematopoietic cells. With a conditional knockout model, we could specifically remove the TNF receptors from the colonic epithelium or sub-epithelial myofibroblasts. It is of significance that targeted deletion is not absolute and could result in a leaky model, similar to the production of chimeras.

Our models used mice with TNFR deficiencies. These deficiencies affected cells of all systems. This could be particularly important in TNFR1 deficiency, where TNFR1 is reportedly widely expressed in most cell types. While we looked at bone marrow versus stromal expression of TNFR1 in experimental CAC, we did not look at the contribution of individual cell types. For example, inhibiting TNF specifically in macrophages reportedly reduces both TNBS and CD45RB+ colitis [454]. This could have implications in IBD as specifically targeting cells rather than broadly inhibiting an important inflammatory mediator might result in reduced side effects such as immunodeficiency.

While the TNF-dependent oxidative damage is implicated in this research, these studies did not definitively conclude that it originates from neutrophil-derived ROS or that it induced colonic epithelial cell carcinogenesis. In addition, there is no causative link to suggest that ROS-mediated damage is the link between inflammation and cancer in this model. There are challenges to working with neutrophils given that they are terminally differentiated and do not survive long enough for effective transfection to study receptor function. Research examining TNF receptors on neutrophils utilizing blocking antibodies [315] may have unintended side effects such as Fc receptor activation, complement activation, or non-specific binding.

The use of a knock-out model somewhat overcomes some of the limitations of using blocking antibodies, providing that the targeted mutation does not affect leukocyte development within the bone marrow. We used both bone-marrow derived granulocytes and mature granulocytes from a model of thioglycollate-induced peritonitis to detect ROS production after TNF treatment. TNF signaling can induce phosphorylation the p47 subunit of Nox2, which in effect primes NADPH oxidase [317, 420]. A second stimulus is required for full activation, such as adherence of the neutrophil leading to integrin activation [315, 455]. We were not able to measure ROS production in mouse neutrophils or macrophages, neither in bone marrow derived granulocytes, whole bone marrow, nor from activated neutrophils and macrophages from thioglycollate-induced peritonitis. After using three different methods to detect ROS production, including the use of dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (fluorescent), superoxide dismutaseinhibitable cytochrome C reduction (colorimetric), and the excitation of luminol (chemiluminscent), we were still unable to detect TNF-mediated production of ROS. Our positive control, PMA, was able to induce immediately detectable ROS production. In contrast to our findings, TNF-induced priming of murine bone-marrow-derived neutrophils via TNFR1 has been reported [456], therefore, it is still possible that TNF can contribute to neutrophil and macrophage-mediated oxidative stress. **TNF-priming** significantly enhanced superoxide radical production by a form of fMLP, a bacterial peptide that has a receptor in the mouse. The study by Onnheim et al., suggested that TNF priming through TNFR1 resulted in the mobilization of stored granular proteins such as the fMLP receptor in addition to the complement receptor 3 proteins [456], triggering a swift and strong ROS response after stimulation via the bacterial peptide. While we did not find an effect of TNF priming or priming via pther mediators on neutrophil ROS production in response to fMLP this does not rule out a role for the mouse analogue.

Future Directions

While we implicated TNF in oxidative stress, more research is needed to clarify if TNF plays a role in the production of ROS during inflammation. WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice could be treated with a dietary or injectable antioxidant. Caution would have to be taken that the antioxidant only acted to quench free radicals and did not have actions on inflammation. Several studies using antioxidants in similar models have found protection against the development of cancer after chronic inflammation [385, 387, 457, 458]. If the mechanism did involve TNF, one would expect that antioxidants would not be as effective in TNFR1^{-/-} mice as they would be in WT mice. Furthermore, using conditional knockouts could provide further insight into the role of TNFR1-mediated

oxidative stress via Nox2. A hematopoietic or mesenchymal Nox2/TNFR1 deficiency specifically in Nox2^{-/-} mice would provide a model in which we could investigate the contribution of bone-marrow-derived cells and/or subepithelial myofibroblasts in propagating oxidative damage to the epithelium.

Interestingly, TNFR2 deficiency did not greatly alter the course of colitis or colitis-associated cancer compared to WT mice. TNFR2 has been implicated as a costimulatory molecule on T-cells [210], in particular, a necessary mediator in the suppressive function of natural Treg [212, 213]. The involvement of Treg in colon carcinoma has not been extensively examined, although in contrast to other cancers, Treg may play a protective role. It has been shown that CD4⁺CD25⁺ T-cell adoptive transfer to RAG2^{-/-} mice treated with *H. hepaticus* not only reduced inflammation, but also colorectal cancer. In that case, Treg were protective [459]. Another study showed that $CD4^+CD25^+$ cells led to intestinal tumor regression in $Apc^{\min/+}$ mice in an IL-10dependent manner [460]. It would be interesting to measure Treg in this model of CAC and to determine if TNFR2 would have any impact on the development of colitis and/or cancer. It is possible that in TNFR1^{-/-} mice, there could be an increase in this T-cell subset and this could potentially reduce cancer incidence. We did not measure T-cells after our treatment regimen, which would have been interesting given TNFR1-/- mice have elevated IL-12 concentrations. IL-12 can reportedly alter the Treg phenotype, namely by inducing IFN expression by Treg, a phenotype associated with reduced colitis [461]. Whether this would have an effect on colitis-associated cancer is not known. It could be speculated that TNFR2 signaling could induce Treg development and in the presence of IL-12, Tregs could have an anti-tumor function in TNFR1^{-/-} mice.

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) γ is a nuclear receptor that regulates cytokine production and is potentially protective in CAC [253, 462]. PPAR agonists are shown to be protective in rodent models as well as UC [463-465]. In addition, PPAR γ deletion specifically in macrophages exacerbates colitis, suggesting a tissue-specific role [466]. Similarly, PPAR γ deletion specifically in the epithelium exacerbates colitis [467]. Treating IL-10^{-/-} mice with anti-TNF antibody was shown to increase growth hormone signaling and STAT5b activation, and subsequent colonic epithelial PPAR γ expression [190]. PPAR agonism could explain lower levels of cancer in TNFR1^{-/-} mice, as PPAR γ is known to protect against tumorigenesis in rodent models of CAC [253]. TNF was shown to inhibit PPAR γ by both reducing its transcription [468, 469] and reducing its DNA-binding activity in adipocytes [470], a function associated with NF κ B signaling. ERK and JNK have been shown to inhibit PPAR γ transcriptional activity, by phosphorylating sites directly on PPAR γ and both kinases are regulated by TNF [471]. One mechanism by which this may occur is through the TNF-induced nuclear translocation of histone deacetylase C3 (HDAC3), which is normally complexed with IkB α , but becomes disassociated from HDAC3 upon activation-induced degradation of IkB α . In 3T3-L1 adipocytes, treatment with TNF leads to HDAC3-mediated inhibition of PPAR γ transcription after nuclear translocation of HDAC3 [472].

As such, HDAC inhibitors are being studied for their use in cancer therapies. In experimental colitis, the oral administration of HDAC inhibitors valproic acid and suberyolanilide hydroxamic acid was shown to reduce measures of colitis in both TNBS and DSS-treated mice. This reduction in disease severity was associated with a hyperacetylation of histone within the inflamed colon [473]. HDAC inhibitors are described in the literature in the prevention of colitis-associated cancer [474, 475]. Measuring histone acetylation in our model would indicate whether HDAC inhibitor treatment would be beneficial. If TNFR1^{-/-} mice were treated with a HDAC inhibitor resulting in an increase in PPARγ activity, then this could be a mechanism by which TNFR1 is contributing to both inflammation and cancer. Likewise a PPARγ agonist could be used in TNFR1^{-/-} mice to determine if there is any additional benefit to activating PPARs and therefore any additional mechanisms by which TNFR1 contributes to cancer.

In Nox2^{-/-} mice, the mechanism by which Nox2 deficiency is protective against CAC development remains unknown. Given that Nox2^{-/-} tumors have a reduced Ly6G+ cell infiltration, it is tempting to speculate that MDSC are reduced, providing a mechanism for smaller tumors observed in this study. Measuring Gr-1+CD11b+ cells in these mice would be the first step in determining this, and I would hypothesize that they would be present in reduced numbers in Nox2^{-/-} mice. Then steps could be taken to reduce infiltration by these cells could be studied as a means of reducing tumors.

Significance of Research and Concluding Remarks

The importance of targeting TNF in IBD therapy is paramount, and numerous biological therapies have been developed to effectively reduce disease and improve

patient quality of life. Despite this, there is still a significant subset of IBD patients (between 25-40%) who do not respond or lose responsiveness to anti-TNF therapy [442]. This research based on a CAC model in the mouse, suggests that TNF antagonism might still be beneficial despite a lack of efficacy in reducing acute colitis symptoms in that it may reduce the risk of colon cancer in affected individuals. Colectomy is reportedly reduced in the year following treatment with Infliximab [24], yet with a reduction in colectomy rates, the risk of developing colorectal cancer could increase, especially if microscopic inflammation that might not produce clinical symptoms can contribute to cancer development.

We found that despite similar inflammation between WT and TNFR1^{-/-} mice, TNFR1^{-/-} mice were protected against cancer development. Likewise in BALB/c mice treated with Etanercept and Infliximab [243, 252], a reduction in tumor burden was found without a concurrent reduction in inflammation, respectively. Now, we confirmed that TNF blockade through TNFR1 independent of inflammation protects against cancer development, suggesting that the anti-tumor effect can be attributed to TNFR1. This lends significance to the continued use of Etanercept in IBD, which is reportedly ineffective [181], especially in patients that develop tolerance to other anti-TNF therapies. It also suggests that targeting TNFR1 specifically could be of clinical benefit in patients that elect not to get a colectomy, and this specific targeting may reduce the immunosuppressant properties of anti-TNF therapies.

This research is important because effective treatments are reducing the colectomy rate in ulcerative colitis [24] therefore even with reduced inflammation, there still might be a risk of cancer. There is evidence that Adalimumab can be used for maintenance therapy [476] and our data suggest might be beneficial in preventing CAC even if does not effectively treat inflammation in the subset of individuals who are unresponsive. More research is needed to clearly identify the cell types involved in this TNFR1-mediated response, as anti-TNF therapy may in the future be better able to specifically target cells to reduce undesirable side effects like increased susceptibility to infection and lymphomas associated with immunocompromised states.

APPENDIX A: Letters of Copyright Permission

Rightslink Printable License https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?pub... 1 of 5

11-08-03 12:06 PM

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This is a License Agreement between RoseMarie Stillie ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number License date Licensed content publisher Licensed content publication Licensed content title

Licensed content author Licensed content date Start page End page Type of use Requestor type Format Portion

Will you be translating? Order reference number Total Terms and Conditions **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

2721401036597

Aug 03, 2011 John Wiley and Sons

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Role of TNF receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2, in dextran sodium sulfate- induced colitis

RoseMarie Stillie, Andrew W. Stadnyk Oct 1, 2009 1515 1525

Dissertation/Thesis Author of this Wiley article Print Full article No

0.00 USD

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a "Wiley Company") or a society for whom a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular journal (collectively WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com)

Aug 03, 2011

Rightslink Printable License https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?pub...

2 of 5

11-08-03 12:06 PM

Terms and Conditions

1. The materials you have requested permission to reproduce (the "Materials") are protected by copyright.

2. You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process. Any form of republication granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before may be distributed thereafter). The Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Material. Any third party material is expressly excluded from this permission.

3. With respect to the Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed

by the Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Materials, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person. 4. The Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc or one of its related companies (WILEY) or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

5. NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.

6. WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.

7. You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you. 8. IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT,

Rightslink Printable License https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?pub... 3 of 5

11-08-03 12:06 PM

EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

9. Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.

10. The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.

11. This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.

12. Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt.

13. These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

14. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.

15. WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.16. This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was

misrepresented during the licensing process. 17. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

Rightslink Printable License https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?pub... 4 of 5

11-08-03 12:06 PM

Wiley Open Access Terms and Conditions

All research articles published in Wiley Open Access journals are fully open access: immediately freely available to read, download and share. Articles are published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License. which permits use, distribution and

reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes. The license is subject to the Wiley Open Access terms and conditions: Wiley Open Access articles are protected by copyright and are posted to repositories and websites in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License. At

the time of deposit, Wiley Open Access articles include all changes made during peer review, copyediting, and publishing. Repositories and websites that host the article are responsible for incorporating any publisher-supplied amendments or retractions issued subsequently. Wiley Open Access articles are also available without charge on Wiley's publishing platform, **Wiley Online Library** or any successor sites.

Use by non-commercial users

For non-commercial and non-promotional purposes individual users may access, download, copy, display and redistribute to colleagues Wiley Open Access articles, as well as adapt, translate, text- and data-mine the content subject to the following conditions:

The authors' moral rights are not compromised. These rights include the right of "paternity" (also known as "attribution" - the right for the author to be identified as such) and "integrity" (the right for the author not to have the work altered in such a way that the author's reputation or integrity may be impugned).

Where content in the article is identified as belonging to a third party, it is the obligation of the user to ensure that any reuse complies with the copyright policies of the owner of that content.

If article content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for non-commercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation (authors, journal, article title, volume, issue, page numbers, DOI and the link to the definitive published version on Wiley Online Library) should be maintained. Copyright notices and disclaimers must not be deleted.

Any translations, for which a prior translation agreement with Wiley has not been agreed, must prominently display the statement: "This is an unofficial translation of an article that appeared in a Wiley publication. The publisher has not endorsed this translation." Use by commercial "for-profit" organisations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Commercial

purposes include:

Copying or downloading of articles, or linking to such articles for further redistribution, sale or licensing;

Copying, downloading or posting by a site or service that incorporates advertising with such content;

Rightslink Printable Licensehttps://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?pub...5 of 5

11-08-03 12:06 PM

The inclusion or incorporation of article content in other works or services (other than normal quotations with an appropriate citation) that is then available for sale or licensing, for a fee (for example, a compilation produced for marketing purposes, inclusion in a sales pack)

Use of article content (other than normal quotations with appropriate citation) by forprofit organisations for promotional purposes

Linking to article content in e-mails redistributed for promotional, marketing or educational purposes;

Use for the purposes of monetary reward by means of sale, resale, licence, loan, transfer or other form of commercial exploitation such as marketing products

Print reprints of Wiley Open Access articles can be purchased from:

corporatesales@wiley.com

Other Terms and Conditions:

BY CLICKING ON THE "I AGREE..." BOX, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH OF THE SECTIONS OF AND PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT YOU ARE IN AGREEMENT WITH AND ARE WILLING TO ACCEPT ALL OF YOUR OBLIGATIONS AS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT.

v1.7

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 48 hours of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this invoice number RLNK11031649.

Once you receive your invoice for this order, you may pay your invoice by credit card. Please follow instructions provided at that time.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center Dept 001 P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

For suggestions or comments regarding this order, contact Rightslink Customer Support: customercare@copyright.com or +1-877-622-5543 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.



TNFR1/2

90 85 80

75

APPENDIX B: Double-TNF Receptor-Deficient mice and Acute DSS Colitis



WT and TNFR double receptor knockout (TNFR) mice were subjected to the acute DSS colitis regime as described in Chapter 2. Figures 1 and 2 show the percent weight loss in both strains, with a significantly greater weight loss and clinical scores, respectively, occurring in TNFR-/mice. Figures 3 and 4 depict histological damage (magnification 100x) in the mid-colon in WT (3) and TNFR^{-/-} (4), respectively. These experiments were not included in Chapter 3 due to a potential difference in background strains. The TNFR mice were only backcrossed onto C57BL/6 mice for 3 generations.

APPENDIX C: Correlation Between Inflammation Severity and Tumor Sizes and Multiplicity in WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} Mice



r²=NS

The number of tumors per colon, and the size of tumors in the colon did not correlate with the severity of inflammation in the mid-colon or distal colons in WT, $TNFR1^{-/-}$ and $TNFR2^{-/-}$ mice. NS=not significant.

APPENDIX D: Y-Chromosome Detection in Bone-Marrow Chimeric Mice.



Magnification 1000x oil immersion

Female mice were irradiated and reconstituted with bone marrow derived from male donors. To determing engraftment, Y chromosome staining was detected by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemical methods (DAB). Nuclei positive for the Y-chromosome show dark brown spots (denoted by white and black arrows).

APPENDIX E: TNF-Stimulated Reactive Oxygen Species Production in Neutrophils

Oxygen radical production by mouse PMN adhered to fibrinogen derived from thioglycollate-induced peritonitis



TNF=50 ng/ml PMN=3x10⁶ cells/ml

Mice were administered 1 ml of sterile thioglycollate I.P for 4 hours (neutrophils) or 4 days (macrophages) to induce peritonitis. After 4 hours or 4 days, mice were euthanized via CO_2 inhalation and a peritoneal lavage was performed to remove cells from the peritoneal cavity. The above figure depicts neutrophil (approximately 88% purity) ROS production after adherence to fibrinogen and PMA or TNF stimulation from WT or TNFR1^{-/-} mice in triplicate. Luminol was added prior to stimulation and chemiluminescence was measured on a Veritas Luminometre. This is a representative graph from at least 3 experiments. This experiment was also performed with fibronectin coated wells, and with different stimulants such as CXCL2, fMLP, LPS, combined with TNF or on their own. Except for PMA, we did not find any ROS production after stimulation. Significance was determined using a repeated measures ANOVA (p<0.05) over time.

References

1. Coussens, L. M., Werb, Z. (2002) Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 420, 860-867.

2. Schmidt, A., Weber, O. F. (2006) In memoriam of Rudolf virchow: a historical retrospective including aspects of inflammation, infection and neoplasia. *Contrib.Microbiol.* **13**, 1-15.

3. Balkwill, F., Mantovani, A. (2001) Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow?. *Lancet.* **357**, 539-545.

4. Engel, L. S., Chow, W. H., Vaughan, T. L., Gammon, M. D., Risch, H. A., Stanford, J. L., Schoenberg, J. B., Mayne, S. T., Dubrow, R., Rotterdam, H., West, A. B., Blaser, M., Blot, W. J., Gail, M. H., Fraumeni, J. F., Jr. (2003) Population attributable risks of esophageal and gastric cancers. *J.Natl.Cancer Inst.* **95**, 1404-1413.

5. Forman, D., Newell, D. G., Fullerton, F., Yarnell, J. W., Stacey, A. R., Wald, N., Sitas, F. (1991) Association between infection with Helicobacter pylori and risk of gastric cancer: evidence from a prospective investigation. *BMJ*. **302**, 1302-1305.

6. Bernstein, C. N., Wajda, A., Svenson, L. W., MacKenzie, A., Koehoorn, M., Jackson, M., Fedorak, R., Israel, D., Blanchard, J. F. (2006) The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.* **101**, 1559-1568.

7. Strober, W., Kitani, A., Fuss, I., Asano, N., Watanabe, T. (2008) The molecular basis of NOD2 susceptibility mutations in Crohn's disease. *Mucosal Immunol.* **1 Suppl 1**, S5-9.

8. Fritz, T., Niederreiter, L., Adolph, T., Blumberg, R. S., Kaser, A. (2011) Crohn's disease: NOD2, autophagy and ER stress converge. *Gut.* **60**, 1580-8.

9. Kaser, A., Zeissig, S., Blumberg, R. S. (2010) Inflammatory bowel disease. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* **28**, 573-621.

10. Hanauer, S. B., Hommes, D. W. (2010) Inflammatory bowel disease. *Expert Rev. Clin.Immunol.* **6**, 499-500.

11. Singh, S., Blanchard, A., Walker, J. R., Graff, L. A., Miller, N., Bernstein, C. N. (2011) Common Symptoms and Stressors Among Individuals With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **9**, 769-75.

12. Crohn, B. B., Rosenberg, H. (1925) The sigmoidoscopic picture of chronic ulcerative colitis (non-specific). *Am. J. Med. Sci.* **170**, 220.

13. Itzkowitz, S. H., Yio, X. (2004) Inflammation and cancer IV. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: the role of inflammation. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* **287**, G7-17.

14. Rutter, M., Saunders, B., Wilkinson, K., Rumbles, S., Schofield, G., Kamm, M., Williams, C., Price, A., Talbot, I., Forbes, A. (2004) Severity of inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **126**, 451-459.

15. Choi, P. M., Zelig, M. P. (1994) Similarity of colorectal cancer in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: implications for carcinogenesis and prevention. *Gut.* **35**, 950-954.

16. Kiran, R. P., Khoury, W., Church, J. M., Lavery, I. C., Fazio, V. W., Remzi, F. H. (2010) Colorectal cancer complicating inflammatory bowel disease: similarities and differences between Crohn's and ulcerative colitis based on three decades of experience. *Ann.Surg.* **252**, 330-335.

17. von Roon, A. C., Reese, G., Teare, J., Constantinides, V., Darzi, A. W., Tekkis, P. P. (2007) The risk of cancer in patients with Crohn's disease. *Dis.Colon Rectum.* **50**, 839-855.

18. Weedon, D. D., Shorter, R. G., Ilstrup, D. M., Huizenga, K. A., Taylor, W. F. (1973) Crohn's disease and cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* **289**, 1099-1103.

19. Gillen, C. D., Walmsley, R. S., Prior, P., Andrews, H. A., Allan, R. N. (1994) Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a comparison of the colorectal cancer risk in extensive colitis. *Gut.* **35**, 1590-1592.

20. Canavan, C., Abrams, K. R., Mayberry, J. (2006) Meta-analysis: colorectal and small bowel cancer risk in patients with Crohn's disease. *Aliment.Pharmacol.Ther.* **23**, 1097-1104.

21. Rutter, M. D., Saunders, B. P., Wilkinson, K. H., Rumbles, S., Schofield, G., Kamm, M. A., Williams, C. B., Price, A. B., Talbot, I. C., Forbes, A. (2006) Thirty-year analysis of a colonoscopic surveillance program for neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **130**, 1030-1038.

22. Eaden, J. A., Abrams, K. R., Mayberry, J. F. (2001) The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut.* **48**, 526-535.

23. Gyde, S., Prior, P., Dew, M. J., Saunders, V., Waterhouse, J. A., Allan, R. N. (1982) Mortality in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **83**, 36-43.

24. Sandborn, W. J., Rutgeerts, P., Feagan, B. G., Reinisch, W., Olson, A., Johanns, J., Lu, J., Horgan, K., Rachmilewitz, D., Hanauer, S. B., Lichtenstein, G. R., de Villiers, W. J., Present, D., Sands, B. E., Colombel, J. F. (2009) Colectomy rate comparison after treatment of ulcerative colitis with placebo or infliximab. *Gastroenterology*. **137**, 1250-60.

25. Duricova, D., Pedersen, N., Elkjaer, M., Gamborg, M., Munkholm, P., Jess, T. (2010) Overall and cause-specific mortality in Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **16**, 347-353.

26. Pedersen, N., Duricova, D., Elkjaer, M., Gamborg, M., Munkholm, P., Jess, T. (2010) Risk of Extra-Intestinal Cancer in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Meta-Analysis of Population-Based Cohort Studies. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.***105**, 1480-1487.

27. Askling, J., Fahrbach, K., Nordstrom, B., Ross, S., Schmid, C. H., Symmons, D. (2011) Cancer risk with tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF) inhibitors: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of adalimumab, etanercept, and infliximab using patient level data. *Pharmacoepidemiol.Drug Saf.* **20**, 119-130.

28. Morson, B. (1974) President's address. The polyp-cancer sequence in the large bowel. *Proc.R.Soc.Med.* **67**, 451-457.

Wood, L. D., Parsons, D. W., Jones, S., Lin, J., Sjoblom, T., Leary, R. J., Shen, D., Boca, S. M., Barber, T., Ptak, J., Silliman, N., Szabo, S., Dezso, Z., Ustyanksky, V., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Karchin, R., Wilson, P. A., Kaminker, J. S., Zhang, Z., Croshaw, R., Willis, J., Dawson, D., Shipitsin, M., Willson, J. K., Sukumar, S., Polyak, K., Park, B. H., Pethiyagoda, C. L., Pant, P. V., Ballinger, D. G., Sparks, A. B., Hartigan, J., Smith, D. R., Suh, E., Papadopoulos, N., Buckhaults, P., Markowitz, S. D., Parmigiani, G., Kinzler, K. W., Velculescu, V. E., Vogelstein, B. (2007) The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science*. 318, 1108-1113.

30. Lin, J., Gan, C. M., Zhang, X., Jones, S., Sjoblom, T., Wood, L. D., Parsons, D. W., Papadopoulos, N., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Parmigiani, G., Velculescu, V. E. (2007) A multidimensional analysis of genes mutated in breast and colorectal cancers. *Genome Res.* **17**, 1304-1318.

31. Fearon, E. R., Vogelstein, B. (1990) A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell.* **61**, 759-767.

32. Pino, M. S., Chung, D. C. (2010) The chromosomal instability pathway in colon cancer. *Gastroenterology*. **138**, 2059-2072.

33. Loeb, L. A., Loeb, K. R., Anderson, J. P. (2003) Multiple mutations and cancer. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **100**, 776-781.

34. Wang, Z., Cummins, J. M., Shen, D., Cahill, D. P., Jallepalli, P. V., Wang, T. L., Parsons, D. W., Traverso, G., Awad, M., Silliman, N., Ptak, J., Szabo, S., Willson, J. K., Markowitz, S. D., Goldberg, M. L., Karess, R., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Velculescu, V. E., Lengauer, C. (2004) Three classes of genes mutated in colorectal cancers with chromosomal instability. *Cancer Res.* **64**, 2998-3001.

35. Barker, N., Clevers, H. (2010) Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptors as markers of adult stem cells. *Gastroenterology*. **138**, 1681-1696.

36. Barker, N., Ridgway, R. A., van Es, J. H., van de Wetering, M., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Danenberg, E., Clarke, A. R., Sansom, O. J., Clevers, H. (2009) Crypt stem cells as the cellsof-origin of intestinal cancer. *Nature*. **457**, 608-611.

37. Toyota, M., Ahuja, N., Ohe-Toyota, M., Herman, J. G., Baylin, S. B., Issa, J. P. (1999) CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **96**, 8681-8686.

38. Kane, M. F., Loda, M., Gaida, G. M., Lipman, J., Mishra, R., Goldman, H., Jessup, J. M., Kolodner, R. (1997) Methylation of the hMLH1 promoter correlates with lack of expression of hMLH1 in sporadic colon tumors and mismatch repair-defective human tumor cell lines. *Cancer Res.* **57**, 808-811.

39. Veigl, M. L., Kasturi, L., Olechnowicz, J., Ma, A. H., Lutterbaugh, J. D., Periyasamy, S., Li, G. M., Drummond, J., Modrich, P. L., Sedwick, W. D., Markowitz, S. D. (1998) Biallelic inactivation of hMLH1 by epigenetic gene silencing, a novel mechanism causing human MSI cancers. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **95**, 8698-8702.

40. Hampel, H., Frankel, W. L., Martin, E., Arnold, M., Khanduja, K., Kuebler, P., Nakagawa, H., Sotamaa, K., Prior, T. W., Westman, J., Panescu, J., Fix, D., Lockman, J., Comeras, I., de la Chapelle, A. (2005) Screening for the Lynch syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer). *N.Engl.J.Med.* **352**, 1851-1860.

41. Ionov, Y., Peinado, M. A., Malkhosyan, S., Shibata, D., Perucho, M. (1993) Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature*. **363**, 558-561.

42. Phillips, S. M., Banerjea, A., Feakins, R., Li, S. R., Bustin, S. A., Dorudi, S. (2004) Tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes in colorectal cancer with microsatellite instability are activated and cytotoxic. *Br.J.Surg.* **91**, 469-475.

43. Elsaleh, H., Iacopetta, B. (2001) Microsatellite instability is a predictive marker for survival benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy in a population-based series of stage III colorectal carcinoma. *Clin.Colorectal Cancer.* **1**, 104-109.

44. Parc, Y., Gueroult, S., Mourra, N., Serfaty, L., Flejou, J. F., Tiret, E., Parc, R. (2004) Prognostic significance of microsatellite instability determined by immunohistochemical staining of MSH2 and MLH1 in sporadic T3N0M0 colon cancer. *Gut.* **53**, 371-375.

45. Silver, A., Sengupta, N., Propper, D., Wilson, P., Hagemann, T., Patel, A., Parker, A., Ghosh, A., Feakins, R., Dorudi, S., Suraweera, N. (2011) A distinct DNA methylation profile associated with microsatellite and chromosomal stable sporadic colorectal cancers. *Int.J.Cancer*. Mar 31. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26104. [Epub ahead of print]

46. Kulis, M., Esteller, M. (2010) DNA methylation and cancer. Adv. Genet. 70, 27-56.

47. Goelz, S. E., Vogelstein, B., Hamilton, S. R., Feinberg, A. P. (1985) Hypomethylation of DNA from benign and malignant human colon neoplasms. *Science*. **228**, 187-190.

48. Ostler, K. R., Davis, E. M., Payne, S. L., Gosalia, B. B., Exposito-Cespedes, J., Le Beau, M. M., Godley, L. A. (2007) Cancer cells express aberrant DNMT3B transcripts encoding truncated proteins. *Oncogene*. **26**, 5553-5563.

49. Willenbucher, R. F., Aust, D. E., Chang, C. G., Zelman, S. J., Ferrell, L. D., Moore, D. H., 2nd, Waldman, F. M. (1999) Genomic instability is an early event during the progression pathway of ulcerative-colitis-related neoplasia. *Am.J.Pathol.* **154**, 1825-1830.

50. Tahara, T., Shibata, T., Nakamura, M., Okubo, M., Yamashita, H., Yoshioka, D., Yonemura, J., Hirata, I., Arisawa, T. (2011) Association between polymorphisms in the XRCC1 and GST genes, and CpG island methylation status in colonic mucosa in ulcerative colitis. *Virchows Arch.* **458**, 205-211.

51. Tahara, T., Shibata, T., Nakamura, M., Okubo, M., Yamashita, H., Yoshioka, D., Yonemura, J., Kmiya, Y., Ishizuka, T., Fujita, H., Nagasaka, M., Yamada, H., Hirata, I., Arisawa, T. (2011) Host genetic factors, related to inflammatory response, influence the CpG island methylation status in colonic mucosa in ulcerative colitis. *Anticancer Res.* **31**, 933-938.

52. Issa, J. P., Ahuja, N., Toyota, M., Bronner, M. P., Brentnall, T. A. (2001) Accelerated agerelated CpG island methylation in ulcerative colitis. *Cancer Res.* **61**, 3573-3577. 53. Konishi, K., Shen, L., Wang, S., Meltzer, S. J., Harpaz, N., Issa, J. P. (2007) Rare CpG island methylator phenotype in ulcerative colitis-associated neoplasias. *Gastroenterology*. **132**, 1254-1260.

54. Sanchez, J. A., Dejulius, K. L., Bronner, M., Church, J. M., Kalady, M. F. (2011) Relative role of methylator and tumor suppressor pathways in ulcerative colitis-associated colon cancer. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **17**, 1966-1970.

55. Watanabe, T., Konishi, T., Kishimoto, J., Kotake, K., Muto, T., Sugihara, K., Japanese Society for Cancer of the Colon and Rectum. (2011) Ulcerative colitis-associated colorectal cancer shows a poorer survival than sporadic colorectal cancer: a nationwide Japanese study. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **17**, 802-808.

56. Counsell, P. B., Dukes, C. E. (1952) The association of chronic ulcerative colitis and carcinoma of the rectum and colon. *Br.J.Surg.* **39**, 485-495.

57. Kern, S. E., Redston, M., Seymour, A. B., Caldas, C., Powell, S. M., Kornacki, S., Kinzler, K. W. (1994) Molecular genetic profiles of colitis-associated neoplasms. *Gastroenterology*. **107**, 420-428.

58. Rubin, C. E., Haggitt, R. C., Burmer, G. C., Brentnall, T. A., Stevens, A. C., Levine, D. S., Dean, P. J., Kimmey, M., Perera, D. R., Rabinovitch, P. S. (1992) DNA aneuploidy in colonic biopsies predicts future development of dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **103**, 1611-1620.

59. Soderlund, S., Tribukait, B., Ost, A., Brostrom, O., Karlen, P., Lofberg, R., Askling, J., Sjoqvist, U. (2010) Colitis-associated DNA aneuploidy and dysplasia in Crohn's disease and risk of colorectal cancer. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* 17,1101-1107.

60. Brentnall, T. A., Crispin, D. A., Rabinovitch, P. S., Haggitt, R. C., Rubin, C. E., Stevens, A. C., Burmer, G. C. (1994) Mutations in the p53 gene: an early marker of neoplastic progression in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **107**, 369-378.

61. Burmer, G. C., Rabinovitch, P. S., Haggitt, R. C., Crispin, D. A., Brentnall, T. A., Kolli, V. R., Stevens, A. C., Rubin, C. E. (1992) Neoplastic progression in ulcerative colitis: histology, DNA content, and loss of a p53 allele. *Gastroenterology*. **103**, 1602-1610.

62. Yin, J., Harpaz, N., Tong, Y., Huang, Y., Laurin, J., Greenwald, B. D., Hontanosas, M., Newkirk, C., Meltzer, S. J. (1993) P53 Point Mutations in Dysplastic and Cancerous Ulcerative Colitis Lesions. *Gastroenterology*. **104**, 1633-1639.

63. Redston, M. S., Papadopoulos, N., Caldas, C., Kinzler, K. W., Kern, S. E. (1995) Common occurrence of APC and K-ras gene mutations in the spectrum of colitis-associated neoplasias. *Gastroenterology*. **108**, 383-392.

64. Powell, S. M., Zilz, N., Beazer-Barclay, Y., Bryan, T. M., Hamilton, S. R., Thibodeau, S. N., Vogelstein, B., Kinzler, K. W. (1992) APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumorigenesis. *Nature*. **359**, 235-237.

65. Aust, D. E., Terdiman, J. P., Willenbucher, R. F., Chang, C. G., Molinaro-Clark, A., Baretton, G. B., Loehrs, U., Waldman, F. M. (2002) The APC/beta-catenin pathway in ulcerative colitis-related colorectal carcinomas: a mutational analysis. *Cancer.* **94**, 1421-1427.

66. Tarmin, L., Yin, J., Harpaz, N., Kozam, M., Noordzij, J., Antonio, L. B., Jiang, H. Y., Chan, O., Cymes, K., Meltzer, S. J. (1995) Adenomatous polyposis coli gene mutations in ulcerative colitis-associated dysplasias and cancers versus sporadic colon neoplasms. *Cancer Res.* **55**, 2035-2038.

67. Chaubert, P., Benhattar, J., Saraga, E., Costa, J. (1994) K-ras mutations and p53 alterations in neoplastic and nonneoplastic lesions associated with longstanding ulcerative colitis. *Am.J.Pathol.* **144**, 767-775.

68. Sturlan, S., Oberhuber, G., Beinhauer, B. G., Tichy, B., Kappel, S., Wang, J., Rogy, M. A. (2001) Interleukin-10-deficient mice and inflammatory bowel disease associated cancer development. *Carcinogenesis.* 22, 665-671.

69. Yamada, M., Ohkusa, T., Okayasu, I. (1992) Occurrence of dysplasia and adenocarcinoma after experimental chronic ulcerative colitis in hamsters induced by dextran sulphate sodium. *Gut.* **33**, 1521-1527.

70. Tamaru, T., Kobayashi, H., Kishimoto, S., Kajiyama, G., Shimamoto, F., Brown, W. R. (1993) Histochemical study of colonic cancer in experimental colitis of rats. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **38**, 529-537.

71. Okayasu, I., Yamada, M., Mikami, T., Yoshida, T., Kanno, J., Ohkusa, T. (2002) Dysplasia and carcinoma development in a repeated dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis model. *J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **17**, 1078-1083.

72. Kullmann, F., Messmann, H., Alt, M., Gross, V., Bocker, T., Scholmerich, J., Ruschoff, J. (2001) Clinical and histopathological features of dextran sulfate sodium induced acute and chronic colitis associated with dysplasia in rats. *Int.J.Colorectal Dis.* **16**, 238-246.

73. Seril, D. N., Liao, J., Ho, K. L., Warsi, A., Yang, C. S., Yang, G. Y. (2002) Dietary iron supplementation enhances DSS-induced colitis and associated colorectal carcinoma development in mice. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **47**, 1266-1278.

74. Wang, J. G., Wang, D. F., Lv, B. J., Si, J. M. (2004) A novel mouse model for colitisassociated colon carcinogenesis induced by 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and dextran sulfate sodium. *World J.Gastroenterol.* **10**, 2958-2962.

75. Suzuki, R., Kohno, H., Sugie, S., Nakagama, H., Tanaka, T. (2006) Strain differences in the susceptibility to azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate-induced colon carcinogenesis in mice. *Carcinogenesis.* **27**, 162-169.

76. Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Sugie, S., Tanaka, T. (2005) Beta-Catenin mutations in a mouse model of inflammation-related colon carcinogenesis induced by 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and dextran sodium sulfate. *Cancer.Sci.* **96**, 69-76.

77. Suzuki, R., Kohno, H., Sugie, S., Tanaka, T. (2005) Dose-dependent promoting effect of dextran sodium sulfate on mouse colon carcinogenesis initiated with azoxymethane. *Histol.Histopathol.* **20**, 483-492.

78. Cooper, H. S., Murthy, S., Kido, K., Yoshitake, H., Flanigan, A. (2000) Dysplasia and cancer in the dextran sulfate sodium mouse colitis model. Relevance to colitis-associated neoplasia in the human: a study of histopathology, B-catenin and p53 expression and the role of inflammation. *Carcinogenesis.* **21**, 757-768.

79. Okayasu, I., Ohkusa, T., Kajiura, K., Kanno, J., Sakamoto, S. (1996) Promotion of colorectal neoplasia in experimental murine ulcerative colitis. *Gut.* **39**, 87-92.

80. Sohn, O. S., Fiala, E. S., Requeijo, S. P., Weisburger, J. H., Gonzalez, F. J. (2001) Differential effects of CYP2E1 status on the metabolic activation of the colon carcinogens azoxymethane and methylazoxymethanol. *Cancer Res.* **61**, 8435-8440.

81. O'Toole, S. M., Pegg, A. E., Swenberg, J. A. (1993) Repair of O6-methylguanine and O4-methylthymidine in F344 rat liver following treatment with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and O6-benzylguanine. *Cancer Res.* **53**, 3895-3898.

82. Chen, J., Huang, X. F. (2009) The signal pathways in azoxymethane-induced colon cancer and preventive implications. *Cancer.Biol.Ther.* **8**, 1313-1317.

83. Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Hata, K., Sugie, S., Niho, N., Sakano, K., Takahashi, M., Wakabayashi, K. (2006) Dextran sodium sulfate strongly promotes colorectal carcinogenesis in Apc(Min/+) mice: inflammatory stimuli by dextran sodium sulfate results in development of multiple colonic neoplasms. *Int.J. Cancer.* **118**, 25-34.

84. Cooper, H. S., Everley, L., Chang, W. C., Pfeiffer, G., Lee, B., Murthy, S., Clapper, M. L. (2001) The role of mutant Apc in the development of dysplasia and cancer in the mouse model of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **121**, 1407-1416.

85. Kohonen-Corish, M. R., Daniel, J. J., te Riele, H., Buffinton, G. D., Dahlstrom, J. E. (2002) Susceptibility of Msh2-deficient mice to inflammation-associated colorectal tumors. *Cancer Res.* **62**, 2092-2097.

86. Fujii, S., Fujimori, T., Kawamata, H., Takeda, J., Kitajima, K., Omotehara, F., Kaihara, T., Kusaka, T., Ichikawa, K., Ohkura, Y., Ono, Y., Imura, J., Yamaoka, S., Sakamoto, C., Ueda, Y., Chiba, T. (2004) Development of colonic neoplasia in p53 deficient mice with experimental colitis induced by dextran sulphate sodium. *Gut.* **53**, 710-716.

87. Scheiffele, F., Fuss, I. J. (2002) Induction of TNBS colitis in mice. *Curr.Protoc.Immunol.* **Chapter 15**, Unit 15.19.

88. te Velde, A. A., Verstege, M. I., Hommes, D. W. (2006) Critical appraisal of the current practice in murine TNBS-induced colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **12**, 995-999.

89. Santiago, C., Pagan, B., Isidro, A. A., Appleyard, C. B. (2007) Prolonged chronic inflammation progresses to dysplasia in a novel rat model of colitis-associated colon cancer. *Cancer Res.* **67**, 10766-10773.

90. Cooper, H. S., Murthy, S. N., Shah, R. S., Sedergran, D. J. (1993) Clinicopathologic study of dextran sulfate sodium experimental murine colitis. *Lab.Invest.* **69**, 238-249.

91. Dieleman, L. A., Ridwan, B. U., Tennyson, G. S., Beagley, K. W., Bucy, R. P., Elson, C. O. (1994) Dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis occurs in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Gastroenterology*. **107**, 1643-1652.

92. Okayasu, I., Hatakeyama, S., Yamada, M., Ohkusa, T., Inagaki, Y., Nakaya, R. (1990) A novel method in the induction of reliable experimental acute and chronic ulcerative colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology*. **98**, 694-702.

93. Boismenu, R., Chen, Y. (2000) Insights from mouse models of colitis. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **67**, 267-278.

94. Alex, P., Zachos, N. C., Nguyen, T., Gonzales, L., Chen, T. E., Conklin, L. S., Centola, M., Li, X. (2009) Distinct cytokine patterns identified from multiplex profiles of murine DSS and TNBS-induced colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **15**, 341-352.

95. Kitajima, S., Takuma, S., Morimoto, M. (1999) Tissue distribution of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) in the acute phase of murine DSS-induced colitis. *J.Vet.Med.Sci.* **61**, 67-70.

96. Hans, W., Scholmerich, J., Gross, V., Falk, W. (2000) The role of the resident intestinal flora in acute and chronic dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Eur.J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **12**, 267-273.

97. Kitajima, S., Morimoto, M., Sagara, E. (2002) A model for dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)induced mouse colitis: bacterial degradation of DSS does not occur after incubation with mouse cecal contents. *Exp.Anim.* **51**, 203-206.

98. Kitajima, S., Morimoto, M., Sagara, E., Shimizu, C., Ikeda, Y. (2001) Dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis in germ-free IQI/Jic mice. *Exp.Anim.* **50**, 387-395.

99. Nagalingam, N. A., Kao, J. Y., Young, V. B. (2010) Microbial ecology of the murine gut associated with the development of dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.***17**, 917-26

100. Vowinkel, T., Kalogeris, T. J., Mori, M., Krieglstein, C. F., Granger, D. N. (2004) Impact of dextran sulfate sodium load on the severity of inflammation in experimental colitis. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **49**, 556-564.

101. Kitajima, S., Takuma, S., Morimoto, M. (2000) Histological analysis of murine colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium of different molecular weights. *Exp.Anim.* **49**, 9-15.

102. Mahler, M., Bristol, I. J., Leiter, E. H., Workman, A. E., Birkenmeier, E. H., Elson, C. O., Sundberg, J. P. (1998) Differential susceptibility of inbred mouse strains to dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Am.J.Physiol.* **274**, G544-51.

103. Melgar, S., Karlsson, A., Michaelsson, E. (2005) Acute colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium progresses to chronicity in C57BL/6 but not in BALB/c mice: correlation between symptoms and inflammation. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* **288**, G1328-38.

104. Ni, J., Chen, S. F., Hollander, D. (1996) Effects of dextran sulphate sodium on intestinal epithelial cells and intestinal lymphocytes. *Gut.* **39**, 234-241.

105. Dorries, R., Schimpl, A., Wecker, E. (1974) Action of dextran sulfate as a direct and general B cell mitogen. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **4**, 230-233.

106. Minchin, S. A., Leitenberg, D., Stunz, L. L., Feldbush, T. L. (1990) Polyclonal activation of rat B cells. II. Dextran sulfate as a cofactor in mitogen-induced and antigen-induced differentiation of rat B lymphocytes. *J.Immunol.* **145**, 2427-2433.

107. Collins, J. E. (2002) Adhesion between dendritic cells and epithelial cells maintains the gut barrier during bacterial sampling. *Gut.* **50**, 449-450.

108. Berndt, B. E., Zhang, M., Chen, G. H., Huffnagle, G. B., Kao, J. Y. (2007) The role of dendritic cells in the development of acute dextran sulfate sodium colitis. *J.Immunol.* **179**, 6255-6262.

109. Ito, R., Shin-Ya, M., Kishida, T., Urano, A., Takada, R., Sakagami, J., Imanishi, J., Kita, M., Ueda, Y., Iwakura, Y., Kataoka, K., Okanoue, T., Mazda, O. (2006) Interferon-gamma is causatively involved in experimental inflammatory bowel disease in mice. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **146**, 330-338.

110. Farooq, S. M., Stillie, R., Svensson, M., Svanborg, C., Strieter, R. M., Stadnyk, A. W. (2009) Therapeutic effect of blocking CXCR2 on neutrophil recruitment and dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* **329**, 123-129.

111. Araki, Y., Sugihara, H., Hattori, T. (2006) In vitro effects of dextran sulfate sodium on a Caco-2 cell line and plausible mechanisms for dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Oncol.Rep.* **16**, 1357-1362.

112. Venkatraman, A., Ramakrishna, B. S., Pulimood, A. B., Patra, S., Murthy, S. (2000) Increased permeability in dextran sulphate colitis in rats: time course of development and effect of butyrate. *Scand.J.Gastroenterol.* **35**, 1053-1059.

113. Handa, K., Nudelman, E. D., Stroud, M. R., Shiozawa, T., Hakomori, S. (1991) Selectin GMP-140 (CD62; PADGEM) binds to sialosyl-Le(a) and sialosyl-Le(x), and sulfated glycans modulate this binding. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* **181**, 1223-1230.

114. Bamba, S., Andoh, A., Ban, H., Imaeda, H., Aomatsu, T., Kobori, A., Mochizuki, Y., Shioya, M., Nishimura, T., Inatomi, O., Sasaki, M., Saitoh, Y., Tsujikawa, T., Araki, Y., Fujiyama, Y. (2011) The Severity of Dextran Sodium Sulfate-Induced Colitis Can Differ Between Dextran Sodium Sulfate Preparations of the Same Molecular Weight Range. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* [Epub ahead of print].

115. Miehsler, W., Novacek, G., Wenzl, H., Vogelsang, H., Knoflach, P., Kaser, A., Dejaco, C., Petritsch, W., Kapitan, M., Maier, H., Graninger, W., Tilg, H., Reinisch, W., Austrian Society of Gastroenterology and Hepatology. (2010) A decade of infliximab: The Austrian evidence based consensus on the safe use of infliximab in inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Crohns Colitis.* **4**, 221-256.

116. Kriegler, M., Perez, C., DeFay, K., Albert, I., Lu, S. D. (1988) A novel form of TNF/cachectin is a cell surface cytotoxic transmembrane protein: ramifications for the complex physiology of TNF. *Cell.* **53**, 45-53.

117. Tang, P., Hung, M. -., Klostergaard, J. (1996) Human pro-tumor necrosis factor is a homotrimer. *Biochemistry*. **35**, 8216-8225.

118. Black, R. A., Rauch, C. T., Kozlosky, C. J., Peschon, J. J., Slack, J. L., Wolfson, M. F., Castner, B. J., Stocking, K. L., Reddy, P., Srinivasan, S., Nelson, N., Boiani, N., Schooley, K. A., Gerhart, M., Davis, R., Fitzner, J. N., Johnson, R. S., Paxton, R. J., March, C. J., Cerretti, D. P. (1997) A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor-alpha from cells. *Nature*. **385**, 729-733. 119. Kotlyarov, A., Neininger, A., Schubert, C., Eckert, R., Birchmeier, C., Volk, H. D., Gaestel, M. (1999) MAPKAP kinase 2 is essential for LPS-induced TNF-alpha biosynthesis. *Nat.Cell Biol.* **1**, 94-97.

120. Ronkina, N., Kotlyarov, A., Dittrich-Breiholz, O., Kracht, M., Hitti, E., Milarski, K., Askew, R., Marusic, S., Lin, L. L., Gaestel, M., Telliez, J. B. (2007) The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-activated protein kinases MK2 and MK3 cooperate in stimulation of tumor necrosis factor biosynthesis and stabilization of p38 MAPK. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* **27**, 170-181.

121. Kontoyiannis, D., Pasparakis, M., Pizarro, T. T., Cominelli, F., Kollias, G. (1999) Impaired on/off regulation of TNF biosynthesis in mice lacking TNF AU-rich elements: implications for joint and gut-associated immunopathologies. *Immunity*. **10**, 387-398.

122. Ronkina, N., Menon, M. B., Schwermann, J., Tiedje, C., Hitti, E., Kotlyarov, A., Gaestel, M. (2010) MAPKAP kinases MK2 and MK3 in inflammation: complex regulation of TNF biosynthesis via expression and phosphorylation of tristetraprolin. *Biochem.Pharmacol.* **80**, 1915-1920.

123. Tartaglia, L. A., Weber, R. F., Figari, I. S., Reynolds, C., Palladino, M. A., Jr, Goeddel, D. V. (1991) The two different receptors for tumor necrosis factor mediate distinct cellular responses. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **88**, 9292-9296.

124. Thoma, B., Grell, M., Pfizenmaier, K., Scheurich, P. (1990) Identification of a 60-kD tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor as the major signal transducing component in TNF responses. *J.Exp.Med.* **172**, 1019-1023.

125. Mizoguchi, E., Mizoguchi, A., Takedatsu, H., Cario, E., de Jong, Y. P., Ooi, C. J., Xavier, R. J., Terhorst, C., Podolsky, D. K., Bhan, A. K. (2002) Role of tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 (TNFR2) in colonic epithelial hyperplasia and chronic intestinal inflammation in mice. *Gastroenterology*. **122**, 134-144.

126. Schumann, J., Muhlen, K., Kiemer, A. K., Vollmar, A. M., Tiegs, G. (2003) Parenchymal, but not leukocyte, TNF receptor 2 mediates T cell-dependent hepatitis in mice. *J.Immunol.* **170**, 2129-2137.

127. Chan, F. K., Chun, H. J., Zheng, L., Siegel, R. M., Bui, K. L., Lenardo, M. J. (2000) A domain in TNF receptors that mediates ligand-independent receptor assembly and signaling. *Science*. **288**, 2351-2354.

128. Tartaglia, L. A., Ayres, T. M., Wong, G. H., Goeddel, D. V. (1993) A novel domain within the 55 kd TNF receptor signals cell death. *Cell.* **74**, 845-853.

129. Grell, M., Douni, E., Wajant, H., Lohden, M., Clauss, M., Maxeiner, B., Georgopoulos, S., Lesslauer, W., Kollias, G., Pfizenmaier, K., Scheurich, P. (1995) The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell.* **83**, 793-802.

130. Tartaglia, L. A., Pennica, D., Goeddel, D. V. (1993) Ligand passing: the 75-kDa tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor recruits TNF for signaling by the 55-kDa TNF receptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* **268**, 18542-18548.

131. Pfeffer, K., Matsuyama, T., Kundig, T. M., Wakeham, A., Kishihara, K., Shahinian, A., Wiegmann, K., Ohashi, P. S., Kronke, M., Mak, T. W. (1993) Mice deficient for the 55 kd tumor necrosis factor receptor are resistant to endotoxic shock, yet succumb to L. monocytogenes infection. *Cell.* **73**, 457-467.

132. Neumann, B., Luz, A., Pfeffer, K., Holzmann, B. (1996) Defective Peyer's patch organogenesis in mice lacking the 55-kD receptor for tumor necrosis factor. *J.Exp.Med.* **184**, 259-264.

133. Pasparakis, M., Alexopoulou, L., Grell, M., Pfizenmaier, K., Bluethmann, H., Kollias, G. (1997) Peyer's patch organogenesis is intact yet formation of B lymphocyte follicles is defective in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice deficient for tumor necrosis factor and its 55-kDa receptor. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **94**, 6319-6323.

134. Endres, R., Luz, A., Schulze, H., Neubauer, H., Futterer, A., Holland, S. M., Wagner, H., Pfeffer, K. (1997) Listeriosis in p47(phox-/-) and TRp55-/- mice: protection despite absence of ROI and susceptibility despite presence of RNI. *Immunity*. **7**, 419-432.

135. Flynn, J. L., Goldstein, M. M., Chan, J., Triebold, K. J., Pfeffer, K., Lowenstein, C. J., Schreiber, R., Mak, T. W., Bloom, B. R. (1995) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is required in the protective immune response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice. *Immunity*. **2**, 561-572.

136. Schutze, S., Machleidt, T., Adam, D., Schwandner, R., Wiegmann, K., Kruse, M. L., Heinrich, M., Wickel, M., Kronke, M. (1999) Inhibition of receptor internalization by monodansylcadaverine selectively blocks p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor death domain signaling. *J.Biol.Chem.* **274**, 10203-10212.

137. Schneider-Brachert, W., Tchikov, V., Neumeyer, J., Jakob, M., Winoto-Morbach, S., Held-Feindt, J., Heinrich, M., Merkel, O., Ehrenschwender, M., Adam, D., Mentlein, R., Kabelitz, D., Schutze, S. (2004) Compartmentalization of TNF receptor 1 signaling: internalized TNF receptosomes as death signaling vesicles. *Immunity.* **21**, 415-428.

138. Hsu, H., Xiong, J., Goeddel, D. V. (1995) The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-kappa B activation. *Cell.* **81**, 495-504.

139. Hsu, H., Huang, J., Shu, H. B., Baichwal, V., Goeddel, D. V. (1996) TNF-dependent recruitment of the protein kinase RIP to the TNF receptor-1 signaling complex. *Immunity*. **4**, 387-396.

140. Liu, Z. G., Hsu, H., Goeddel, D. V., Karin, M. (1996) Dissection of TNF receptor 1 effector functions: JNK activation is not linked to apoptosis while NF-kappaB activation prevents cell death. *Cell.* **87**, 565-576.

141. Kataoka, T., Budd, R. C., Holler, N., Thome, M., Martinon, F., Irmler, M., Burns, K., Hahne, M., Kennedy, N., Kovacsovics, M., Tschopp, J. (2000) The caspase-8 inhibitor FLIP promotes activation of NF-kappaB and Erk signaling pathways. *Curr.Biol.* **10**, 640-648.

142. Hsu, H., Shu, H. B., Pan, M. G., Goeddel, D. V. (1996) TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. *Cell.* 84, 299-308.

143. Karin, M. (2009) NF-kappaB as a critical link between inflammation and cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect.Biol.* **1**, a000141.

144. Karin, M., Gallagher, E. (2009) TNFR signaling: ubiquitin-conjugated TRAFfic signals control stop-and-go for MAPK signaling complexes. *Immunol.Rev.* **228**, 225-240.

145. Greten, F. R., Karin, M. (2004) The IKK/NF-kappaB activation pathway-a target for prevention and treatment of cancer. *Cancer Lett.* **206**, 193-199.

146. Zhang, S. Q., Kovalenko, A., Cantarella, G., Wallach, D. (2000) Recruitment of the IKK signalosome to the p55 TNF receptor: RIP and A20 bind to NEMO (IKKgamma) upon receptor stimulation. *Immunity*. **12**, 301-311.

147. Ozes, O. N., Mayo, L. D., Gustin, J. A., Pfeffer, S. R., Pfeffer, L. M., Donner, D. B. (1999) NF-kappaB activation by tumour necrosis factor requires the Akt serine-threonine kinase. *Nature*. **401**, 82-85.

148. Schutze, S., Nottrott, S., Pfizenmaier, K., Kronke, M. (1990) Tumor necrosis factor signal transduction. Cell-type-specific activation and translocation of protein kinase C. *J.Immunol.* **144**, 2604-2608.

149. Meichle, A., Schutze, S., Hensel, G., Brunsing, D., Kronke, M. (1990) Protein kinase Cindependent activation of nuclear factor kappa B by tumor necrosis factor. *J.Biol.Chem.* **265**, 8339-8343.

150. Machleidt, T., Kramer, B., Adam, D., Neumann, B., Schutze, S., Wiegmann, K., Kronke, M. (1996) Function of the p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor "death domain" mediated by phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C. *J.Exp.Med.* **184**, 725-733.

151. Ichijo, H., Nishida, E., Irie, K., ten Dijke, P., Saitoh, M., Moriguchi, T., Takagi, M., Matsumoto, K., Miyazono, K., Gotoh, Y. (1997) Induction of apoptosis by ASK1, a mammalian MAPKKK that activates SAPK/JNK and p38 signaling pathways. *Science*. **275**, 90-94.

152. Natoli, G., Costanzo, A., Ianni, A., Templeton, D. J., Woodgett, J. R., Balsano, C., Levrero, M. (1997) Activation of SAPK/JNK by TNF receptor 1 through a noncytotoxic TRAF2dependent pathway. *Science*. **275**, 200-203.

153. Micheau, O., Tschopp, J. (2003) Induction of TNF receptor I-mediated apoptosis via two sequential signaling complexes. *Cell.* **114**, 181-190.

154. Legler, D. F., Micheau, O., Doucey, M. A., Tschopp, J., Bron, C. (2003) Recruitment of TNF receptor 1 to lipid rafts is essential for TNFalpha-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *Immunity*. **18**, 655-664.

155. Nenci, A., Becker, C., Wullaert, A., Gareus, R., van Loo, G., Danese, S., Huth, M., Nikolaev, A., Neufert, C., Madison, B., Gumucio, D., Neurath, M. F., Pasparakis, M. (2007) Epithelial NEMO links innate immunity to chronic intestinal inflammation. *Nature*. 446, 557-561.

156. Kajino-Sakamoto, R., Inagaki, M., Lippert, E., Akira, S., Robine, S., Matsumoto, K., Jobin, C., Ninomiya-Tsuji, J. (2008) Enterocyte-derived TAK1 signaling prevents epithelium apoptosis and the development of ileitis and colitis. *J.Immunol.* **181**, 1143-1152.
157. Grell, M., Zimmermann, G., Hulser, D., Pfizenmaier, K., Scheurich, P. (1994) TNF receptors TR60 and TR80 can mediate apoptosis via induction of distinct signal pathways. *J.Immunol.* **153**, 1963-1972.

158. Grell, M., Zimmermann, G., Gottfried, E., Chen, C. M., Grunwald, U., Huang, D. C., Wu Lee, Y. H., Durkop, H., Engelmann, H., Scheurich, P., Wajant, H., Strasser, A. (1999) Induction of cell death by tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2, CD40 and CD30: a role for TNF-R1 activation by endogenous membrane-anchored TNF. *EMBO J.* **18**, 3034-3043.

159. Haridas, V., Darnay, B. G., Natarajan, K., Heller, R., Aggarwal, B. B. (1998) Overexpression of the p80 TNF receptor leads to TNF-dependent apoptosis, nuclear factor-kappa B activation, and c-Jun kinase activation. *J.Immunol.* **160**, 3152-3162.

160. Jupp, O. J., McFarlane, S. M., Anderson, H. M., Littlejohn, A. F., Mohamed, A. A., MacKay, R. H., Vandenabeele, P., MacEwan, D. J. (2001) Type II tumour necrosis factor-alpha receptor (TNFR2) activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) but not mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) or p38 MAPK pathways. *Biochem.J.* **359**, 525-535.

161. Fotin-Mleczek, M., Henkler, F., Samel, D., Reichwein, M., Hausser, A., Parmryd, I., Scheurich, P., Schmid, J. A., Wajant, H. (2002) Apoptotic crosstalk of TNF receptors: TNF-R2-induces depletion of TRAF2 and IAP proteins and accelerates TNF-R1-dependent activation of caspase-8. *J. Cell.Sci.* **115**, 2757-2770.

162. Scherubl, C., Schneider-Brachert, W., Schutze, S., Hehlgans, T., Mannel, D. N. (2005) Colocalization of endogenous TNF with a functional intracellular splice form of human TNF receptor type 2. *J.Inflamm.(Lond).* **2**, 7.

163. Arnott, C. H., Scott, K. A., Moore, R. J., Robinson, S. C., Thompson, R. G., Balkwill, F. R. (2004) Expression of both TNF-alpha receptor subtypes is essential for optimal skin tumour development. *Oncogene*. **23**, 1902-1910.

164. Murch, S. H., Braegger, C. P., Walker-Smith, J. A., MacDonald, T. T. (1995) Distribution and density of TNF immunoreactivity in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Adv.Exp.Med.Biol.* **371B**, 1327-1330.

165. Murch, S. H., Braegger, C. P., Walker-Smith, J. A., MacDonald, T. T. (1993) Location of tumour necrosis factor alpha by immunohistochemistry in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* **34**, 1705-1709.

166. Murch, S. H., Lamkin, V. A., Savage, M. O., Walker-Smith, J. A., MacDonald, T. T. (1991) Serum concentrations of tumour necrosis factor alpha in childhood chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* **32**, 913-917.

167. Johansson, M., Jonsson, M., Norrgard, O., Forsgren, S. (2008) New aspects concerning ulcerative colitis and colonic carcinoma: analysis of levels of neuropeptides, neurotrophins, and TNFalpha/TNF receptor in plasma and mucosa in parallel with histological evaluation of the intestine. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **14**, 1331-1340.

168. Spoettl, T., Hausmann, M., Klebl, F., Dirmeier, A., Klump, B., Hoffmann, J., Herfarth, H., Timmer, A., Rogler, G. (2007) Serum soluble TNF receptor I and II levels correlate with disease activity in IBD patients. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **13**, 727-732.

169. Xanthoulea, S., Pasparakis, M., Kousteni, S., Brakebusch, C., Wallach, D., Bauer, J., Lassmann, H., Kollias, G. (2004) Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor shedding controls thresholds of innate immune activation that balance opposing TNF functions in infectious and inflammatory diseases. *J.Exp.Med.* **200**, 367-376.

170. Hyams, J. S., Treem, W. R., Eddy, E., Wyzga, N., Moore, R. E. (1991) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is not elevated in children with inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Pediatr.Gastroenterol.Nutr.* **12**, 233-236.

171. Nielsen, O. H., Brynskov, J., Bendtzen, K. (1993) Circulating and mucosal concentrations of tumour necrosis factor and inhibitor(s) in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Dan.Med.Bull.* **40**, 247-249.

172. Kontoyiannis, D., Boulougouris, G., Manoloukos, M., Armaka, M., Apostolaki, M., Pizarro, T., Kotlyarov, A., Forster, I., Flavell, R., Gaestel, M., Tsichlis, P., Cominelli, F., Kollias, G. (2002) Genetic dissection of the cellular pathways and signaling mechanisms in modeled tumor necrosis factor-induced Crohn's-like inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Exp.Med.* **196**, 1563-1574.

173. Shen, C., Maerten, P., Geboes, K., Van Assche, G., Rutgeerts, P., Ceuppens, J. L. (2005) Infliximab induces apoptosis of monocytes and T lymphocytes in a human-mouse chimeric model. *Clin.Immunol.* **115**, 250-259.

174. ten Hove, T., van Montfrans, C., Peppelenbosch, M. P., van Deventer, S. J. (2002) Infliximab treatment induces apoptosis of lamina propria T lymphocytes in Crohn's disease. *Gut.* **50**, 206-211.

175. Van den Brande, J. M., Braat, H., van den Brink, G. R., Versteeg, H. H., Bauer, C. A., Hoedemaeker, I., van Montfrans, C., Hommes, D. W., Peppelenbosch, M. P., van Deventer, S. J. (2003) Infliximab but not etanercept induces apoptosis in lamina propria T-lymphocytes from patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. **124**, 1774-1785.

176. Van den Brande, J. M., Koehler, T. C., Zelinkova, Z., Bennink, R. J., te Velde, A. A., ten Cate, F. J., van Deventer, S. J., Peppelenbosch, M. P., Hommes, D. W. (2007) Prediction of antitumour necrosis factor clinical efficacy by real-time visualisation of apoptosis in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gut.* **56**, 509-517.

177. Marini, M., Bamias, G., Rivera-Nieves, J., Moskaluk, C. A., Hoang, S. B., Ross, W. G., Pizarro, T. T., Cominelli, F. (2003) TNF-alpha neutralization ameliorates the severity of murine Crohn's-like ileitis by abrogation of intestinal epithelial cell apoptosis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **100**, 8366-8371.

178. Ringheanu, M., Daum, F., Markowitz, J., Levine, J., Katz, S., Lin, X., Silver, J. (2004) Effects of infliximab on apoptosis and reverse signaling of monocytes from healthy individuals and patients with Crohn's disease. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **10**, 801-810.

179. Sandborn, W. J., Schreiber, S., Feagan, B. G., Rutgeerts, P., Younes, Z. H., Bloomfield, R., Coteur, G., Guzman, J. P., D'Haens, G. R. (2011) Certolizumab pegol for active Crohn's disease: a placebo-controlled, randomized trial. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **9**, 670-678.e3.

180. Nesbitt, A., Fossati, G., Bergin, M., Stephens, P., Stephens, S., Foulkes, R., Brown, D., Robinson, M., Bourne, T. (2007) Mechanism of action of certolizumab pegol (CDP870): in vitro comparison with other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **13**, 1323-1332.

181. Sandborn, W. J., Hanauer, S. B., Katz, S., Safdi, M., Wolf, D. G., Baerg, R. D., Tremaine, W. J., Johnson, T., Diehl, N. N., Zinsmeister, A. R. (2001) Etanercept for active Crohn's disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology*. **121**, 1088-1094.

182. Catrina, A. I., Trollmo, C., af Klint, E., Engstrom, M., Lampa, J., Hermansson, Y., Klareskog, L., Ulfgren, A. K. (2005) Evidence that anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy with both etanercept and infliximab induces apoptosis in macrophages, but not lymphocytes, in rheumatoid arthritis joints: extended report. *Arthritis Rheum.* **52**, 61-72.

183. Scallon, B., Cai, A., Solowski, N., Rosenberg, A., Song, X. Y., Shealy, D., Wagner, C. (2002) Binding and functional comparisons of two types of tumor necrosis factor antagonists. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* **301**, 418-426.

184. Mitoma, H., Horiuchi, T., Hatta, N., Tsukamoto, H., Harashima, S., Kikuchi, Y., Otsuka, J., Okamura, S., Fujita, S., Harada, M. (2005) Infliximab induces potent anti-inflammatory responses by outside-to-inside signals through transmembrane TNF-alpha. *Gastroenterology*. **128**, 376-392.

185. Zeissig, S., Bojarski, C., Buergel, N., Mankertz, J., Zeitz, M., Fromm, M., Schulzke, J. D. (2004) Downregulation of epithelial apoptosis and barrier repair in active Crohn's disease by tumour necrosis factor alpha antibody treatment. *Gut.* **53**, 1295-1302.

186. Atreya, R., Zimmer, M., Bartsch, B., Waldner, M. J., Atreya, I., Neumann, H., Hildner, K., Hoffman, A., Kiesslich, R., Rink, A. D., Rau, T. T., Rose-John, S., Kessler, H., Schmidt, J., Neurath, M. F. (2011) Anti-TNF antibodies target T-cell apoptosis in inflammatory bowel diseases via TNFR2 and intestinal CD14+ macrophages. *Gastroenterology*. **141**, 2026-38.

187. te Velde, A. A., de Kort, F., Sterrenburg, E., Pronk, I., ten Kate, F. J., Hommes, D. W., van Deventer, S. J. (2007) Comparative analysis of colonic gene expression of three experimental colitis models mimicking inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **13**, 325-330.

188. Kojouharoff, G., Hans, W., Obermeier, F., Mannel, D. N., Andus, T., Scholmerich, J., Gross, V., Falk, W. (1997) Neutralization of tumour necrosis factor (TNF) but not of IL-1 reduces inflammation in chronic dextran sulphate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **107**, 353-358.

189. Scheinin, T., Butler, D. M., Salway, F., Scallon, B., Feldmann, M. (2003) Validation of the interleukin-10 knockout mouse model of colitis: antitumour necrosis factor-antibodies suppress the progression of colitis. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **133**, 38-43.

190. Han, X., Benight, N., Osuntokun, B., Loesch, K., Frank, S. J., Denson, L. A. (2007) Tumour necrosis factor alpha blockade induces an anti-inflammatory growth hormone signalling pathway in experimental colitis. *Gut.* **56**, 73-81.

191. Olson, A. D., DelBuono, E. A., Bitar, K. N., Remick, D. G. (1995) Antiserum to tumor necrosis factor and failure to prevent murine colitis. *J.Pediatr.Gastroenterol.Nutr.* **21**, 410-418.

192. Hale, L. P., Cianciolo, G. (2008) Treatment of experimental colitis in mice with LMP-420, an inhibitor of TNF transcription. *J.Inflamm.(Lond)*. **5**, 4.

193. Danese, S., Sans, M., Scaldaferri, F., Sgambato, A., Rutella, S., Cittadini, A., Pique, J. M., Panes, J., Katz, J. A., Gasbarrini, A., Fiocchi, C. (2006) TNF-alpha blockade down-regulates the CD40/CD40L pathway in the mucosal microcirculation: a novel anti-inflammatory mechanism of infliximab in Crohn's disease. *J.Immunol.* **176**, 2617-2624.

194. Obermeier, F., Kojouharoff, G., Hans, W., Scholmerich, J., Gross, V., Falk, W. (1999) Interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma)- and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-induced nitric oxide as toxic effector molecule in chronic dextran sulphate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **116**, 238-245.

195. Rutella, S., Fiorino, G., Vetrano, S., Correale, C., Spinelli, A., Pagano, N., Arena, V., Maggiano, N., Repici, A., Malesci, A., Danese, S. (2011) Infliximab therapy inhibits inflammation-induced angiogenesis in the mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.* **106**, 762-770.

196. Altorjay, I., Vereb, Z., Serfozo, Z., Bacskai, I., Batori, R., Erdodi, F., Udvardy, M., Sipka, S., Lanyi, A., Rajnavolgyi, E., Palatka, K. (2011) Anti-TNF-alpha antibody (infliximab) therapy supports the recovery of eNOS and VEGFR2 protein expression in endothelial cells. *Int.J.Immunopathol.Pharmacol.* **24**, 323-335.

197. Vos, A. C., Wildenberg, M. E., Arijs, I., Duijvestein, M., Verhaar, A. P., de Hertogh, G., Vermeire, S., Rutgeerts, P., van den Brink, G. R., Hommes, D. W. (2011) Regulatory macrophages induced by infliximab are involved in healing in vivo and in vitro. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* Sep 20. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21818. [Epub ahead of print].

198. Naito, Y., Takagi, T., Handa, O., Ishikawa, T., Nakagawa, S., Yamaguchi, T., Yoshida, N., Minami, M., Kita, M., Imanishi, J., Yoshikawa, T. (2003) Enhanced intestinal inflammation induced by dextran sulfate sodium in tumor necrosis factor-alpha deficient mice. *J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **18**, 560-569.

199. Axelsson, L. G., Landstrom, E., Goldschmidt, T. J., Gronberg, A., Bylund-Fellenius, A. C. (1996) Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) induced experimental colitis in immunodeficient mice: effects in CD4(+) -cell depleted, athymic and NK-cell depleted SCID mice. *Inflamm.Res.* **45**, 181-191.

200. Mizoguchi, E., Hachiya, Y., Kawada, M., Nagatani, K., Ogawa, A., Sugimoto, K., Mizoguchi, A., Podolsky, D. K. (2008) TNF receptor type I-dependent activation of innate responses to reduce intestinal damage-associated mortality. *Gastroenterology*. **134**, 470-480.

201. Soderholm, J. D., Streutker, C., Yang, P. C., Paterson, C., Singh, P. K., McKay, D. M., Sherman, P. M., Croitoru, K., Perdue, M. H. (2004) Increased epithelial uptake of protein antigens in the ileum of Crohn's disease mediated by tumour necrosis factor alpha. *Gut.* **53**, 1817-1824.

202. Zareie, M., McKay, D. M., Kovarik, G. G., Perdue, M. H. (1998) Monocyte/macrophages evoke epithelial dysfunction: indirect role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Am.J.Physiol.* **275**, C932-9.

203. Kinoshita, K., Hori, M., Fujisawa, M., Sato, K., Ohama, T., Momotani, E., Ozaki, H. (2006) Role of TNF-alpha in muscularis inflammation and motility disorder in a TNBS-induced colitis model: clues from TNF-alpha-deficient mice. *Neurogastroenterol.Motil.* **18**, 578-588.

204. Nakai, M., Sudo, K., Yamada, Y., Kojima, Y., Kato, T., Saito, K., Moriwaki, H., Seishima,

M. (2005) The role of the tumor necrosis factor receptor in 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis in mice. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **50**, 1669-1676.

205. Yang, Y., Wang, H., Dou, Y., Wang, Y., Han, G., Wang, R., Wang, L., Guo, R., Xiao, H., Li, X., Shen, B., Shi, Y., Chen, G., Li, Y. (2011) Colitogenic role of tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptors in trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid colitis: TNF-R1 ablation does not affect systemic inflammatory response. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **165**, 372-382.

206. Ebach, D. R., Newberry, R., Stenson, W. F. (2005) Differential role of tumor necrosis factor receptors in TNBS colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **11**, 533-540.

207. Yin, B., Hu, X., Wang, J., Liang, H., Li, X., Niu, N., Li, B., Jiang, X., Li, Z. (2011) Blocking TNF-alpha by combination of TNF-alpha- and TNFR-binding cyclic peptide ameliorates the severity of TNBS-induced colitis in rats. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* **656**, 119-124.

208. Wang, F., Schwarz, B. T., Graham, W. V., Wang, Y., Su, L., Clayburgh, D. R., Abraham, C., Turner, J. R. (2006) IFN-gamma-induced TNFR2 expression is required for TNF-dependent intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction. *Gastroenterology*. **131**, 1153-1163.

209. Holtmann, M. H., Douni, E., Schutz, M., Zeller, G., Mudter, J., Lehr, H. A., Gerspach, J., Scheurich, P., Galle, P. R., Kollias, G., Neurath, M. F. (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-receptor 2 is up-regulated on lamina propria T cells in Crohn's disease and promotes experimental colitis in vivo. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **32**, 3142-3151.

210. Kim, E. Y., Priatel, J. J., Teh, S. J., Teh, H. S. (2006) TNF receptor type 2 (p75) functions as a costimulator for antigen-driven T cell responses in vivo. *J.Immunol.* **176**, 1026-1035.

211. Chen, X., Subleski, J. J., Hamano, R., Howard, O. M., Wiltrout, R. H., Oppenheim, J. J. (2010) Co-expression of TNFR2 and CD25 identifies more of the functional CD4+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in human peripheral blood. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **40**, 1099-1106.

212. Chen, X., Oppenheim, J. J. (2010) TNF-alpha: an activator of CD4+FoxP3+TNFR2+ regulatory T cells. *Curr.Dir.Autoimmun.* **11**, 119-134.

213. Housley, W. J., Adams, C. O., Nichols, F. C., Puddington, L., Lingenheld, E. G., Zhu, L., Rajan, T. V., Clark, R. B. (2011) Natural but not inducible regulatory T cells require TNF-alpha signaling for in vivo function. *J.Immunol.* **186**, 6779-6787.

214. Dayer Schneider, J., Seibold, I., Saxer-Sekulic, N., Paredes, B. E., Saurer, L., Mueller, C. (2009) Lack of TNFR2 expression by CD4(+) T cells exacerbates experimental colitis. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **39**, 1743-1753.

215. Armaka, M., Apostolaki, M., Jacques, P., Kontoyiannis, D. L., Elewaut, D., Kollias, G. (2008) Mesenchymal cell targeting by TNF as a common pathogenic principle in chronic inflammatory joint and intestinal diseases. *J.Exp.Med.* **205**, 331-337.

216. Di Sabatino, A., Pender, S. L., Jackson, C. L., Prothero, J. D., Gordon, J. N., Picariello, L., Rovedatti, L., Docena, G., Monteleone, G., Rampton, D. S., Tonelli, F., Corazza, G. R., MacDonald, T. T. (2007) Functional modulation of Crohn's disease myofibroblasts by anti-tumor necrosis factor antibodies. *Gastroenterology*. **133**, 137-149.

217. Rodriguez Perez, C. E., Nie, W., Sinnett-Smith, J., Rozengurt, E., Yoo, J. (2011) TNF-{alpha} Potentiates Lysophosphatidic acid-induced COX-2 Expression via PKD in Human Colonic Myofibroblasts. Am.J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 300, G637-46

218. Andoh, A., Bamba, S., Fujiyama, Y., Brittan, M., Wright, N. A. (2005) Colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts in mucosal inflammation and repair: contribution of bone marrow-derived stem cells to the gut regenerative response. *J.Gastroenterol.* **40**, 1089-1099.

219. Carswell, E. A., Old, L. J., Kassel, R. L., Green, S., Fiore, N., Williamson, B. (1975) An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **72**, 3666-3670.

220. Larmonier, N., Cathelin, D., Larmonier, C., Nicolas, A., Merino, D., Janikashvili, N., Audia, S., Bateman, A., Thompson, J., Kottke, T., Hartung, T., Katsanis, E., Vile, R., Bonnotte, B. (2007) The inhibition of TNF-alpha anti-tumoral properties by blocking antibodies promotes tumor growth in a rat model. *Exp.Cell Res.* **313**, 2345-2355.

221. Brown, S. L., Greene, M. H., Gershon, S. K., Edwards, E. T., Braun, M. M. (2002) Tumor necrosis factor antagonist therapy and lymphoma development: twenty-six cases reported to the Food and Drug Administration. *Arthritis Rheum.* **46**, 3151-3158.

222. Diak, P., Siegel, J., La Grenade, L., Choi, L., Lemery, S., McMahon, A. (2010) Tumor necrosis factor alpha blockers and malignancy in children: forty-eight cases reported to the Food and Drug Administration. *Arthritis Rheum.* **62**, 2517-2524.

223. Martinez-Martinez, M. L., Perez-Garcia, L. J., Escario-Travesedo, E., Ribera-Vaquerizo, P. A. (2010) Kaposi sarcoma associated with infliximab treatment]. *Actas Dermosifiliogr.* **101**, 462-464.

224. Cohen, C. D., Horster, S., Sander, C. A., Bogner, J. R. (2003) Kaposi's sarcoma associated with tumour necrosis factor alpha neutralising therapy. *Ann.Rheum.Dis.* **62**, 684.

225. Peyrin-Biroulet, L., Colombel, J. F., Sandborn, W. J. (2009) Insufficient evidence to conclude whether anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy increases the risk of lymphoma in Crohn's disease. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **7**, 1139.

226. Biancone, L., Orlando, A., Kohn, A., Colombo, E., Sostegni, R., Angelucci, E., Rizzello, F., Castiglione, F., Benazzato, L., Papi, C., Meucci, G., Riegler, G., Petruzziello, C., Mocciaro, F., Geremia, A., Calabrese, E., Cottone, M., Pallone, F. (2006) Infliximab and newly diagnosed neoplasia in Crohn's disease: a multicentre matched pair study. *Gut.* **55**, 228-233.

227. Mariette, X., Tubach, F., Bagheri, H., Bardet, M., Berthelot, J. M., Gaudin, P., Heresbach, D., Martin, A., Schaeverbeke, T., Salmon, D., Lemann, M., Hermine, O., Raphael, M., Ravaud, P. (2010) Lymphoma in patients treated with anti-TNF: results of the 3-year prospective French RATIO registry. *Ann.Rheum.Dis.* **69**, 400-408.

228. Duricova, D., Pedersen, N., Lenicek, M., Hradsky, O., Bronsky, J., Adamcova, M., Elkjaer, M., Andersen, P. S., Vitek, L., Larsen, K., Lukas, M., Nevoral, J., Wewer, V., Munkholm, P. (2009) Infliximab dependency in children with Crohn's disease. *Aliment.Pharmacol.Ther.* **29**, 792-799.

229. Creasey, A. A., Reynolds, M. T., Laird, W. (1986) Cures and partial regression of murine and human tumors by recombinant human tumor necrosis factor. *Cancer Res.* **46**, 5687-5690.

230. Schwartz, J. E., Scuderi, P., Wiggins, C., Rudolph, A., Hersh, E. M. (1989) A phase I trial of

recombinant tumor necrosis factor (rTNF) administered by continuous intravenous infusion in patients with disseminated malignancy. *Biotherapy*. **1**, 207-214.

231. Watanabe, N., Yamauchi, N., Maeda, M., Neda, H., Tsuji, Y., Okamoto, T., Tsuji, N., Akiyama, S., Sasaki, H., Niitsu, Y. (1994) Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor causes regression in patients with advanced malignancies. *Oncology*. **51**, 360-365.

232. Havell, E. A., Fiers, W., North, R. J. (1988) The antitumor function of tumor necrosis factor (TNF), I. Therapeutic action of TNF against an established murine sarcoma is indirect, immunologically dependent, and limited by severe toxicity. *J.Exp.Med.* **167**, 1067-1085.

233. Wright, P., Zheng, C., Moyana, T., Xiang, J. (1998) Intratumoral vaccination of adenoviruses expressing fusion protein RM4/tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha induces significant tumor regression. *Cancer Gene Ther.* **5**, 371-379.

234. Wright, P., Braun, R., Babiuk, L., Littel-van den Hurk, S. D., Moyana, T., Zheng, C., Chen, Y., Xiang, J. (1999) Adenovirus-mediated TNF-alpha gene transfer induces significant tumor regression in mice. *Cancer Biother.Radiopharm.* **14**, 49-57.

235. Mizuguchi, H., Nakagawa, T., Toyosawa, S., Nakanishi, M., Imazu, S., Nakanishi, T., Tsutsumi, Y., Nakagawa, S., Hayakawa, T., Ijuhin, N., Mayumi, T. (1998) Tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated tumor regression by the in vivo transfer of genes into the artery that leads to tumors. *Cancer Res.* **58**, 5725-5730.

236. Mauceri, H. J., Seetharam, S., Beckett, M. A., Lee, J. Y., Gupta, V. K., Gately, S., Stack, M. S., Brown, C. K., Swedberg, K., Kufe, D. W., Weichselbaum, R. R. (2002) Tumor production of angiostatin is enhanced after exposure to TNF-alpha. *Int.J.Cancer.* **97**, 410-415.

237. Knight, B., Yeoh, G. C., Husk, K. L., Ly, T., Abraham, L. J., Yu, C., Rhim, J. A., Fausto, N. (2000) Impaired preneoplastic changes and liver tumor formation in tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1 knockout mice. *J.Exp.Med.* **192**, 1809-1818.

238. Suganuma, M., Okabe, S., Marino, M. W., Sakai, A., Sueoka, E., Fujiki, H. (1999) Essential role of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) in tumor promotion as revealed by TNF-alpha-deficient mice. *Cancer Res.* **59**, 4516-4518.

239. Harrison, M. L., Obermueller, E., Maisey, N. R., Hoare, S., Edmonds, K., Li, N. F., Chao, D., Hall, K., Lee, C., Timotheadou, E., Charles, K., Ahern, R., King, D. M., Eisen, T., Corringham, R., DeWitte, M., Balkwill, F., Gore, M. (2007) Tumor necrosis factor alpha as a new target for renal cell carcinoma: two sequential phase II trials of infliximab at standard and high dose. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **25**, 4542-4549.

240. Madhusudan, S., Muthuramalingam, S. R., Braybrooke, J. P., Wilner, S., Kaur, K., Han, C., Hoare, S., Balkwill, F., Ganesan, T. S. (2005) Study of etanercept, a tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor, in recurrent ovarian cancer. *J.Clin.Oncol.* **23**, 5950-5959.

241. Madhusudan, S., Foster, M., Muthuramalingam, S. R., Braybrooke, J. P., Wilner, S., Kaur, K., Han, C., Hoare, S., Balkwill, F., Talbot, D. C., Ganesan, T. S., Harris, A. L. (2004) A phase II study of etanercept (Enbrel), a tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibitor in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Clin.Cancer Res.* **10**, 6528-6534.

242. Hamaguchi, T., Wakabayashi, H., Matsumine, A., Sudo, A., Uchida, A. (2011) TNF inhibitor suppresses bone metastasis in a breast cancer cell line. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.*

407, 525-30.

243. Popivanova, B. K., Kitamura, K., Wu, Y., Kondo, T., Kagaya, T., Kaneko, S., Oshima, M., Fujii, C., Mukaida, N. (2008) Blocking TNF-alpha in mice reduces colorectal carcinogenesis associated with chronic colitis. *J.Clin.Invest.* **118**, 560-570.

244. Brittan, M., Wright, N. A. (2004) The gastrointestinal stem cell. Cell Prolif. 37, 35-53.

245. Vetuschi, A., Latella, G., Sferra, R., Caprilli, R., Gaudio, E. (2002) Increased proliferation and apoptosis of colonic epithelial cells in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in rats. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **47**, 1447-1457.

246. Di Sabatino, A., Ciccocioppo, R., Luinetti, O., Ricevuti, L., Morera, R., Cifone, M. G., Solcia, E., Corazza, G. R. (2003) Increased enterocyte apoptosis in inflamed areas of Crohn's disease. *Dis.Colon Rectum.* **46**, 1498-1507.

247. Hagiwara, C., Tanaka, M., Kudo, H. (2002) Increase in colorectal epithelial apoptotic cells in patients with ulcerative colitis ultimately requiring surgery. *J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **17**, 758-764.

248. Ioachim, E. E., Katsanos, K. H., Michael, M. C., Tsianos, E. V., Agnantis, N. J. (2004) Immunohistochemical expression of cyclin D1, cyclin E, p21/waf1 and p27/kip1 in inflammatory bowel disease: correlation with other cell-cycle-related proteins (Rb, p53, ki-67 and PCNA) and clinicopathological features. *Int.J.Colorectal Dis.* **19**, 325-333.

249. Greten, F. R., Eckmann, L., Greten, T. F., Park, J. M., Li, Z. W., Egan, L. J., Kagnoff, M. F., Karin, M. (2004) IKKbeta links inflammation and tumorigenesis in a mouse model of colitis-associated cancer. *Cell.* **118**, 285-296.

250. Steinbrecher, K. A., Harmel-Laws, E., Sitcheran, R., Baldwin, A. S. (2008) Loss of epithelial RelA results in deregulated intestinal proliferative/apoptotic homeostasis and susceptibility to inflammation. *J.Immunol.* **180**, 2588-2599.

251. Chromik, A. M., Huss, S., Osseili, H., Daigeler, A., Kersting, S., Sulberg, D., Mittelkotter, U., Herdegen, T., Uhl, W., Muller, A. M. (2010) Oral administration of the anti-proliferative substance taurolidine has no impact on dextran sulfate sodium induced colitis-associated carcinogenesis in mice. *J.Carcinog.* **9**, 5.

252. Onizawa, M., Nagaishi, T., Kanai, T., Nagano, K., Oshima, S., Nemoto, Y., Yoshioka, A., Totsuka, T., Okamoto, R., Nakamura, T., Sakamoto, N., Tsuchiya, K., Aoki, K., Ohya, K., Yagita, H., Watanabe, M. (2009) Signaling pathway via TNF-alpha/NF-kappaB in intestinal epithelial cells may be directly involved in colitis-associated carcinogenesis. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* **296**, G850-9.

253. Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Sugie, S., Tanaka, T. (2005) Suppression of colitis-related mouse colon carcinogenesis by a COX-2 inhibitor and PPAR ligands. *BMC Cancer.* **5**, 46.

254. Wang, D., Dubois, R. N. (2010) The role of COX-2 in intestinal inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Oncogene*. **29**, 781-788.

255. Castellone, M. D., Teramoto, H., Williams, B. O., Druey, K. M., Gutkind, J. S. (2005) Prostaglandin E2 promotes colon cancer cell growth through a Gs-axin-beta-catenin signaling axis. *Science*. **310**, 1504-1510.

256. Joseph, R. R., Yazer, E., Hanakawa, Y., Stadnyk, A. W. (2005) Prostaglandins and activation of AC/cAMP prevents anoikis in IEC-18. *Apoptosis.* **10**, 1221-1233.

257. Nakanishi, M., Montrose, D. C., Clark, P., Nambiar, P. R., Belinsky, G. S., Claffey, K. P., Xu, D., Rosenberg, D. W. (2008) Genetic deletion of mPGES-1 suppresses intestinal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* **68**, 3251-3259.

258. Ishikawa, T. O., Herschman, H. R. (2010) Tumor formation in a mouse model of colitisassociated colon cancer does not require COX-1 or COX-2 expression. *Carcinogenesis*. **31**, 729-736.

259. Ishikawa, T. O., Oshima, M., Herschman, H. R. (2010) Cox-2 deletion in myeloid and endothelial cells, but not in epithelial cells, exacerbates murine colitis. *Carcinogenesis*. **32**, 417-26

260. Huang, X. L., Xu, J., Zhang, X. H., Qiu, B. Y., Peng, L., Zhang, M., Gan, H. T. (2011) PI3K/Akt signaling pathway is involved in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm.Res.* **60**, 727-34

261. Brown, J. B., Cheresh, P., Goretsky, T., Managlia, E., Grimm, G. R., Ryu, H., Zadeh, M., Dirisina, R., Barrett, T. A. (2011) Epithelial PI3K signaling is required for β -catenin activation and host defense against Citrobacter rodentium infection. *Infect.Immun.* **79**, 1863-72.

262. Popivanova, B. K., Kostadinova, F. I., Furuichi, K., Shamekh, M. M., Kondo, T., Wada, T., Egashira, K., Mukaida, N. (2009) Blockade of a chemokine, CCL2, reduces chronic colitis-associated carcinogenesis in mice. *Cancer Res.* **69**, 7884-7892.

263. Becker, C., Fantini, M. C., Schramm, C., Lehr, H. A., Wirtz, S., Nikolaev, A., Burg, J., Strand, S., Kiesslich, R., Huber, S., Ito, H., Nishimoto, N., Yoshizaki, K., Kishimoto, T., Galle, P. R., Blessing, M., Rose-John, S., Neurath, M. F. (2004) TGF-beta suppresses tumor progression in colon cancer by inhibition of IL-6 trans-signaling. *Immunity*. **21**, 491-501.

264. Grivennikov, S., Karin, E., Terzic, J., Mucida, D., Yu, G. Y., Vallabhapurapu, S., Scheller, J., Rose-John, S., Cheroutre, H., Eckmann, L., Karin, M. (2009) IL-6 and Stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer. *Cancer.Cell.* **15**, 103-113.

265. Greten, F. R., Karin, M. (2010) Peering into the aftermath: JAKi rips STAT3 in cancer. *Nat.Med.* **16**, 1085-1087.

266. Mitsuyama, K., Matsumoto, S., Rose-John, S., Suzuki, A., Hara, T., Tomiyasu, N., Handa, K., Tsuruta, O., Funabashi, H., Scheller, J., Toyonaga, A., Sata, M. (2006) STAT3 activation via interleukin 6 trans-signalling contributes to ileitis in SAMP1/Yit mice. *Gut.* **55**, 1263-1269.

267. Matsumoto, S., Hara, T., Mitsuyama, K., Yamamoto, M., Tsuruta, O., Sata, M., Scheller, J., Rose-John, S., Kado, S., Takada, T. (2010) Essential roles of IL-6 trans-signaling in colonic epithelial cells, induced by the IL-6/soluble-IL-6 receptor derived from lamina propria macrophages, on the development of colitis-associated premalignant cancer in a murine model. *J.Immunol.* **184**, 1543-1551.

268. Foran, E., Garrity-Park, M. M., Mureau, C., Newell, J., Smyrk, T. C., Limburg, P. J., Egan, L. J. (2010) Upregulation of DNA methyltransferase-mediated gene silencing,

anchorage-independent growth, and migration of colon cancer cells by interleukin-6. *Mol.Cancer.Res.* **8**, 471-481.

269. Rigby, R. J., Simmons, J. G., Greenhalgh, C. J., Alexander, W. S., Lund, P. K. (2007) Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) limits damage-induced crypt hyper-proliferation and inflammation-associated tumorigenesis in the colon. *Oncogene.* **26**, 4833-4841.

270. Guo, D., Dunbar, J. D., Yang, C. H., Pfeffer, L. M., Donner, D. B. (1998) Induction of Jak/STAT signaling by activation of the type 1 TNF receptor. *J.Immunol.* **160**, 2742-2750.

271. Carmeliet, P., Jain, R. K. (2011) Principles and mechanisms of vessel normalization for cancer and other angiogenic diseases. *Nat.Rev.Drug Discov.* **10**, 417-427.

272. Rutella, S., Vetrano, S., Correale, C., Graziani, C., Sturm, A., Spinelli, A., De Cristofaro, R., Repici, A., Malesci, A., Danese, S. (2011) Enhanced platelet adhesion induces angiogenesis in intestinal inflammation and inflammatory bowel disease microvasculature. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* **15**, 625-634.

273. Scaldaferri, F., Vetrano, S., Sans, M., Arena, V., Straface, G., Stigliano, E., Repici, A., Sturm, A., Malesci, A., Panes, J., Yla-Herttuala, S., Fiocchi, C., Danese, S. (2009) VEGF-A links angiogenesis and inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology*. **136**, 585-95.e5.

274. Dumitru, C. A., Gholaman, H., Trellakis, S., Bruderek, K., Dominas, N., Gu, X., Bankfalvi, A., Whiteside, T. L., Lang, S., Brandau, S. (2011) Tumor-derived macrophage migration inhibitory factor modulates the biology of head and neck cancer cells via neutrophil activation. *Int.J.Cancer.* **29**, 859-6.

275. Nozawa, H., Chiu, C., Hanahan, D. (2006) Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **103**, 12493-12498.

276. Kuang, D. M., Zhao, Q., Wu, Y., Peng, C., Wang, J., Xu, Z., Yin, X. Y., Zheng, L. (2010) Peritumoral neutrophils link inflammatory response to disease progression by fostering angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J.Hepatol.* **54**, 948-55.

277. Bergers, G., Brekken, R., McMahon, G., Vu, T. H., Itoh, T., Tamaki, K., Tanzawa, K., Thorpe, P., Itohara, S., Werb, Z., Hanahan, D. (2000) Matrix metalloproteinase-9 triggers the angiogenic switch during carcinogenesis. *Nat.Cell Biol.* **2**, 737-744.

278. Ardi, V. C., Kupriyanova, T. A., Deryugina, E. I., Quigley, J. P. (2007) Human neutrophils uniquely release TIMP-free MMP-9 to provide a potent catalytic stimulator of angiogenesis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **104**, 20262-20267.

279. Ardi, V. C., Van den Steen, P. E., Opdenakker, G., Schweighofer, B., Deryugina, E. I., Quigley, J. P. (2009) Neutrophil MMP-9 proenzyme, unencumbered by TIMP-1, undergoes efficient activation in vivo and catalytically induces angiogenesis via a basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2)/FGFR-2 pathway. *J.Biol.Chem.* **284**, 25854-25866.

280. Leber, T. M., Balkwill, F. R. (1998) Regulation of monocyte MMP-9 production by TNFalpha and a tumour-derived soluble factor (MMPSF). *Br.J.Cancer.* **78**, 724-732. 281. Scott, K. A., Arnott, C. H., Robinson, S. C., Moore, R. J., Thompson, R. G., Marshall, J. F., Balkwill, F. R. (2004) TNF-alpha regulates epithelial expression of MMP-9 and integrin alphavbeta6 during tumour promotion. A role for TNF-alpha in keratinocyte migration? *Oncogene.* **23**, 6954-6966.

282. Castaneda, F. E., Walia, B., Vijay-Kumar, M., Patel, N. R., Roser, S., Kolachala, V. L., Rojas, M., Wang, L., Oprea, G., Garg, P., Gewirtz, A. T., Roman, J., Merlin, D., Sitaraman, S. V. (2005) Targeted deletion of metalloproteinase 9 attenuates experimental colitis in mice: central role of epithelial-derived MMP. *Gastroenterology*. **129**, 1991-2008.

283. Garg, P., Sarma, D., Jeppsson, S., Patel, N. R., Gewirtz, A. T., Merlin, D., Sitaraman, S. V. (2010) Matrix metalloproteinase-9 functions as a tumor suppressor in colitis-associated cancer. *Cancer Res.* **70**, 792-801.

284. Garg, P., Jeppsson, S., Dalmasso, G., Ghaleb, A. M., McConnell, B. B., Yang, V. W., Gewirtz, A. T., Merlin, D., Sitaraman, S. V. (2011) Notch1 Regulates the Effects of Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 on Colitis-Associated Cancer in Mice. *Gastroenterology*. **141**, 1381-92.

285. Feng, C. C., Wang, P. H., Ding, Q., Guan, M., Zhang, Y. F., Jiang, H. W., Wen, H., Wu, Z. (2011) Expression of pigment epithelium-derived factor and tumor necrosis factor-alpha is correlated in bladder tumor and is related to tumor angiogenesis. *Urol.Oncol.* [E pub ahead of print]

286. Stoelcker, B., Ruhland, B., Hehlgans, T., Bluethmann, H., Luther, T., Mannel, D. N. (2000) Tumor necrosis factor induces tumor necrosis via tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-expressing endothelial cells of the tumor vasculature. *Am.J.Pathol.* **156**, 1171-1176.

287. Pan, S., An, P., Zhang, R., He, X., Yin, G., Min, W. (2002) Etk/Bmx as a tumor necrosis factor receptor type 2-specific kinase: role in endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* **22**, 7512-7523.

288. Roessner, A., Kuester, D., Malfertheiner, P., Schneider-Stock, R. (2008) Oxidative stress in ulcerative colitis-associated carcinogenesis. *Pathol.Res.Pract.* **204**, 511-524.

289. Rokutan, K., Kawahara, T., Kuwano, Y., Tominaga, K., Nishida, K., Teshima-Kondo, S. (2008) Nox enzymes and oxidative stress in the immunopathology of the gastrointestinal tract. *Semin.Immunopathol.* **30**, 315-327.

290. Dincer, Y., Erzin, Y., Himmetoglu, S., Gunes, K. N., Bal, K., Akcay, T. (2007) Oxidative DNA damage and antioxidant activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **52**, 1636-1641.

291. Ding, X., Hiraku, Y., Ma, N., Kato, T., Saito, K., Nagahama, M., Semba, R., Kuribayashi, K., Kawanishi, S. (2005) Inducible nitric oxide synthase-dependent DNA damage in mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease. *Cancer.Sci.* **96**, 157-163.

292. Kruidenier, L., Kuiper, I., Lamers, C. B., Verspaget, H. W. (2003) Intestinal oxidative damage in inflammatory bowel disease: semi-quantification, localization, and association with mucosal antioxidants. *J.Pathol.* **201**, 28-36.

293. Lu, A. L., Li, X., Gu, Y., Wright, P. M., Chang, D. Y. (2001) Repair of oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms and functions. *Cell Biochem.Biophys.* **35**, 141-170.

294. Ichikawa, H., Takagi, T., Uchiyama, K., Higashihara, H., Katada, K., Isozaki, Y., Naito, Y., Yoshida, N., Yoshikawa, T. (2004) Rotenone, a mitochondrial electron transport inhibitor, ameliorates ischemia-reperfusion-induced intestinal mucosal damage in rats. *Redox Rep.* **9**, 313-316.

295. Reynolds, P. D., Rhenius, S. T., Hunter, J. O. (1996) Xanthine oxidase activity is not increased in the colonic mucosa of ulcerative colitis. *Aliment.Pharmacol.Ther.* **10**, 737-741.

296. Sparrow, M. P., Hande, S. A., Friedman, S., Cao, D., Hanauer, S. B. (2007) Effect of allopurinol on clinical outcomes in inflammatory bowel disease nonresponders to azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **5**, 209-214.

297. Kolios, G., Valatas, V., Ward, S. G. (2004) Nitric oxide in inflammatory bowel disease: a universal messenger in an unsolved puzzle. *Immunology*. **113**, 427-437.

298. Rada, B., Hably, C., Meczner, A., Timar, C., Lakatos, G., Enyedi, P., Ligeti, E. (2008) Role of Nox2 in elimination of microorganisms. *Semin.Immunopathol.* **30**, 237-253.

299. Cathcart, M. K. (2004) Regulation of superoxide anion production by NADPH oxidase in monocytes/macrophages: contributions to atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler.Thromb.Vasc.Biol.* **24**, 23-28.

300. Walder, C. E., Green, S. P., Darbonne, W. C., Mathias, J., Rae, J., Dinauer, M. C., Curnutte, J. T., Thomas, G. R. (1997) Ischemic stroke injury is reduced in mice lacking a functional NADPH oxidase. *Stroke*. **28**, 2252-2258.

301. Huang, J. S., Noack, D., Rae, J., Ellis, B. A., Newbury, R., Pong, A. L., Lavine, J. E., Curnutte, J. T., Bastian, J. (2004) Chronic granulomatous disease caused by a deficiency in p47(phox) mimicking Crohn's disease. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* **2**, 690-695.

302. Keshavarzian, A., Morgan, G., Sedghi, S., Gordon, J. H., Doria, M. (1990) Role of reactive oxygen metabolites in experimental colitis. *Gut.* **31**, 786-790.

303. Krieglstein, C. F., Cerwinka, W. H., Laroux, F. S., Salter, J. W., Russell, J. M., Schuermann, G., Grisham, M. B., Ross, C. R., Granger, D. N. (2001) Regulation of murine intestinal inflammation by reactive metabolites of oxygen and nitrogen: divergent roles of superoxide and nitric oxide. *J.Exp.Med.* **194**, 1207-1218.

304. Bao, S., Carr, E. D., Xu, Y. H., Hunt, N. H. (2011) Gp91(phox) contributes to the development of experimental inflammatory bowel disease. *Immunol.Cell Biol.* **89**, 853-860.

305. Gianni, D., Diaz, B., Taulet, N., Fowler, B., Courtneidge, S. A., Bokoch, G. M. (2009) Novel p47(phox)-related organizers regulate localized NADPH oxidase 1 (Nox1) activity. *Sci.Signal.* **2**, 54.

306. Yan, B., Wang, H., Rabbani, Z. N., Zhao, Y., Li, W., Yuan, Y., Li, F., Dewhirst, M. W., Li, C. Y. (2006) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is a potent endogenous mutagen that promotes cellular transformation. *Cancer Res.* **66**, 11565-11570.

307. Babbar, N., Casero, R. A., Jr. (2006) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases reactive oxygen species by inducing spermine oxidase in human lung epithelial cells: a potential mechanism for inflammation-induced carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* **66**, 11125-11130.

308. Komori, A., Yatsunami, J., Suganuma, M., Okabe, S., Abe, S., Sakai, A., Sasaki, K., Fujiki, H. (1993) Tumor necrosis factor acts as a tumor promoter in BALB/3T3 cell transformation. *Cancer Res.* **53**, 1982-1985.

309. Klebanoff, S. J., Vadas, M. A., Harlan, J. M., Sparks, L. H., Gamble, J. R., Agosti, J. M., Waltersdorph, A. M. (1986) Stimulation of neutrophils by tumor necrosis factor. *J.Immunol.* **136**, 4220-4225.

310. Berkow, R. L., Wang, D., Larrick, J. W., Dodson, R. W., Howard, T. H. (1987) Enhancement of neutrophil superoxide production by preincubation with recombinant human tumor necrosis factor. *J.Immunol.* **139**, 3783-3791.

311. Gauss, K. A., Nelson-Overton, L. K., Siemsen, D. W., Gao, Y., DeLeo, F. R., Quinn, M. T. (2007) Role of NF-kappaB in transcriptional regulation of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **82**, 729-741.

312. Byun, H. S., Won, M., Park, K. A., Kim, Y. R., Choi, B. L., Lee, H., Hong, J. H., Piao, L., Park, J., Kim, J. M., Kweon, G. R., Kang, S. H., Han, J., Hur, G. M. (2008) Prevention of TNF-induced necrotic cell death by rottlerin through a Nox1 NADPH oxidase. *Exp.Mol.Med.* **40**, 186-195.

313. Borregaard, N. (2010) Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. Immunity. 33, 657-670.

314. Decleva, E., Dri, P., Menegazzi, R., Busetto, S., Cramer, R. (2002) Evidence that TNFinduced respiratory burst of adherent PMN is mediated by integrin alpha(L)beta(2). *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **72**, 718-726.

315. Richter, J., Gullberg, U., Lantz, M. (1995) TNF-induced superoxide anion production in adherent human neutrophils involves both the p55 and p75 TNF receptor. *J.Immunol.* **154**, 4142-4149.

316. Yazdanpanah, B., Wiegmann, K., Tchikov, V., Krut, O., Pongratz, C., Schramm, M., Kleinridders, A., Wunderlich, T., Kashkar, H., Utermohlen, O., Bruning, J. C., Schutze, S., Kronke, M. (2009) Riboflavin kinase couples TNF receptor 1 to NADPH oxidase. *Nature*. **460**, 1159-1163.

317. Li, J. M., Fan, L. M., Christie, M. R., Shah, A. M. (2005) Acute tumor necrosis factor alpha signaling via NADPH oxidase in microvascular endothelial cells: role of p47phox phosphorylation and binding to TRAF4. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* **25**, 2320-2330.

318. Kim, Y. S., Morgan, M. J., Choksi, S., Liu, Z. G. (2007) TNF-induced activation of the Nox1 NADPH oxidase and its role in the induction of necrotic cell death. *Mol.Cell.* **26**, 675-687.

319. Uronis, J. M., Muhlbauer, M., Herfarth, H. H., Rubinas, T. C., Jones, G. S., Jobin, C. (2009) Modulation of the intestinal microbiota alters colitis-associated colorectal cancer susceptibility. *PLoS One.* **4**, e6026.

320. Engle, S. J., Ormsby, I., Pawlowski, S., Boivin, G. P., Croft, J., Balish, E., Doetschman, T. (2002) Elimination of colon cancer in germ-free transforming growth factor beta 1-deficient mice. *Cancer Res.* **62**, 6362-6366.

321. Esworthy, R. S., Aranda, R., Martin, M. G., Doroshow, J. H., Binder, S. W., Chu, F. F. (2001) Mice with combined disruption of Gpx1 and Gpx2 genes have colitis.

Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol. 281, G848-55.

322. Esworthy, R. S., Binder, S. W., Doroshow, J. H., Chu, F. F. (2003) Microflora trigger colitis in mice deficient in selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase and induce Gpx2 gene expression. *Biol. Chem.* **384**, 597-607.

323. Esworthy, R. S., Yang, L., Frankel, P. H., Chu, F. F. (2005) Epithelium-specific glutathione peroxidase, Gpx2, is involved in the prevention of intestinal inflammation in selenium-deficient mice. *J.Nutr.* **135**, 740-745.

324. Lee, D. H., Esworthy, R. S., Chu, C., Pfeifer, G. P., Chu, F. F. (2006) Mutation accumulation in the intestine and colon of mice deficient in two intracellular glutathione peroxidases. *Cancer Res.* **66**, 9845-9851.

325. Chu, F. F., Esworthy, R. S., Chu, P. G., Longmate, J. A., Huycke, M. M., Wilczynski, S., Doroshow, J. H. (2004) Bacteria-induced intestinal cancer in mice with disrupted Gpx1 and Gpx2 genes. *Cancer Res.* **64**, 962-968.

326. Cavanaugh, J. A., Adams, K. E., Quak, E. J., Bryce, M. E., O'Callaghan, N. J., Rodgers, H. J., Magarry, G. R., Butler, W. J., Eaden, J. A., Roberts-Thomson, I. C., Pavli, P., Wilson, S. R., Callen, D. F. (2003) CARD15/NOD2 risk alleles in the development of Crohn's disease in the Australian population. *Ann.Hum.Genet.* **67**, 35-41.

327. Hugot, J. P., Chamaillard, M., Zouali, H., Lesage, S., Cezard, J. P., Belaiche, J., Almer, S., Tysk, C., O'Morain, C. A., Gassull, M., Binder, V., Finkel, Y., Cortot, A., Modigliani, R., Laurent-Puig, P., Gower-Rousseau, C., Macry, J., Colombel, J. F., Sahbatou, M., Thomas, G. (2001) Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature*. **411**, 599-603.

328. Yazdanyar, S., Nordestgaard, B. G. (2010) NOD2/CARD15 genotype, cardiovascular disease and cancer in 43 600 individuals from the general population. *J.Intern.Med.*

329. Chen, G. Y., Shaw, M. H., Redondo, G., Nunez, G. (2008) The innate immune receptor Nod1 protects the intestine from inflammation-induced tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* **68**, 10060-10067.

330. Lowe, E. L., Crother, T. R., Rabizadeh, S., Hu, B., Wang, H., Chen, S., Shimada, K., Wong, M. H., Michelsen, K. S., Arditi, M. (2010) Toll-like receptor 2 signaling protects mice from tumor development in a mouse model of colitis-induced cancer. *PLoS One.* **5**, e13027.

331. Fukata, M., Shang, L., Santaolalla, R., Sotolongo, J., Pastorini, C., Espana, C., Ungaro, R., Harpaz, N., Cooper, H. S., Elson, G., Kosco-Vilbois, M., Zaias, J., Perez, M. T., Mayer, L., Vamadevan, A. S., Lira, S. A., Abreu, M. T. (2010) Constitutive activation of epithelial TLR4 augments inflammatory responses to mucosal injury and drives colitis-associated tumorigenesis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.*

332. Fukata, M., Hernandez, Y., Conduah, D., Cohen, J., Chen, A., Breglio, K., Goo, T., Hsu, D., Xu, R., Abreu, M. T. (2009) Innate immune signaling by Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) shapes the inflammatory microenvironment in colitis-associated tumors. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **15**, 997-1006.

333. Fukata, M., Chen, A., Vamadevan, A. S., Cohen, J., Breglio, K., Krishnareddy, S., Hsu, D., Xu, R., Harpaz, N., Dannenberg, A. J., Subbaramaiah, K., Cooper, H. S., Itzkowitz, S. H., Abreu,

M. T. (2007) Toll-like receptor-4 promotes the development of colitis-associated colorectal tumors. *Gastroenterology*. **133**, 1869-1881.

334. Fukata, M., Chen, A., Klepper, A., Krishnareddy, S., Vamadevan, A. S., Thomas, L. S., Xu, R., Inoue, H., Arditi, M., Dannenberg, A. J., Abreu, M. T. (2006) Cox-2 is regulated by Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) signaling: Role in proliferation and apoptosis in the intestine. *Gastroenterology*. **131**, 862-877.

335. Salcedo, R., Worschech, A., Cardone, M., Jones, Y., Gyulai, Z., Dai, R. M., Wang, E., Ma, W., Haines, D., O'hUigin, C., Marincola, F. M., Trinchieri, G. (2010) MyD88-mediated signaling prevents development of adenocarcinomas of the colon: role of interleukin 18. *J.Exp.Med.* **207**, 1625-1636.

336. Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Medzhitov, R. (2007) Regulation of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis through the adaptor protein MyD88. *Science*. **317**, 124-127.

337. Araki, A., Kanai, T., Ishikura, T., Makita, S., Uraushihara, K., Iiyama, R., Totsuka, T., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Watanabe, M. (2005) MyD88-deficient mice develop severe intestinal inflammation in dextran sodium sulfate colitis. *J.Gastroenterol.* **40**, 16-23.

338. Miyake, T., Kumagai, Y., Kato, H., Guo, Z., Matsushita, K., Satoh, T., Kawagoe, T., Kumar, H., Jang, M. H., Kawai, T., Tani, T., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S. (2009) Poly I:C-induced activation of NK cells by CD8 alpha+ dendritic cells via the IPS-1 and TRIF-dependent pathways. *J.Immunol.* **183**, 2522-2528.

339. Bickston, S. J., Lichtenstein, G. R., Arseneau, K. O., Cohen, R. B., Cominelli, F. (1999) The relationship between infliximab treatment and lymphoma in Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. **117**, 1433-1437.

340. Roddy, E., Courtney, P. A., Morris, A. (2002) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in a patient with refractory dermatomyositis which had been treated with infliximab. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. **41**, 1194-1195.

341. Albert, E. J., Marshall, J. S. (2008) Aging in the absence of TLR2 is associated with reduced IFN-gamma responses in the large intestine and increased severity of induced colitis. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **83**, 833-842.

342. Yan, S. R., Joseph, R. R., Rosen, K., Reginato, M. J., Jackson, A., Allaire, N., Brugge, J. S., Jobin, C., Stadnyk, A. W. (2005) Activation of NF-kappaB following detachment delays apoptosis in intestinal epithelial cells. *Oncogene.* **24**, 6482-6491.

343. van Os, R., Thames, H. D., Konings, A. W., Down, J. D. (1993) Radiation dose-fractionation and dose-rate relationships for long-term repopulating hemopoietic stem cells in a murine bone marrow transplant model. *Radiat.Res.* **136**, 118-125.

344. Aparicio-Vergara, M., Shiri-Sverdlov, R., de Haan, G., Hofker, M. H. (2010) Bone marrow transplantation in mice as a tool for studying the role of hematopoietic cells in metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. *Atherosclerosis.* **213**, 335-344.

345. Bradley, J. R. (2008) TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. *J.Pathol.* 214, 149-160.
346. van Dullemen, H. M., van Deventer, S. J., Hommes, D. W., Bijl, H. A., Jansen, J., Tytgat, G. N., Woody, J. (1995) Treatment of Crohn's disease with anti-tumor necrosis factor chimeric monoclonal antibody (cA2). *Gastroenterology*. 109, 129-135.

347. Sandborn, W. J., Hanauer, S., Loftus, E. V., Jr, Tremaine, W. J., Kane, S., Cohen, R., Hanson, K., Johnson, T., Schmitt, D., Jeche, R. (2004) An open-label study of the human anti-TNF monoclonal antibody adalimumab in subjects with prior loss of response or intolerance to infliximab for Crohn's disease. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.* **99**, 1984-1989.

348. Sands, B. E., Tremaine, W. J., Sandborn, W. J., Rutgeerts, P. J., Hanauer, S. B., Mayer, L., Targan, S. R., Podolsky, D. K. (2001) Infliximab in the treatment of severe, steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis: a pilot study. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **7**, 83-88.

349. Boismenu, R., Chen, Y., Chou, K., El-Sheikh, A., Buelow, R. (2002) Orally administered RDP58 reduces the severity of dextran sodium sulphate induced colitis. *Ann.Rheum.Dis.* **61 Suppl 2**, ii19-24.

350. Grell, M. (1995) Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors in cellular signaling of soluble and membrane-expressed TNF. *J.Inflamm.* **47**, 8-17.

351. Wallach, D., Engelmann, H., Nophar, Y., Aderka, D., Kemper, O., Hornik, V., Holtmann, H., Brakebusch, C. (1991) Soluble and cell surface receptors for tumor necrosis factor. *Agents Actions Suppl.* **35**, 51-57.

352. Grell, M., Wajant, H., Zimmermann, G., Scheurich, P. (1998) The type 1 receptor (CD120a) is the high-affinity receptor for soluble tumor necrosis factor. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **95**, 570-575.

353. Myers, K. J., Murthy, S., Flanigan, A., Witchell, D. R., Butler, M., Murray, S., Siwkowski, A., Goodfellow, D., Madsen, K., Baker, B. (2003) Antisense oligonucleotide blockade of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in two murine models of colitis. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* **304**, 411-424.

354. Kohut, M., Kacperek-Hartleb, T., Sojka, D., Hartleb, M. (2010) Serum level of TNF-alpha receptor type II better correlates with severity of Crohn's disease than other cytokines and conventional clinical activity indicators. *Pol.Merkur Lekarski*. **28**, 454-458.

355. Wong, M., Ziring, D., Korin, Y., Desai, S., Kim, S., Lin, J., Gjertson, D., Braun, J., Reed, E., Singh, R. R. (2008) TNFalpha blockade in human diseases: mechanisms and future directions. *Clin.Immunol.* **126**, 121-136.

356. Melgar, S., Karlsson, L., Rehnstrom, E., Karlsson, A., Utkovic, H., Jansson, L., Michaelsson, E. (2008) Validation of murine dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis using four therapeutic agents for human inflammatory bowel disease. *Int.Immunopharmacol.* **8**, 836-844.

357. Xu, Y., Hunt, N. H., Bao, S. (2007) The correlation between proinflammatory cytokines, MAdCAM-1 and cellular infiltration in the inflamed colon from TNF-alpha gene knockout mice. *Immunol.Cell Biol.* **85**, 633-639.

358. Ohkawara, T., Nishihira, J., Takeda, H., Hige, S., Kato, M., Sugiyama, T., Iwanaga, T., Nakamura, H., Mizue, Y., Asaka, M. (2002) Amelioration of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis by anti-macrophage migration inhibitory factor antibody in mice. *Gastroenterology*. **123**, 256-270.

359. Qualls, J. E., Kaplan, A. M., van Rooijen, N., Cohen, D. A. (2006) Suppression of experimental colitis by intestinal mononuclear phagocytes. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **80**, 802-815.

360. Hadziselimovic, F., Emmons, L. R., Gallati, H. (1995) Soluble tumour necrosis factor receptors p55 and p75 in the urine monitor disease activity and the efficacy of treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* **37**, 260-263.

361. Hanai, H., Watanabe, F., Yamada, M., Sato, Y., Takeuchi, K., Iida, T., Tozawa, K., Tanaka, T., Maruyama, Y., Matsushita, I., Iwaoka, Y., Saniabadi, A. (2004) Correlation of serum soluble TNF-alpha receptors I and II levels with disease activity in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.* **99**, 1532-1538.

362. Merger, M., Viney, J. L., Borojevic, R., Steele-Norwood, D., Zhou, P., Clark, D. A., Riddell, R., Maric, R., Podack, E. R., Croitoru, K. (2002) Defining the roles of perforin, Fas/FasL, and tumour necrosis factor alpha in T cell induced mucosal damage in the mouse intestine. *Gut.* **51**, 155-163.

363. Stillie, R., Stadnyk, A. W. (2009) Role of TNF receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2, in dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **15**, 1515-1525.

364. Hanauer, S. B., Sandborn, W. J., Rutgeerts, P., Fedorak, R. N., Lukas, M., MacIntosh, D., Panaccione, R., Wolf, D., Pollack, P. (2006) Human anti-tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody (adalimumab) in Crohn's disease: the CLASSIC-I trial. *Gastroenterology*. **130**, 323-33; 591.

365. Colombel, J. F., Sandborn, W. J., Rutgeerts, P., Enns, R., Hanauer, S. B., Panaccione, R., Schreiber, S., Byczkowski, D., Li, J., Kent, J. D., Pollack, P. F. (2007) Adalimumab for maintenance of clinical response and remission in patients with Crohn's disease: the CHARM trial. *Gastroenterology*. **132**, 52-65.

366. Balkwill, F., Joffroy, C. (2010) TNF: a tumor-suppressing factor or a tumor-promoting factor?. *Future Oncol.* **6**, 1833-1836.

367. Sakai, H., Yamada, Y., Shimizu, M., Saito, K., Moriwaki, H., Hara, A. (2010) Genetic ablation of Tnf α demonstrates no detectable suppressive effect on inflammation-related mouse colon tumorigenesis. *Chem.Biol.Interact.* **184**, 423-430.

368. Kuwano, Y., Tominaga, K., Kawahara, T., Sasaki, H., Takeo, K., Nishida, K., Masuda, K., Kawai, T., Teshima-Kondo, S., Rokutan, K. (2008) Tumor necrosis factor alpha activates transcription of the NADPH oxidase organizer 1 (NOXO1) gene and upregulates superoxide production in colon epithelial cells. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* **45**, 1642-1652.

369. Edelblum, K. L., Goettel, J. A., Koyama, T., McElroy, S. J., Yan, F., Polk, D. B. (2008) TNFR1 promotes tumor necrosis factor-mediated mouse colon epithelial cell survival through RAF activation of NF-kappaB. *J.Biol.Chem.* **283**, 29485-29494.

370. Kneilling, M., Mailhammer, R., Hultner, L., Schonberger, T., Fuchs, K., Schaller, M., Bukala, D., Massberg, S., Sander, C. A., Braumuller, H., Eichner, M., Maier, K. L., Hallmann, R., Pichler, B. J., Haubner, R., Gawaz, M., Pfeffer, K., Biedermann, T., Rocken, M. (2009) Direct crosstalk between mast cell-TNF and TNFR1-expressing endothelia mediates local tissue inflammation. *Blood.* **114**, 1696-1706.

371. Kasai, H. (1997) Analysis of a form of oxidative DNA damage, 8-hydroxy-2'-

deoxyguanosine, as a marker of cellular oxidative stress during carcinogenesis. *Mutat.Res.* **387**, 147-163.

372. Yoshimi, K., Tanaka, T., Takizawa, A., Kato, M., Hirabayashi, M., Mashimo, T., Serikawa, T., Kuramoto, T. (2009) Enhanced colitis-associated colon carcinogenesis in a novel Apc mutant rat. *Cancer.Sci.* **100**, 2022-2027.

373. Mathy, C., Schneider, K., Chen, Y. Y., Varma, M., Terdiman, J. P., Mahadevan, U. (2003) Gross versus microscopic pancolitis and the occurrence of neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **9**, 351-355.

374. Piguet, P. F., Vesin, C., Donati, Y., Barazzone, C. (1999) TNF-induced enterocyte apoptosis and detachment in mice: induction of caspases and prevention by a caspase inhibitor, ZVAD-fmk. *Lab.Invest.* **79**, 495-500.

375. Piguet, P. F., Vesin, C., Guo, J., Donati, Y., Barazzone, C. (1998) TNF-induced enterocyte apoptosis in mice is mediated by the TNF receptor 1 and does not require p53. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **28**, 3499-3505.

376. Spehlmann, M. E., Dann, S. M., Hruz, P., Hanson, E., McCole, D. F., Eckmann, L. (2009) CXCR2-dependent mucosal neutrophil influx protects against colitis-associated diarrhea caused by an attaching/effacing lesion-forming bacterial pathogen. *J.Immunol.* **183**, 3332-3343.

377. Buanne, P., Di Carlo, E., Caputi, L., Brandolini, L., Mosca, M., Cattani, F., Pellegrini, L., Biordi, L., Coletti, G., Sorrentino, C., Fedele, G., Colotta, F., Melillo, G., Bertini, R. (2007) Crucial pathophysiological role of CXCR2 in experimental ulcerative colitis in mice. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* **82**, 1239-1246.

378. Lee, T. S., Yen, H. C., Pan, C. C., Chau, L. Y. (1999) The role of interleukin 12 in the development of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Arterioscler.Thromb.Vasc.Biol.* **19**, 734-742.

379. Engel, M. A., Neurath, M. F. (2010) Anticancer properties of the IL-12 family--focus on colorectal cancer. *Curr.Med.Chem.* **17**, 3303-3308.

380. Aslan, M., Nazligul, Y., Bolukbas, C., Bolukbas, F. F., Horoz, M., Dulger, A. C., Erdur, F. M., Celik, H., Kocyigit, A. (2011) Peripheral lymphocyte DNA damage and oxidative stress in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Pol.Arch.Med.Wewn*.

381. Sunil, V. R., Patel-Vayas, K., Shen, J., Gow, A. J., Laskin, J. D., Laskin, D. L. (2011) Role of TNFR1 in lung injury and altered lung function induced by the model sulfur mustard vesicant, 2-chloroethyl ethyl sulfide. *Toxicol.Appl.Pharmacol.* **250**, 245-255.

382. Liao, J., Seril, D. N., Lu, G. G., Zhang, M., Toyokuni, S., Yang, A. L., Yang, G. Y. (2008) Increased susceptibility of chronic ulcerative colitis-induced carcinoma development in DNA repair enzyme Ogg1 deficient mice. *Mol.Carcinog.* **47**, 638-646.

383. D'Inca, R., Cardin, R., Benazzato, L., Angriman, I., Martines, D., Sturniolo, G. C. (2004) Oxidative DNA damage in the mucosa of ulcerative colitis increases with disease duration and dysplasia. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **10**, 23-27.

384. Rokutan, K., Kawahara, T., Kuwano, Y., Tominaga, K., Sekiyama, A., Teshima-Kondo, S. (2006) NADPH oxidases in the gastrointestinal tract: a potential role of Nox1 in innate immune

response and carcinogenesis. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8, 1573-1582.

385. Seril, D. N., Liao, J., Ho, K. L., Yang, C. S., Yang, G. Y. (2002) Inhibition of chronic ulcerative colitis-associated colorectal adenocarcinoma development in a murine model by N-acetylcysteine. *Carcinogenesis.* **23**, 993-1001.

386. Chu, F. F., Esworthy, R. S., Doroshow, J. H. (2004) Role of Se-dependent glutathione peroxidases in gastrointestinal inflammation and cancer. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* **36**, 1481-1495.

387. Ju, J., Hao, X., Lee, M. J., Lambert, J. D., Lu, G., Xiao, H., Newmark, H. L., Yang, C. S. (2009) A gamma-tocopherol-rich mixture of tocopherols inhibits colon inflammation and carcinogenesis in azoxymethane and dextran sulfate sodium-treated mice. *Cancer.Prev.Res.(Phila Pa).* **2**, 143-152.

388. D'Odorico, A., Bortolan, S., Cardin, R., D'Inca', R., Martines, D., Ferronato, A., Sturniolo, G. C. (2001) Reduced plasma antioxidant concentrations and increased oxidative DNA damage in inflammatory bowel disease. *Scand.J.Gastroenterol.* **36**, 1289-1294.

389. Kruidenier, L., Kuiper, I., Van Duijn, W., Mieremet-Ooms, M. A., van Hogezand, R. A., Lamers, C. B., Verspaget, H. W. (2003) Imbalanced secondary mucosal antioxidant response in inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Pathol.* **201**, 17-27.

390. Buffinton, G. D., Doe, W. F. (1995) Depleted mucosal antioxidant defences in inflammatory bowel disease. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* **19**, 911-918.

391. Kruidenier, L., van Meeteren, M. E., Kuiper, I., Jaarsma, D., Lamers, C. B., Zijlstra, F. J., Verspaget, H. W. (2003) Attenuated mild colonic inflammation and improved survival from severe DSS-colitis of transgenic Cu/Zn-SOD mice. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* **34**, 753-765.

392. Krzystek-Korpacka, M., Neubauer, K., Berdowska, I., Boehm, D., Zielinski, B., Petryszyn, P., Terlecki, G., Paradowski, L., Gamian, A. (2008) Enhanced formation of advanced oxidation protein products in IBD. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **14**, 794-802.

393. Hussain, S. P., Hofseth, L. J., Harris, C. C. (2003) Radical causes of cancer. *Nat.Rev.Cancer.* **3**, 276-285.

394. Korenaga, D., Takesue, F., Kido, K., Yasuda, M., Inutsuka, S., Honda, M., Nagahama, S. (2002) Impaired antioxidant defense system of colonic tissue and cancer development in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *J.Surg.Res.* **102**, 144-149.

395. Rada, B., Leto, T. L. (2008) Oxidative innate immune defenses by Nox/Duox family NADPH oxidases. *Contrib.Microbiol.* **15**, 164-187.

396. Mori, M., Stokes, K. Y., Vowinkel, T., Watanabe, N., Elrod, J. W., Harris, N. R., Lefer, D. J., Hibi, T., Granger, D. N. (2005) Colonic blood flow responses in experimental colitis: time course and underlying mechanisms. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* **289**, G1024-9.

397. Schwartz, D. A., Maltz, B. E. (2010) Treatment of fistulizing inflammatory bowel disease. *Med.Clin.North Am.* **94**, 19-34.

398. Campregher, C., Luciani, M. G., Gasche, C. (2008) Activated neutrophils induce an hMSH2-dependent G2/M checkpoint arrest and replication errors at a (CA)13-repeat in colon epithelial cells. *Gut.* **57**, 780-787.

399. Schappi, M. G., Jaquet, V., Belli, D. C., Krause, K. H. (2008) Hyperinflammation in chronic granulomatous disease and anti-inflammatory role of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase. *Semin.Immunopathol.* **30**, 255-271.

400. Suraweera, N., Zampeli, E., Rogers, P., Atkin, W., Forbes, A., Harbord, M., Silver, A. (2004) NCF1 (p47phox) and ncf1 pseudogenes are not associated with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **10**, 758-762.

401. Cheng, G., Ritsick, D., Lambeth, J. D. (2004) Nox3 regulation by NOXO1, p47phox, and p67phox. *J.Biol.Chem.* **279**, 34250-34255.

402. Fridlender, Z. G., Sun, J., Kim, S., Kapoor, V., Cheng, G., Ling, L., Worthen, G. S., Albelda, S. M. (2009) Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. *Cancer.Cell.* **16**, 183-194.

403. Lih-Brody, L., Powell, S. R., Collier, K. P., Reddy, G. M., Cerchia, R., Kahn, E., Weissman, G. S., Katz, S., Floyd, R. A., McKinley, M. J., Fisher, S. E., Mullin, G. E. (1996) Increased oxidative stress and decreased antioxidant defenses in mucosa of inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig.Dis.Sci.* **41**, 2078-2086.

404. Szlosarek, P. W., Balkwill, F. R. (2003) Tumour necrosis factor alpha: a potential target for the therapy of solid tumours. *Lancet Oncol.* **4**, 565-573.

405. Piao, J. H., Hasegawa, M., Heissig, B., Hattori, K., Takeda, K., Iwakura, Y., Okumura, K., Inohara, N., Nakano, H. (2011) Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF) 2 controls homeostasis of the colon to prevent spontaneous development of murine inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Biol.Chem.* **286**, 17879-17888.

406. Roulis, M., Armaka, M., Manoloukos, M., Apostolaki, M., Kollias, G. (2011) Intestinal epithelial cells as producers but not targets of chronic TNF suffice to cause murine Crohn-like pathology. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **108**, 5396-5401.

407. Rogler, G., Gelbmann, C. M., Vogl, D., Brunner, M., Scholmerich, J., Falk, W., Andus, T., Brand, K. (2001) Differential activation of cytokine secretion in primary human colonic fibroblast/myofibroblast cultures. *Scand.J.Gastroenterol.* **36**, 389-398.

408. Yoo, J., Chung, C., Slice, L., Sinnett-Smith, J., Rozengurt, E. (2009) Protein kinase D mediates synergistic expression of COX-2 induced by TNF-{alpha} and bradykinin in human colonic myofibroblasts. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell.Physiol.* **297**, C1576-87.

409. Yoo, J., Perez, C. E., Nie, W., Sinnett-Smith, J., Rozengurt, E. (2011) Protein kinase D1 mediates synergistic MMP-3 expression induced by TNF-alpha and bradykinin in human colonic myofibroblasts. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* **413**, 30-35.

410. Yen, T. H., Wright, N. A. (2006) The gastrointestinal tract stem cell niche. *Stem Cell.Rev.* **2**, 203-212.

411. Andoh, A., Shioya, M., Nishida, A., Bamba, S., Tsujikawa, T., Kim-Mitsuyama, S., Fujiyama, Y. (2009) Expression of IL-24, an activator of the JAK1/STAT3/SOCS3 cascade, is enhanced in inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Immunol.* **183**, 687-695.

412. Shirota, K., LeDuy, L., Yuan, S. Y., Jothy, S. (1990) Interleukin-6 and its receptor are

expressed in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Virchows Arch.B.Cell.Pathol.Incl Mol.Pathol.* **58**, 303-308.

413. Yang, H., Wang, Y., Qian, H., Zhang, P., Huang, C. (2011) Pim protein kinase-3 is regulated by TNF-alpha and promotes endothelial cell sprouting. *Mol.Cells.* **32**, 235-241.

414. Zhang, P., Wang, H., Min, X., Wang, Y., Tang, J., Cheng, J., Li, D., Chen, X., Cheng, F., Wang, N., Yang, H. (2009) Pim-3 is expressed in endothelial cells and promotes vascular tube formation. *J.Cell.Physiol.* **220**, 82-90.

415. Jing, Y., Ma, N., Fan, T., Wang, C., Bu, X., Jiang, G., Li, R., Gao, L., Li, D., Wu, M., Wei, L. (2011) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes tumor growth by inducing vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cancer Invest.* **29**, 485-493.

416. Jiang, G. L., Nieves, A., Im, W. B., Old, D. W., Dinh, D. T., Wheeler, L. (2007) The prevention of colitis by E Prostanoid receptor 4 agonist through enhancement of epithelium survival and regeneration. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* **320**, 22-28.

417. Kabashima, K., Saji, T., Murata, T., Nagamachi, M., Matsuoka, T., Segi, E., Tsuboi, K., Sugimoto, Y., Kobayashi, T., Miyachi, Y., Ichikawa, A., Narumiya, S. (2002) The prostaglandin receptor EP4 suppresses colitis, mucosal damage and CD4 cell activation in the gut. *J. Clin. Invest.* **109**, 883-893.

418. Oshima, H., Popivanova, B. K., Oguma, K., Kong, D., Ishikawa, T. O., Oshima, M. (2011) Activation of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling by the prostaglandin E(2) receptor EP4 pathway during gastric tumorigenesis. *Cancer.Sci.* **102**, 713-719.

419. Oshima, H., Hioki, K., Popivanova, B. K., Oguma, K., Van Rooijen, N., Ishikawa, T. O., Oshima, M. (2011) Prostaglandin E signaling and bacterial infection recruit tumor-promoting macrophages to mouse gastric tumors. *Gastroenterology*. **140**, 596-607.e7.

420. Boussetta, T., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M. A., Hayem, G., Ciappelloni, S., Raad, H., Arabi Derkawi, R., Bournier, O., Kroviarski, Y., Zhou, X. Z., Malter, J. S., Lu, P. K., Bartegi, A., Dang, P. M., El-Benna, J. (2010) The prolyl isomerase Pin1 acts as a novel molecular switch for TNF-alpha-induced priming of the NADPH oxidase in human neutrophils. *Blood.* **116**, 5795-5802.

421. Hong, S. K., Chaturvedi, R., Piazuelo, M. B., Coburn, L. A., Williams, C. S., Delgado, A. G., Casero, R. A., Jr, Schwartz, D. A., Wilson, K. T. (2010) Increased expression and cellular localization of spermine oxidase in ulcerative colitis and relationship to disease activity. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **16**, 1557-1566.

422. Weiss, T. S., Herfarth, H., Obermeier, F., Ouart, J., Vogl, D., Scholmerich, J., Jauch, K. W., Rogler, G. (2004) Intracellular polyamine levels of intestinal epithelial cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **10**, 529-535.

423. Goodwin, A. C., Shields, C. E., Wu, S., Huso, D. L., Wu, X., Murray-Stewart, T. R., Hacker-Prietz, A., Rabizadeh, S., Woster, P. M., Sears, C. L., Casero, R. A., Jr. (2011) Polyamine catabolism contributes to enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis-induced colon tumorigenesis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **108**, 15354-15359.

424. Perner, A., Andresen, L., Pedersen, G., Rask-Madsen, J. (2003) Superoxide production and expression of NAD(P)H oxidases by transformed and primary human colonic epithelial cells. *Gut.* **52**, 231-236.

425. Wang, R., Dashwood, W. M., Nian, H., Lohr, C. V., Fischer, K. A., Tsuchiya, N., Nakagama, H., Ashktorab, H., Dashwood, R. H. (2011) NADPH oxidase overexpression in human colon cancers and rat colon tumors induced by 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine (PhIP). *Int.J. Cancer.* **128**, 2581-2590.

426. Fukuyama, M., Rokutan, K., Sano, T., Miyake, H., Shimada, M., Tashiro, S. (2005) Overexpression of a novel superoxide-producing enzyme, NADPH oxidase 1, in adenoma and well differentiated adenocarcinoma of the human colon. *Cancer Lett.* **221**, 97-104.

427. Kamizato, M., Nishida, K., Masuda, K., Takeo, K., Yamamoto, Y., Kawai, T., Teshima-Kondo, S., Tanahashi, T., Rokutan, K. (2009) Interleukin 10 inhibits interferon gamma- and tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulated activation of NADPH oxidase 1 in human colonic epithelial cells and the mouse colon. *J.Gastroenterol.* **44**, 1172-1184.

428. Naito, Y., Takagi, T., Yoshikawa, T. (2007) Molecular fingerprints of neutrophil-dependent oxidative stress in inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Gastroenterol.* **42**, 787-798.

429. Laurent, E., McCoy, J. W., 3rd, Macina, R. A., Liu, W., Cheng, G., Robine, S., Papkoff, J., Lambeth, J. D. (2008) Nox1 is over-expressed in human colon cancers and correlates with activating mutations in K-Ras. *Int.J.Cancer.* **123**, 100-107.

430. Chiera, F., Meccia, E., Degan, P., Aquilina, G., Pietraforte, D., Minetti, M., Lambeth, D., Bignami, M. (2008) Overexpression of human NOX1 complex induces genome instability in mammalian cells. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* **44**, 332-342.

431. McCafferty, D. M., Mudgett, J. S., Swain, M. G., Kubes, P. (1997) Inducible nitric oxide synthase plays a critical role in resolving intestinal inflammation. *Gastroenterology*. **112**, 1022-1027.

432. McCafferty, D. M., Miampamba, M., Sihota, E., Sharkey, K. A., Kubes, P. (1999) Role of inducible nitric oxide synthase in trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid induced colitis in mice. *Gut.* **45**, 864-873.

433. Beck, P. L., Li, Y., Wong, J., Chen, C. W., Keenan, C. M., Sharkey, K. A., McCafferty, D. M. (2007) Inducible nitric oxide synthase from bone marrow-derived cells plays a critical role in regulating colonic inflammation. *Gastroenterology*. **132**, 1778-1790.

434. Segawa, Y., Oda, Y., Yamamoto, H., Uryu, H., Shiratsuchi, H., Hirakawa, N., Tomita, K., Yamamoto, T., Oda, S., Yamada, T., Komune, S., Tsuneyoshi, M. (2008) Overexpression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and accumulation of 8-OHdG in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Histopathology*. **52**, 213-223.

435. Kohno, H., Takahashi, M., Yasui, Y., Suzuki, R., Miyamoto, S., Kamanaka, Y., Naka, M., Maruyama, T., Wakabayashi, K., Tanaka, T. (2007) A specific inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, ONO-1714 attenuates inflammation-related large bowel carcinogenesis in male Apc(Min/+) mice. *Int.J. Cancer.* **121**, 506-513.

436. Seril, D. N., Liao, J., Yang, G. Y. (2007) Colorectal carcinoma development in inducible nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice with dextran sulfate sodium-induced ulcerative colitis. *Mol.Carcinog.* **46**, 341-353.

437. Zhang, R., Ma, A., Urbanski, S. J., McCafferty, D. M. (2007) Induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase: a protective mechanism in colitis-induced adenocarcinoma. *Carcinogenesis*. **28**, 1122-1130.

438. Clancy, R. M., Leszczynska-Piziak, J., Abramson, S. B. (1992) Nitric oxide, an endothelial cell relaxation factor, inhibits neutrophil superoxide anion production via a direct action on the NADPH oxidase. *J. Clin.Invest.* **90**, 1116-1121.

439. Jensen, H. K., Donskov, F., Marcussen, N., Nordsmark, M., Lundbeck, F., von der Maase, H. (2009) Presence of intratumoral neutrophils is an independent prognostic factor in localized renal cell carcinoma. *J.Clin.Oncol.* **27**, 4709-4717.

440. Murphy, C. T., Moloney, G., Hall, L. J., Quinlan, A., Faivre, E., Casey, P., Shanahan, F., Melgar, S., Nally, K. (2010) Use of bioluminescence imaging to track neutrophil migration and its inhibition in experimental colitis. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* **162**, 188-196.

441. Youn, J. I., Nagaraj, S., Collazo, M., Gabrilovich, D. I. (2008) Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J.Immunol.* **181**, 5791-5802.

442. Danese, S., Fiorino, G., Reinisch, W. (2011) Review article: Causative factors and the clinical management of patients with Crohn's disease who lose response to anti-TNF-alpha therapy. *Aliment.Pharmacol.Ther.* **34**, 1-10.

443. Corzo, C. A., Cotter, M. J., Cheng, P., Cheng, F., Kusmartsev, S., Sotomayor, E., Padhya, T., McCaffrey, T. V., McCaffrey, J. C., Gabrilovich, D. I. (2009) Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J.Immunol.* **182**, 5693-5701.

444. Turk, R., 't Hoen, P. A., Sterrenburg, E., de Menezes, R. X., de Meijer, E. J., Boer, J. M., van Ommen, G. J., den Dunnen, J. T. (2004) Gene expression variation between mouse inbred strains. *BMC Genomics*. **5**, 57.

445. Mahler, M., Bristol, I. J., Sundberg, J. P., Churchill, G. A., Birkenmeier, E. H., Elson, C. O., Leiter, E. H. (1999) Genetic analysis of susceptibility to dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Genomics.* **55**, 147-156.

446. Gerling, M., Glauben, R., Habermann, J. K., Kuhl, A. A., Loddenkemper, C., Lehr, H. A., Zeitz, M., Siegmund, B. (2011) Characterization of chromosomal instability in murine colitisassociated colorectal cancer. *PLoS One*. **6**, e22114.

447. Goldstone, R., Itzkowitz, S., Harpaz, N., Ullman, T. (2011) Dysplasia is more common in the distal than proximal colon in ulcerative colitis surveillance. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* [Epub ahead of print].

448. Suzuki, R., Miyamoto, S., Yasui, Y., Sugie, S., Tanaka, T. (2007) Global gene expression analysis of the mouse colonic mucosa treated with azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate. *BMC Cancer.* **7**, 84.

449. Tao, Y., Hart, J., Lichtenstein, L., Joseph, L. J., Ciancio, M. J., Hu, S., Chang, E. B., Bissonnette, M. (2009) Inducible heat shock protein 70 prevents multifocal flat dysplastic lesions and invasive tumors in an inflammatory model of colon cancer. *Carcinogenesis.* **30**, 175-182.

450. Fogt, F., Zhuang, Z., Poremba, C., Dockhorn-Dworniczak, B., Vortmeyer, A. (1998)

Comparison of p53 immunoexpression with allelic loss of p53 in ulcerative colitis-associated dysplasia and carcinoma. *Oncol.Rep.* **5**, 477-480.

451. Risques, R. A., Lai, L. A., Himmetoglu, C., Ebaee, A., Li, L., Feng, Z., Bronner, M. P., Al-Lahham, B., Kowdley, K. V., Lindor, K. D., Rabinovitch, P. S., Brentnall, T. A. (2011) Ulcerative colitis-associated colorectal cancer arises in a field of short telomeres, senescence, and inflammation. *Cancer Res.* **71**, 1669-1679.

452. Takesue, F., Korenaga, D., Yao, T., Kabashima, A., Sugimachi, K. (2001) Development of colonic neoplasms and expressions of p53 and p21 proteins in experimental colitis of mice induced by dextran sulfate sodium. *J.Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* **20**, 413-418.

453. Staib, F., Robles, A. I., Varticovski, L., Wang, X. W., Zeeberg, B. R., Sirotin, M., Zhurkin, V. B., Hofseth, L. J., Hussain, S. P., Weinstein, J. N., Galle, P. R., Harris, C. C. (2005) The p53 tumor suppressor network is a key responder to microenvironmental components of chronic inflammatory stress. *Cancer Res.* **65**, 10255-10264.

454. Zuo, L., Huang, Z., Dong, L., Xu, L., Zhu, Y., Zeng, K., Zhang, C., Chen, J., Zhang, J. (2010) Targeting delivery of anti-TNFalpha oligonucleotide into activated colonic macrophages protects against experimental colitis. *Gut.* **59**, 470-479.

455. Richter, J., Ng-Sikorski, J., Olsson, I., Andersson, T. (1990) Tumor necrosis factor-induced degranulation in adherent human neutrophils is dependent on CD11b/CD18-integrin-triggered oscillations of cytosolic free Ca2+. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* **87**, 9472-9476.

456. Onnheim, K., Bylund, J., Boulay, F., Dahlgren, C., Forsman, H. (2008) Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha primes murine neutrophils when triggered via formyl peptide receptor-related sequence 2, the murine orthologue of human formyl peptide receptor-like 1, through a process involving the type I TNF receptor and subcellular granule mobilization. *Immunology*. **125**, 591-600.

457. Cheung, K. L., Khor, T. O., Huang, M. T., Kong, A. N. (2009) Cancer chemoprevention of azoxymethane/dextran sodium sulfate-induced colon carcinogenesis by phenethyl isothiocyanate and dibenzoylmethane. *Carcinogenesis.* **31**, 880-885.

458. Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Curini, M., Epifano, F., Maltese, F., Gonzales, S. P., Tanaka, T. (2006) Dietary administration with prenyloxycoumarins, auraptene and collinin, inhibits colitis-related colon carcinogenesis in mice. *Int.J.Cancer.* **118**, 2936-2942.

459. Erdman, S. E., Poutahidis, T., Tomczak, M., Rogers, A. B., Cormier, K., Plank, B., Horwitz, B. H., Fox, J. G. (2003) CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T lymphocytes inhibit microbially induced colon cancer in Rag2-deficient mice. *Am.J.Pathol.* **162**, 691-702.

460. Erdman, S. E., Sohn, J. J., Rao, V. P., Nambiar, P. R., Ge, Z., Fox, J. G., Schauer, D. B. (2005) CD4+CD25+ regulatory lymphocytes induce regression of intestinal tumors in ApcMin/+ mice. *Cancer Res.* **65**, 3998-4004.

461. Feng, T., Cao, A. T., Weaver, C. T., Elson, C. O., Cong, Y. (2011) Interleukin-12 converts Foxp3+ regulatory T cells to interferon-gamma-producing Foxp3+ T cells that inhibit colitis. *Gastroenterology*. **140**, 2031-2043.

462. Eun, C. S., Han, D. S., Lee, S. H., Paik, C. H., Chung, Y. W., Lee, J., Hahm, J. S. (2006) Attenuation of colonic inflammation by PPARgamma in intestinal epithelial cells: effect on Toll-

like receptor pathway. Dig.Dis.Sci. 51, 693-697.

463. Celinski, K., Dworzanski, T., Korolczuk, A., Slomka, M., Radej, S., Cichoz-Lach, H., Madro, A. (2011) Activated and inactivated PPARs-gamma modulate experimentally induced colitis in rats. *Med.Sci.Monit.* **17**, BR116-24.

464. Celinski, K., Dworzanski, T., Korolczuk, A., Piasecki, R., Slomka, M., Madro, A., Fornal, R. (2011) Effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors-gamma ligands on dextran sodium sulphate-induced colitis in rats. *J.Physiol.Pharmacol.* **62**, 347-356.

465. Lewis, J. D., Lichtenstein, G. R., Deren, J. J., Sands, B. E., Hanauer, S. B., Katz, J. A., Lashner, B., Present, D. H., Chuai, S., Ellenberg, J. H., Nessel, L., Wu, G. D., Rosiglitazone for Ulcerative Colitis Study Group. (2008) Rosiglitazone for active ulcerative colitis: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology*. **134**, 688-695.

466. Hontecillas, R., Horne, W. T., Climent, M., Guri, A. J., Evans, C., Zhang, Y., Sobral, B. W., Bassaganya-Riera, J. (2011) Immunoregulatory mechanisms of macrophage PPAR-gamma in mice with experimental inflammatory bowel disease. *Mucosal Immunol.* **4**, 304-313.

467. Adachi, M., Kurotani, R., Morimura, K., Shah, Y., Sanford, M., Madison, B. B., Gumucio, D. L., Marin, H. E., Peters, J. M., Young, H. A., Gonzalez, F. J. (2006) Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma in colonic epithelial cells protects against experimental inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* 55, 1104-1113.

468. Zhang, B., Berger, J., Hu, E., Szalkowski, D., White-Carrington, S., Spiegelman, B. M., Moller, D. E. (1996) Negative regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma gene expression contributes to the antiadipogenic effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Mol.Endocrinol.* **10**, 1457-1466.

469. Ruan, H., Pownall, H. J., Lodish, H. F. (2003) Troglitazone antagonizes tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced reprogramming of adipocyte gene expression by inhibiting the transcriptional regulatory functions of NF-kappaB. *J.Biol.Chem.* **278**, 28181-28192.

470. Hu, E., Kim, J. B., Sarraf, P., Spiegelman, B. M. (1996) Inhibition of adipogenesis through MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation of PPARgamma. *Science*. **274**, 2100-2103.

471. Adams, M., Reginato, M. J., Shao, D., Lazar, M. A., Chatterjee, V. K. (1997) Transcriptional activation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is inhibited by phosphorylation at a consensus mitogen-activated protein kinase site. *J.Biol.Chem.* **272**, 5128-5132.

472. Gao, Z., He, Q., Peng, B., Chiao, P. J., Ye, J. (2006) Regulation of nuclear translocation of HDAC3 by IkappaBalpha is required for tumor necrosis factor inhibition of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma function. *J.Biol.Chem.* **281**, 4540-4547.

473. Glauben, R., Batra, A., Fedke, I., Zeitz, M., Lehr, H. A., Leoni, F., Mascagni, P., Fantuzzi, G., Dinarello, C. A., Siegmund, B. (2006) Histone hyperacetylation is associated with amelioration of experimental colitis in mice. *J.Immunol.* **176**, 5015-5022.

474. Glauben, R., Batra, A., Stroh, T., Erben, U., Fedke, I., Lehr, H. A., Leoni, F., Mascagni, P., Dinarello, C. A., Zeitz, M., Siegmund, B. (2008) Histone deacetylases: novel targets for prevention of colitis-associated cancer in mice. *Gut.* **57**, 613-622.

475. Glauben, R., Sonnenberg, E., Zeitz, M., Siegmund, B. (2009) HDAC inhibitors in models of inflammation-related tumorigenesis. *Cancer Lett.* **280**, 154-159.

476. Colombel, J. F., Sandborn, W. J., Panaccione, R., Robinson, A. M., Lau, W., Li, J., Cardoso, A. T. (2009) Adalimumab safety in global clinical trials of patients with Crohn's disease. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* **15**, 1308-1319.

477. Gross, A., Yin, X. M., Wang, K., Wei, M. C., Jockel, J., Milliman, C., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Korsmeyer, S. J. (1999) Caspase cleaved BID targets mitoghondria and is required for cytochrome c release, while BCL-XL prevents this release but not tumor necrosis factor-R1/Fas death. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 1156-1163.

478. Van Herreweghe, F., Festjens, N., Declercq, W., Vandenabeele, P. (2010) Tumor necrosis factor-mediated cell death: to break or to burst, that's the question *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **67**, 567-79.

479. O'Donnell, M. A., Legarda-Addison, D., Skountzos, P., Yeh, W. C., Ting, A. T. (2007) Ubiquitination of RIP1 regulates an NF-*κ*B-independent cell death switch in TNF signaling. *Curr. Biol.* **17**, 418-424.

480. Endo, Y., Marusawa, H., Chiba, T. (2011) Involvement of activation-induced cytidine deaminase in the development of colitis-associated colorectal cancers. *J. Gastroenterol.* **46**, s6-s10.

481. Moreau, E., Phillipe, J., Couvent, S., Leroux-Roels, G. (1996) Interference of soluble TNF receptors in the detection of tumor necrosis factor. *Clin. Chem.* 42, 1450-1453.

482. Sacca, R., Cuff, C. A., Lesslauer, W., Ruddle, N. H. (1998) Differential activities of secreted lymphotoxin-alpha3 and membrane lymphotoxin-alpha1beta2 in lymphotoxin-induced inflammation: critical role of TNF receptor 1 signaling. *J. Immunol.* **160**, 485-491.

483. Legrand, F., Driss, V., Delbeke, M., Loiseau, S., Hermann, E., Dombrowicz, D., Capron M. (2010) Human eosinophils exert TNF- α and granzyme A-mediated tumoricidal activity toward colon carcinoma cells. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 7443-7451.

484. Duan, W. R., Garner, D. S., Williams, S. D., Funckes-Shippy, C. L., Spath, I. S., Blomme, E. A. (2011) Comparison of immunohistochemistry for activated caspase-3 and cleaved cytokeratin 18 with the TUNEL method for quantification of apoptosis in histological sections of PC-3 subcutaneous xenografts. *J. Pathol.* **199**, 221-228.

485. Qiu, W., Wu, B., Wang, X., Buchanan, M. E., Regueiro, M. D., Hartman, D. J., Schoen, R. E., Yu, J., Zhang, L. (2011) PUMA-mediated intestinal epithelial apoptosis contributes to ulcerative colitis in humans and mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **121**, 1722-1732.

486. Rakoff-Nahoum S, Medzhitov R. (2007) Regulation of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis through the adaptor protein MyD88. *Science*. 317, 124-127.